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Nilgen Nature Reserve, near Lancelin, Wheatbelt. Regional WA is overrepresented in crash statistics with around half of 
catastrophic injuries occurring in regional areas but only around a third of people catastrophically injured living there.

In accordance with section 63 of the Financial 
Management Act 2006, we hereby submit for your 
information and presentation to the Parliament of 
Western Australia the Annual Report of the Insurance 
Commission of Western Australia for the financial 
year ended 30 June 2019.

Statement of Compliance
Hon Ben Wyatt MLA 
Treasurer

The Annual Report has been prepared in 
accordance with the provisions of the Financial 
Management Act 2006, the Insurance Commission 
of Western Australia Act 1986, and a resolution 
of the Board of Commissioners of the Insurance 
Commission, passed on 11 September 2019.

Frank Cooper AO 
Chairman

11 September 2019

Rod Whithear 
Chief Executive

11 September 2019

Welcome to the 2019 Annual Report 
This report describes the functions and operations of the Insurance Commission of Western Australia (Insurance 
Commission), shows how the organisation performed and presents the audited financial statements and 
performance indicators for the financial year ended 30 June 2019*. 

This report and previous annual reports are available on the Insurance Commission’s website: icwa.wa.gov.au.

On request, this report can be made available in alternative formats. 

* The year ended 30 June 2019 is referred to herein as 2019. Similar terminology applies for other years referred to in this annual report. 
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"As a 
Government  

Trading Enterprise, the 
Insurance Commission  

delivers critical services to  
the community and  

significant returns to  
its shareholder, the  
State Government."

Frank Cooper AO 
Chairman



3INSURANCE COMMISSION ANNUAL REPORT 2019

1. INTRODUCTION

In 2019, the Insurance Commission had  
total investment assets of 

$5.5 billion,
generating investment income of 

$350.5 million.
We returned $264.9 million in dividends and capital 
returns to the shareholder, in addition to paying  
$87.7 million in insurance duty and $117.8 million 
in tax.

The reduction in State Net Debt is measured by the 
consolidation of Insurance Commission finances in 
whole-of-government financial reporting.

The Board and I look forward to continuing to  
oversee the delivery of critical insurance services to 
Western Australians and Government agencies over 
the next 12 months. 

Sincerely

Frank Cooper AO 
Chairman

1.1 Chairman’s Report
This annual report for the Insurance Commission sets 
out our performance for the financial year ended  
30 June 2019. 

Along with the rest of the Board, I would like to 
acknowledge the efforts of the employees and 
executive team who continue to deliver efficient and 
effective insurance services for Western Australian 
motorists and Government agencies. 

In 2019, the Insurance Commission reported  
a profit after tax of 

$203.8 million.
Despite declines in investment markets in the first half 
of the year, the Insurance Commission’s investment 
portfolio returned 7% for the full year. 

Total assets held to offset insurance liabilities were 
$5.9 billion at 30 June 2019. 

Delivering Value
The Insurance Commission recognises the importance 
of its role as a Government Trading Enterprise to 
deliver financial services to customers at the same 
time as returning value to its shareholder (the Western 
Australian Government, represented by the Treasurer).

I am pleased to report the Insurance Commission 
delivered solid results against both these outcomes 
during the year. 

We provided motor injury insurance to 1.9 million 
motorists in 2019 at rates more affordable than 
equivalent cover in most other Australian jurisdictions. 
Over 11,000 injured road users claimed against our 
insurance policies during the year, and $448.5 million 
was paid to people injured in crashes and the service 
providers delivering their care and support. 

Self-insurance managed by the Insurance Commission 
this year supported 120,000 state government 
employees at 111 agencies to deliver critical 
services to the community. Insurance compensates 
those agencies and their employees when injury and 
adverse events occur. During the year, the Insurance 
Commission paid $244.6 million to people working 
for or with our insured agencies to help them recover 
from insurable events. 

I am pleased to report the 
Insurance Commission also 
contributed a further  
$124.3 million towards 
reducing State Net Debt  
in 2019.
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1.2 Chief Executive’s Report
It is my pleasure to present our 2019 performance 
results to our shareholder, the Western Australian 
Government, and our wider community of customers 
and stakeholders.

Headline View
The profit before tax for the Insurance Commission’s 
total operations was $303.7 million. The Insurance 
Commission’s core profit before tax was  
$272.9 million in 2019, which was $67.7 million 
better than budget. The RiskCover Fund, which  
is managed by the Insurance Commission on  
behalf of the Western Australian State Government, 
recorded a profit of $30.8 million.

We generated more than $1.5 billion in revenue and 
earnings in 2019. 

Our insurance businesses received over 30,600 new 
claims during the year. 

In 2019, we made payments of 

$703.4 million
to individuals, service providers and agencies 
associated with claims for injury, loss and damage.

We estimate the need to pay over $3.3 billion 
in the future for all the claims on our books as at  
30 June 2019. 

The Insurance Commission’s total operations  
delivered an underwriting loss of $58.2 million.  
This underwriting loss was mainly caused by a  
decline in discount rates (based on declining 
Government Bond rates) resulting in an increase in 
outstanding liabilities (future claims costs), and higher 
expenses as a result of Government’s commitment  
to address historic child sexual abuse claims.  
The cost of these abuse claims are met by the  
State Government and the RiskCover Fund. 

The Insurance Commission delivered a core 
underwriting loss of $34.7 million compared to 
a forecast underwriting profit of $7.5 million. The 
RiskCover Fund recorded an underwriting loss of 
$23.5 million. 

The total value of assets held by the Insurance 
Commission was $5.9 billion at 30 June 2019. 

The Insurance Commission’s investment portfolio 
delivered a gross return of 7% for 2019. A 7% 
return is pleasing given that we had recorded an 
investment loss of $167 million at 31 December 
2018. Investment markets rebounded sharply from the 
beginning of the 2019 calendar year, resulting in a 
turnaround of $517.5 million for our full investment 
portfolio. Total investment income received for the year 
was $350.5 million.

The Insurance Commission contributed $264.9 million 
to Government in 2019 in dividends and RiskCover 
Fund return of capital payments. This included amounts 
that relate to 2018.

As a result of our positive 2019 financial results, we 
are also able to return capital of $69.5 million from 
the RiskCover Fund to Government. This return of 
capital is provided for in the RiskCover Fund’s 2019 
financial statements and will be paid in September 
2019. The final 2019 dividend for the Insurance 
Commission will be declared towards the end of the 
2019 calendar year.

The Insurance Commission has contributed 
$795.7 million to Government in dividend and  
return of capital payments over the past five years, 
and $2.2 billion in net debt reduction.  

The Insurance Commission has delivered the above 
results while keeping its operating costs flat. Pleasingly, 
our administration costs of $56.3 million for 2019 are 
comparable to our 2012 costs of $56.0 million. 
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"The 
Insurance 

Commission provides 
motor injury insurance 

that is more affordable than 
most comparable products.

We also maintain affordable product 
pricing for the 111 agencies 

covered by our self-insurance 
arrangements."

Rod Whithear 
Chief Executive
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Product Affordability
The Insurance Commission continues to provide  
a motor injury insurance product that is more 
affordable than most comparable products in 
Australia. Over three-quarters (77.2%) of the vehicles 
on Australian roads are registered in jurisdictions 
where the motor injury insurance premium for a family 
vehicle varies from $532 to $569 (Victoria, New 
South Wales, Northern Territory and the Australian 
Capital Territory). I am pleased to report the cost of 
Western Australia’s motor injury insurance was $444 
in 2019. 

We have also maintained affordable insurance 
product pricing for the 111 WA Government agencies 
covered by our self-insurance arrangements. Fund 
contributions charged to agencies are at their lowest 
level since 2012 at $288.2 million in 2019. That is 
an excellent result considering the breadth of cover 
provided to agencies has been extended significantly 
over that time. 

Culture
The Insurance Commission delivers insurance 
services to almost two million motorists, agencies and 
companies. 

As a financial services organisation, we pay close 
attention to public and commercial sector issues that 
are relevant to our operations and customers. This 
includes assessing our operations against topical 
matters such as the Australian Prudential Regulation 
Authority reviews of governance, accountability 
and culture, and the Australian Securities Exchange 
(ASX) Corporate Governance Principles and 
Recommendations. Those assessments reinforce the 
effectiveness of our operations. 

The final report of the Royal Commission into 
Misconduct in the Banking, Superannuation and 
Financial Services Industry, delivered in February 
2019, identified the need for improvements in 
corporate culture across the commercial financial 
services sector. 
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A strong organisational culture has long been 
recognised by the Insurance Commission as integral 
to ‘how we do business’. In 2017, we set out on a 
cultural transformation program to define, and move 
towards, our desired corporate culture. We are 
committed to a high performance culture that values 
accountability, professional integrity and respect. This 
annual report contains multiple examples of our actions 
to achieve that goal. 

The effectiveness of the cultural transformation 
program is measured in part through annual employee 
engagement and culture surveys. The 2019 survey 
reported a desired shift to a more innovative,  
market-focused and less process-driven culture.

The survey results also reflect the high commitment 
and engagement levels of our employees. Insurance 
Commission staff are highly motivated to improve 
the efficiency of some our longer-standing business 
processes, so they can spend more time on claims 
management rather than basic claims administration. 

The motivation of our employees for change is 
also evident in the feedback received in the many 
workshops held, and improvement suggestions 
reviewed, by the Executive. We recognise that the 
makeup of our workforce influences its culture, so we 
continue to strive for a diverse and talented workforce 
that best represents the community it serves. 

We still have a significant amount of work ahead 
to transform the organisation into the contemporary 
financial services entity we aspire it to be. 

We aim to implement technological and operational 
reform to achieve efficiency gains in our longer-
tail personal injury insurance claims areas that are 
observed in the private health insurance sector. 
Material progress towards achieving these efficiencies 
is expected to be made in 2020.

I want to thank our employees for their ongoing 
efforts to deliver quality services to our customers, 
and for their commitment towards our cultural and 
business transformation programs. I would also like 
to acknowledge the Board and the Executive for their 
leadership and support during 2019.  

Sincerely

Rod Whithear 
Chief Executive
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Insurance Commission

RiskCover Fund
Not Consolidated into  

Insurance Commission Finances

 Insurance Commission 
General Fund

Compensation 
(Industrial Diseases) 

Fund
 Government 

Insurance Fund

Third Party 
Insurance Fund

Motor Vehicle 
(Catastrophic Injuries) Fund

1.3 Performance Highlights

See the Financial Statements for the performance of other Funds. 
*RiskCover Fund’s Total Equity was $313 million with a Solvency Level of 150% prior to the provision for a Return of Capital of $69.5 million.

Insurance  
Commission 
(Total)

Third Party  
Insurance  
Fund

Motor Vehicle 
(Catastrophic 
Injuries) Fund

RiskCover 
Fund

Profit/(Loss) Before Tax $272.9m $210.8m $56.1m $30.8m

Premium Revenue $797.6m $604.0m $193.5m $288.2m
Underwriting  
(Loss)/Profit ($34.7m) ($16.5m) $15.2m ($23.5m)

Total Assets $5.9b $4.0b $695.4m $939.1m

Total Equity $1.4b $1.2b $108.2m $243.5m*

Solvency 132% 143.3% 118.4% 135%*
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30,628 
Total New Claims

Insurance Claims 
including RiskCover Fund

$703.4m 
Total Paid

Customers

2,910,027 
Total insured  
vehicles

1,857,107 
Total insured  
drivers

111
Total government  
agencies covered

119,825 
Total government 
employees covered

$55b
Total value of government  
assets covered

Contribution to the State in 2019

Net Debt 
Reduction $124.3m

Insurance  
Duty $87.7m

RiskCover Fund 
Return of Capital^ $162.3m

^  RiskCover Fund Return of Capital payments commenced in 2017.  
The amounts paid are in respect of the previous financial year. 

* Paid from the Third Party Insurance Fund.

Tax Paid $117.8m

Dividends* $102.6m

$2.2b 
Five-Year Net Debt 
Reduction

Contribution to the State 2015 to 2019

$1.5b 
Five-Year Payments  
to Government^

^ Dividend, RiskCover Fund Return of Capital, tax and duty



1.4 Financial Overview

Insurance Commission 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Statement of Comprehensive Income

Net Premium Revenue 788,883 761,915 679,132 550,057 519,615

Net Claims Incurred (736,539) (652,935) (685,139) (510,279) (491,866)

Net Movement in Unexpired Risk Liability (15,062) (5,874) (11,351) - -

Other Underwriting and Administration Expenses (71,950) (69,277) (63,938) (54,662) (78,059)

Underwriting Profit/(Loss) (34,668) 33,829 (81,296) (14,884) (50,310)

307,527 348,910 344,304 20,031 316,131

Profit before Tax Equivalent 272,859 382,739 263,008 5,147 265,821

(69,094) (105,050) (69,873) 6,679 (72,328)

Profit after Tax Equivalent 203,765 277,689 193,135 11,826 193,493

(289) 469 - (238) (5,435)

203,476 278,158 193,135 11,588 188,058

Balance Sheet

Total Assets 5,863,976    5,624,061    5,183,682    4,692,341    4,675,439    
Total Liabilities (4,441,681)    (4,302,680)    (3,991,196)    (3,576,047)    (3,438,912)    

Total Equity 1,422,295   1,321,381   1,192,486   1,116,294   1,236,527   

RiskCover Fund

Statement of Comprehensive Income

Premium Revenue 288,228 299,789 308,113 319,557 310,964
Reinsurance and Other Adjustments (12,182) (24,865) (45,876) (62,449) (47,631)
Net Premium Revenue 276,046 274,924 262,237 257,108 263,333

Claims Expense (273,010) (187,271) (179,796) (195,243) (220,883)
Reinsurance and Other Recoveries Revenue 4,064 8,512 1,282 12,520 9,901
Net Claims Incurred (268,946) (178,759) (178,514) (182,723) (210,982)

Other Underwriting and Administration Expenses (30,556) (32,664) (31,219) (31,585) (30,737)

Underwriting Profit/(Loss) (23,456) 63,501 52,504 42,800 21,614

54,264 95,656 101,788 23,540 78,914

Total Comprehensive Income 30,808 159,157 154,292 66,340 100,528

Balance Sheet

Total Assets 939,096       1,088,171    1,100,188    963,265       896,184       

Total Liabilities1 (695,626)       (806,053)       (814,954)       (734,602)       (733,861)       

Total Equity 243,470      282,118      285,234      228,663      162,323      

1 RiskCover Fund liabilities include a provision for a Return of Capital to Government of $69.5 million in 2019 (2018: $162.3 million).

Income Tax Equivalent (Expense)/Benefit

Net Investment and Other Income

Investment Income

Other Comprehensive (Expense)/Income after 
Tax Equivalent

Total Comprehensive Income after Tax Equivalent
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Actual Performance Compared to Budget as at 30 June 2019

- Insurance Commission Only

Net Premium Revenue 788,883 814,830 (25,947)

Net Claims Incurred (736,539) (731,388) (5,151)

Net Movement in Unexpired Risk (15,062) - (15,062)

Other Underwriting and Administration Expenses (71,950) (75,983) 4,033

Underwriting (Loss)/Profit (34,668) 7,459 (42,127)

Investment Income 350,459 276,752 73,707

Investment Expenses (18,822) (22,114) 3,292

RiskCover Fund Investment Return (54,264) (57,844) 3,580

Other 30,154 910 29,244

Profit Before Tax Equivalent 272,859 205,163 67,696

(69,094) (61,549) (7,545)

Profit After Tax Equivalent 203,765 143,614 60,151

(289) - (289)

Total Comprehensive Income after Tax Equivalent 203,476 143,614 59,862

This comparison excludes the RiskCover Fund.
* 

Total Equity (as per Balance Sheet) 1,422,295

Annual Investment Rate of Return (%) - Main Fund 6.9 5.5 1.4
 

Annual Investment Rate of Return (%) - MVCIF 7.8 4.8 3.0
 

Return on Total Assets1 (%) 4.8 3.5 1.3

Solvency Level (%) 132.0 129.2 2.8

Investment Rolling 7-Year Return (%) - Main Fund 9.0 5.5 3.5

Net Loss Ratio (%) 93.4 89.8 (3.6)

Net Expense Ratio (%) 11.0 9.3 (1.7)

Net Combined Ratio (%) 104.4 99.1 (5.3)

This comparison excludes the RiskCover Fund.
* 
1 Calculation based on profit before tax.

Detailed explanations of variances are contained in the Performance section.

Income Tax Equivalent Expense

For full details, refer Financial Statements section. Detailed explanations of variances are contained in
Note 7 of the financial statements.

Other Comprehensive Expense After Tax Equivalent

Variance* 
$'000

Budget 
$'000

Actual 
$'000

Variance*Budget Actual 
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Actual Performance Compared to Budget as at 30 June 2019

- RiskCover Fund

Premium Revenue 288,228 287,354 874

Reinsurance and Other Adjustments (12,182) (19,015) 6,833

Net Claims Incurred (268,946) (240,878) (28,068)

Other Underwriting and Administration Expenses (30,556) (33,213) 2,657

Underwriting Loss (23,456) (5,752) (17,704)

Investment Income 54,264 57,844 (3,580)

Profit 30,808 52,092 (21,284)

Total Equity (as per Balance Sheet) 243,470

135.0 1 135.0 -

Net Loss Ratio (%) 97.4 89.8 (7.6)

Net Expense Ratio (%) 11.1 12.4 1.3

Net Combined Ratio (%) 108.5 102.2 (6.3)

* Detailed explanations of variances are contained in the Performance section.
1

Solvency Level (%)

The RiskCover Fund's solvency was 150% prior to providing for a Return of Capital amount of
$69.5 million.

Actual 
$'000

Budget 
$'000

Variance 
$'000

Actual Budget Variance*

12
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2. OVERVIEW

2.1 Who We Are
The Insurance Commission of Western Australia is 
a Government Trading Enterprise and a statutory 
corporation owned by the Government of  
Western Australia.

Its enabling legislation is the Insurance Commission of 
Western Australia Act 1986.

The Insurance Commission administers the Motor 
Vehicle (Third Party Insurance) Act 1943 and the 
Motor Vehicle (Catastrophic Injuries) Act 2016.

The responsible Minister is the Hon. Ben Wyatt MLA, 
Treasurer; Minister for Finance; Aboriginal Affairs; Lands.

2.2 What We Do
The Insurance Commission is primarily responsible for:

•  underwriting and managing motor injury insurance;

•  assessing and managing the risk and cost of 
claims made against the RiskCover Fund, the self-
insurance arrangements for Government assets and 
employees;

•  investing and managing funds to provide assets to 
meet insurance liabilities; and

•  advising Government about insurance and liability 
matters. 

The Insurance Commission manages and underwrites 
the following: 

•  Third Party Insurance Fund;

•  Motor Vehicle (Catastrophic Injuries) Fund; 

•  Compensation (Industrial Diseases) Fund; and

•  Insurance Commission General Fund.

The Insurance Commission also manages but does  
not underwrite the:

•  RiskCover Fund;

• Government Insurance Fund;

•  Employers’ Indemnity Supplementation Fund  
(on behalf of WorkCover WA);

• Former Police Officers’ Medical Benefit Scheme 
(on behalf of WA Police Force); and

•  Indian Ocean Territories Motor Injury Insurance 
Scheme (on behalf of the Commonwealth).
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Vision

Mission 

What We Value

2.3 Our Approach
Our approach to what we do is reflected in our vision, mission and what we value. 

A Government Trading Enterprise delivering efficient and equitable 
insurance services to WA motorists and government departments and 
authorities.

To provide high quality and efficient:

•  motor injury insurance for WA motorists;

•  self-insurance for government agencies;

•  industrial diseases insurance to the mining sector and management 
of the Insurance Commission General Fund, Employers’ Indemnity 
Supplementation Fund and Government Insurance Fund; and

•  advice to Government on insurance and liability matters.

We are committed to a high performance culture which values 
accountability, professional integrity and respect.

To achieve this we strive to:

•  be open to change and continuous improvement;

•  collaborate to deliver the best possible outcomes;

•  respond to clients and stakeholders; and

•  drive efficient processes.
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What We Do 
The Insurance Commission plays a role in most Western Australians’ lives. This aerial photo of Bunbury,  
South West, highlights some of the assets and insurance covers provided by the Insurance Commission.

Provides motor injury insurance to 

1.9m drivers in WA. 

Blair Street and Parade Road in 
Bunbury are among the top regional 
WA roads for crashes.

Promotes wearing seat belts to minimise 
the risk of injury in a crash as part of its

Belt Up campaign
In 2019, it provided Belt Up-branded 
sporting equipment to netball, rugby, 
football and soccer community clubs in 
the Peel and South West regions.

Received over 

11,000 new claims
from injured motorists in 2019, 
including 1,063 from crashes in the 
Peel and South West regions.

Lane Poole Reserve
(Property/Liability)

Leschenault Peninsula Conservation Park
(Liability)

Casuarina Boat Harbour
(Workers' Compensation/Property/Infrastructure)

Bunbury Sea Rescue
(Property/Liability/Personal Accident/Motor Vehicle)

Australind Senior High School
(Workers' Compensation/Property/Liability/Travel)
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What We Do 
The Insurance Commission plays a role in most Western Australians’ lives. This aerial photo of Bunbury,  
South West, highlights some of the assets and insurance covers provided by the Insurance Commission.

17

Insures $55b
of government assets in WA, including 

$5.2b of property
in the South West. 

Provides industrial diseases insurance 
cover for 

2,732 companies
engaged in mining and exploration 
activities in WA.

Provides workers’ compensation insurance for 

120,000 government 
employees
at 111 agencies. In 2019, it made 

$14.2m in payments
for injuries sustained by public sector employees 
in the Peel and South West regions.

Bunbury Port
(Workers' Compensation/Property/Infrastructure/Liability/Motor Vehicle)

Dolphin Discovery Centre
(Workers' Compensation/Property/Liability)

Motorists using Blair Street and other public roads 
(Motor Injury Insurance)

Volunteer Fire and Rescue Service
(Property/Liability/Personal Accident/Motor Vehicle)

Bunbury Police Station
(Property/Liability)

Bunbury Senior High School
(Workers' Compensation/Property/Liability/Travel)
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The Insurance Commission recognises the 
importance of ensuring its services are delivered 
to customers efficiently, effectively and in a 
contemporary manner. 

In the past 12 months, the following  
customer-focused projects were progressed:

•  Online claim initiation.

 o     People injured in vehicle crashes had to 
call the Insurance Commission to obtain 
a paper claim form. Crash claimants 
can now use the existing Online Crash 
Reporting Facility to make an injury 
insurance claim. 

 o     Government agencies can submit a claim 
online for workplace accidents by using 
the eClaims system. Online claims are 
processed up to three days faster than 
claims initiated via the traditional paper 
forms, resulting in reduced administration 
costs for organisations and more rapid 
access to treatment for injured workers.  
As at 30 June 2019, 36 agencies insured 
by the Insurance Commission were using 
the eClaims system. 

• Payment term consistency. 

 o   An 82% success rate was achieved during 
the year for valid invoices to be paid 
within 20 calendar days of the received 
date. This provides greater payment 
certainty for service providers. Further 
work is planned to improve these rates. 

•  Electronic payments.

 o   Significant and overdue gains were 
achieved during the year to convert  
service provider payments from cheque  
to Electronic Funds Transfer (EFT).  
Ninety-four per cent of payments to 
service providers during 2019 were made 
via EFT. In 2014, only 45% of payments 
were made via EFT and 55% via cheque. 
Payments via EFT are processed more 
quickly at a lower transactional cost. 

Enhancing the customer experience 
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2. OVERVIEW

2.4 Operational Structure
The Insurance Commission delivers services through four primary functions and groups:

1.  Motor Injury Insurance;
2.  Government Insurance;

3.  Investments; and
4.  Corporate Support.

2.4.1 Motor Injury Insurance Division

The Insurance Commission is the sole underwriter 
of motor injury insurance in WA. A single motor 
injury insurance policy is governed by two Acts of 
Parliament: the Motor Vehicle (Third Party Insurance) 
Act 1943 and the Motor Vehicle (Catastrophic Injuries) 
Act 2016. 

The insurance policy provides owners and drivers of 
WA-registered vehicles with insurance cover against 
the cost of medical treatment, compensation and legal 
action, if a claim is made against them by an injured 
party in a motor vehicle crash.

The policy also provides cover for the cost of care for 
any person catastrophically injured in a crash in WA 
who is unable to establish the fault of another driver. 

The policy is issued to motorists along with their 
vehicle licence (known as registration or colloquially 
as “rego”) by the Department of Transport and its 
agents, who collect premium payments on behalf of 
the Insurance Commission.

At 30 June 2019, there were approximately  
2.9 million registered motor vehicles in WA  
(including 549,976 registered caravans and trailers). 

Registered Vehicles in Western Australia at 30 June 2019

Cars

1,598,606
Caravans and trailers 

549,976
Goods vehicles 

506,291

Motorcycles 

127,296
Farm vehicles and others 

127,858
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Motor injury insurance includes Compulsory Third Party 
(CTP) and Catastrophic Injuries Support (CIS) cover. 

The Insurance Commission has delivered CTP 
insurance in WA for over seven decades, providing 
compensation to people injured in vehicle crashes. The 
Insurance Commission also provides CIS insurance to 
meet the lifetime care costs of people catastrophically 
injured in vehicle crashes in WA.

The Third Party Insurance Fund (TPIF) supports the CTP 
scheme and the Motor Vehicle (Catastrophic Injuries) 
Fund (MVCIF) supports the CIS scheme. The Motor 
Injury Insurance Division manages claims against both 
funds.

Compulsory Third Party Scheme
A person injured as a consequence of the negligent 
driving of a Western Australia-registered motor vehicle 
anywhere in Australia is able to pursue a claim for 
personal injury compensation under the CTP scheme. 
The Insurance Commission compensates people for the 
cost of injuries sustained where a driver injures another 
person, including:

•  treatment, care and support; and

•  compensation for:

 o  past and future economic loss ; and

 o  pain and suffering.

The Insurance Commission also incurs costs for claims 
management expenses, including the cost of legal 
action (if any) on a claim. 

In addition, the Insurance Commission pays claims 
costs for people injured in ‘hit and run’ vehicle crashes 
as part of its role as a ‘Nominal Defendant’ under the 
Motor Vehicle (Third Party Insurance) Act 1943. 

Catastrophic Injuries Support Scheme
Any person that is catastrophically injured in a 
crash (from 1 July 2016) involving a WA-registered 
vehicle, and is either at fault in the crash or unable 
to find another person at fault, can access lifetime 
treatment, care and support through the CIS scheme. 
Catastrophic injuries are defined as spinal cord 
injuries, traumatic brain injuries, multiple amputations, 
severe burns and permanent traumatic blindness. 

Insurance premium revenue for the CIS scheme is paid 
into the MVCIF. Together with investment income, this 
revenue is used to provide for the long-term liabilities to 
pay for CIS services and scheme administration costs. 

Indian Ocean Territories Motor Injury 
Insurance Scheme 
The Insurance Commission, on behalf of the 
Commonwealth Government, manages the Indian 
Ocean Territories Motor Injury Insurance Scheme,  
on a fee-for-service basis.
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2.4.2 Government Insurance Division

The Government Insurance Division manages and 
administers a number of insurance functions for the 
State Government. 

The Division’s core responsibilities include insuring the 
assets and liabilities and managing the claims made 
against government agencies in the RiskCover Fund.

RiskCover Fund
The RiskCover Fund is the self-insurance arrangement 
for WA Government agencies. The fund provides 
cover for the majority of agencies’ insurable risk 
exposures including: 

•  workers’ compensation; 

•  loss or damage to property; 

•  legal liability cover for general, professional and 
medical treatment;

•  cyber risks; and

•  personal accidents.

Government Insurance Fund 
The Government Insurance Fund (GIF) is the 
government’s superseded self-insurance arrangement 
that preceded the RiskCover Fund. The GIF is in run-
off and the Insurance Commission manages claims 
received against it on behalf of the WA government. 

The government has financial responsibility for any 
deficit in the GIF and its liabilities via a Right of 
Indemnity Agreement.

Compensation (Industrial Diseases) Fund 
The Insurance Commission issues industrial diseases 
insurance policies to employers involved in the 
mining industry and pays claims made against 
these policies. The liabilities are underwritten by the 
Insurance Commission and claims are paid from the 
Compensation (Industrial Diseases) Fund (CIDF).

Insurance Commission General Fund 
The Insurance Commission General Fund (ICGF) caters 
for the run-off of non-government liabilities of the former 
SGIO. No policies have been issued since 1987. 
Liabilities relate to workers' compensation and public 
liability claims, including claims against the mining 
industry for asbestos related diseases (that are not 
covered by the CIDF). 

The ICGF acts as the operating fund of the Insurance 
Commission. Investment assets are held within the 
ICGF and then allocated to other funds. The Insurance 
Commission’s own assets are held within the ICGF. 

WorkCover WA Funds
WorkCover WA is responsible for the Employers’ 
Indemnity Supplementation Fund (EISF). The Insurance 
Commission manages claims against this fund in the 
event that an authorised workers’ compensation insurer 
goes into liquidation. WorkCover WA invokes a levy 
on workers’ compensation policyholders to fund EISF 
liabilities. The majority of existing EISF liabilities arose 
from the collapse of the HIH Group of companies in 
2001.

The Government Insurance Division also manages 
claims lodged against WorkCover WA’s General 
Account, mainly for injured workers of uninsured 
employers.

Former Police Officers’ Medical Benefit 
Scheme
Former Police Officers and Aboriginal Police Liaison 
Officers who sustain work-related injury or disease 
during service and have since left the WA Police 
Force can claim for medical and other expenses under 
the Police (Medical and Other Expenses for Former 
Officers) Act 2008.

Medical and other benefits provided under the scheme 
largely mirror those of the Workers’ Compensation 
and Injury Management Act 1981. The Police 
Commissioner is liable for medical and other expenses 
incurred, and engages the Insurance Commission to 
manage claims on behalf of the WA Police Force. 
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2.4.3 Investments 

The Insurance Commission invests in assets to meet its 
insurance liabilities in line with prudential guidelines 
approved by the Treasurer.

The Insurance Commission’s investment objectives for 
2019 were to:

•  achieve an investment performance target of the 
Consumer Price Index (CPI) plus 3% (Main Fund) 
and CPI plus 3.25% (MVCIF) annualised over 
rolling seven-year periods;

•  achieve a rate of return for each asset class that 
exceeds the relevant performance benchmark over 
rolling three-year periods;

•  maintain a sufficient level of liquidity to meet 
insurance payments; and

•  assist the Insurance Commission maintain a  
fully-funded position.

The Insurance Commission uses an independent 
investment consultant to guide its investment strategy. 
Assets are mostly managed by external investment 
managers with the exception of the cash portfolio, 
which is managed internally.

The Investments Division invests RiskCover Fund and 
other monies it holds on behalf of the Government 
under the same arrangements used for the investment 
of Insurance Commission monies. The MVCIF uses the 
same arrangements but has a different investment asset 
allocation to meet that fund’s very long-tailed liabilities. 

2.4.4 Corporate Support

The two insurance divisions (Motor Injury Insurance 
and Government Insurance) and the Investments 
Division are supported by the Executive, Corporate 
Services and Information Technology areas. 

Legal Services has a primary function to protect and 
pursue the Insurance Commission’s interests in the 
Bell Group litigation and settlement recovery efforts, 
and provides some other minor legal services to the 
business. 

The two insurance divisions are also supported by the 
business functions of Investigations and Intelligence 
and Business Services. The Investigations and 
Intelligence function is to identify potentially fraudulent 
behaviour against the insurance operations. Business 
Services assists the organisation deal with the volume 
of interactions with stakeholders (see below).

3 million
emails, phone calls  

and claims documents  
received in 2019

160,000
Phone Calls

Incoming Communications for 2019

1.5 million
Emails

1.3 million
Claims Documents

(11% increase in external 
communications  

since 2018)
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2.4.5 Stakeholder Engagement 

The Insurance Commission regularly engages with its 
stakeholders to improve awareness of its insurance 
products and services, to contribute to policy matters 
impacting its operations and to provide professional 
development opportunities for employees.

The enhanced engagement efforts of the Insurance 
Commission over the past year are part of a strategic 
shift to develop a more external-facing culture, better 
service customers and be active participants in 
changes in its external environment. 

An example of enhanced engagement during 2019 
is the effort to increase awareness of the CIS scheme 
among trauma and allied health staff at Fiona Stanley 
and Joondalup hospitals. Staff at those hospitals often 
notify the Insurance Commission about people who 
may be catastrophically injured and eligible for care 
services under the CIS scheme. They liaise with the 
Insurance Commission’s care services team about the 
discharge and rehabilitation of injured clients. 

Other examples of Insurance Commission engagement 
during 2019 are listed below.

Events Presented at or Chaired in 2019

Engagement Subject and Event Presented Chaired 

Search for Commercial Purpose: Australian Insurance Law Association ü   
Young Public Speaking Competition: Australian Insurance Law Association ü   
WA Parliamentary Inquiry into WA’s Automotive Smash Repair Industry ü   
Public Sector Governance Forum ü   
CIS Scheme: Personal Injury Education Foundation ü   
Climate Change / Parametric Insurance: Australian Insurance Law Association ü   
Insurance and Autonomous Vehicles: Australian Insurance Law Association ü   
Road Safety Strategy Renewal – Delivering Zero: Regional (Bunbury) - Research Forum ü    ü   
2019 Emerging Issues: Australian Insurance Law Association ü   
Perth launch of National Road Safety Week ü   
Resilience – Governance and Risk Forum: Governance Institute ü  
Can Technology Save Capitalism: Insurance Investment Forum 2019 ü   
CIS Scheme: Fiona Stanley Hospital and Joondalup Hospital ü   
ICWA-funded Brightwater continence research project:    
• World Congress on Brain Injury ü
• ASSBI/NZRA Inaugural Trans-Tasman Conference ü
•  Annual Continence Foundation, WA State Conference ü
• Occupational Therapy Australia National Conference ü

The Insurance Commission also engages with the 
community through various initiatives and research that 
aims to:

•  increase the independence of individuals injured on 
the road and at work;

•  reduce effort for carers and burden on families;

•  promote road safety to reduce vehicle crashes and 
road trauma, leading to fewer insurance claims 
incurring lower costs; and

•  keep insurance premiums affordable for WA drivers 
and Government agencies.
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Belt Up Road Safety Campaign

The Belt Up campaign supports grass-roots community 
sport in WA as a mechanism to educate people to 
wear seat belts and minimise the risk and cost of 
injury in a crash. The Insurance Commission has 
supported and funded the campaign since 1997.

Netball WA is a Belt Up partner. During the year, 
it held its annual NAIDOC Netball Carnival – one 
of the largest indigenous sporting events in Australia 
– involving over 110 teams and more than 3,000 
people. As an Insurance Commission initiative, a 
competition was held among the netball community 
to design a NAIDOC-themed, Belt Up-branded 
netball for the event. An indigenous Narrogin school 
student won the competition with her design featuring 
emu and kangaroo footprints and the Aboriginal 
symbol for meeting places.

Every year people continue to be killed or seriously 
injured on WA roads as a result of not wearing 
a seat belt (71 in 2018) with a higher incidence 
among young men in regional areas. However, from 
2007 to 2017, there was an 80% reduction in the 
number of people killed or seriously injured who were 
not wearing a seat belt on Western Australian roads 
(Road Safety Commission). Despite the improvement, 
in recent years nearly a fifth of all fatalities on 
Australian roads involve no seat belt being worn 
(Transport Accident Commission). The fact remains 
that you are 10 times more likely to be killed in a 
road crash if you’re not wearing a seatbelt in a car. 

A serious injury can significantly reduce someone’s 
independence and cost the Insurance Commission 
millions of dollars in claims expenses. Therefore, there 
remains an ongoing need for initiatives like the Belt 
Up campaign to ensure road safety gains are not lost. 

In 2019, the Insurance Commission renewed its agreement with RugbyWA to promote Belt Up. Football West, Netball WA and the West Australian Country 
Football League are also Belt Up partners.

Belt Up balls being used in the Warburton Aboriginal Community Central 
Desert Lands' football program

Bespoke NAIDOC-themed Belt Up netball used at the 2019 NAIDOC 
Netball Carnival
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The Insurance Commission spends around 
$3.8 million annually across its CTP and CIS 
schemes for carers to assist injured people use 
the bathroom. 

In 2019, the Insurance Commission-funded 
continence research project with Brightwater 
Care Group concluded. It examined and 
trialled assistive toileting technologies for 
people with acquired brain injuries. 

The research aimed to see if technology or a 
service delivery approach could reduce the 
number of carers involved with the toileting 
process. This would increase the independence 
of the individual and reduce the amount and 
cost of care required. 

The key findings of the research were that 
the development and implementation of a 
continence management plan and provision  
of assistive toileting products and technology:

•  reduced toileting care hours of an 
estimated 4.3 hours (or $633) per client 
per week;

•  reduced the average daily cost of 
consumable continence products over the 
study period of $9.91 per client per day; 
and

•  improved client independence and 
dignity in activities of daily living. 

Further work is planned to communicate 
the results of this research and embed the 
enhanced continence management processes 
into the care plans of other Insurance 
Commission clients with continence difficulties. 

Allied Health Research 

During the year, the Insurance Commission 
announced $200,000 in research funding 
for WA physiotherapists and occupational 
therapists to improve client independence, 
reduce claims costs and lessen the burden on 
carers and families. 

In 2019, the Insurance Commission paid for 
over 110,000 physiotherapy and occupational 
therapy sessions for claimants across its motor 
injury insurance and workers’ compensation 
schemes. 

The successful applicants for the funding will 
be announced next year. 

Improving client independence 
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Stakeholder Feedback
The Insurance Commission recognises the importance 
of stakeholder feedback to help it continuously 
enhance service delivery. Its stakeholders include 
over 30,000 new claimants annually, 111 agencies, 
policyholders, service providers and the  
WA government.

Feedback is provided via:

•  a public website form;

•  employee intranet form;

•  phone, email or letter;

• Insurance Commission social media;

•  in person;

•  claimants’ local Member of Parliament; or

•  the Treasurer, as minister responsible for the 
Insurance Commission. 

During 2019, feedback processes were enhanced to:

•  simplify the process of giving feedback;

•  enable employees to record feedback delivered 
via email or telephone; and

•  make provision for data and trend analysis of 
stakeholder feedback. 

A new Stakeholder Feedback Policy was published 
on the Insurance Commission website to explain how 
to give feedback and how it will be responded to. 
Additional customer service training was also delivered 
to staff. 

As a result of these changes, there was a 162% 
increase in the volume of feedback received during 
2019 (60 complaints and 45 compliments) compared 
to last year. Feedback related to motor injury insurance 
(70%), government insurance (27%), and other areas of 
Insurance Commission functions (3%).

Most complaints were about dissatisfaction with 
insurance processes, such as:

•  complexity of the claims process;

•  length of time to finalise a claim; and

•  decisions not to fund certain items (pre-existing 
injuries, unnecessary and unreasonable care costs 
are excluded). 

Most compliments highlighted the high level 
of customer service and compassion claimants 
experienced dealing with Insurance Commission 
employees. 

While the number of complaints is very low (0.6%) 
when compared to the 1.9 million policyholders and 
30,000 claimants serviced annually by the Insurance 
Commission, further service delivery improvements will 
continue to be delivered. 

Insurance Commission Key Stakeholders

Policyholders
Vehicle owner 

WA government agency 
Non-government entity

External Providers
Health professionals and hospitals

Lawyers
Assessors
Reinsurers 

Builders and repairers

Internal to Government
Employees and Board 

Treasurer 
WorkCover WA

Department of Treasury
Department of Transport

Other government agencies

Claimants
Individual, agency or company suffering injury, loss or 
damage that is covered by the Insurance Commission

Stakeholders
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2.5 Governance 

2.5.1 Board of Commissioners

The Insurance Commission’s Board governs and 
oversees the organisation’s functions and duties under 
the Insurance Commission of Western Australia Act 
1986.

The Chief Executive, who is a Commissioner ex 
officio, is responsible for the day-to-day management 
of the Insurance Commission.

From left: Rod Whithear (Commissioner ex officio), Rob Bransby (Commissioner), John Scott (Deputy Chairman), 
Andrea Hall (Commissioner), Yasmin Broughton (Commissioner), Carol Dolan (Commissioner)  
and Frank Cooper AO (Chairman).

Governance Framework
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Standing from left: Rod Whithear (Chief Executive), Rick Howe (Deputy Chief Executive), Glenn Myers (Chief Information 
Officer), Fab Zanuttigh (General Manager Motor Injury Insurance) and Julie O’Neill (Chief Investment Officer). 

Seated from left: Janice Gardner (General Manager Government Insurance), Kane Blackman (Commission Secretary), 
Damon de Nooyer (Chief Finance Officer) and Bruce Meredith (General Counsel).

2.5.2 Executive Team

Executive Team Organisational Structure

Chief Executive
Rod Whithear

General 
Manager 

Motor Injury 
Insurance
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Government 
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Australasian Reporting Awards

The Insurance Commission received a silver award 
for its 2018 annual report during the year at the 
Australasian Reporting Awards (ARA). The ARA 
reviews annual reports of public and private sector 
organisations across Australia. 

The 2018 annual report had an enhanced focus on 
claimant case studies and use of data and analytics to 
explain operational performance, which should help 
make insurance more understandable for readers.

 2.6  Performance Management Framework

2.6.1 Outcome-Based Management Framework

The Insurance Commission contributes to the following Government goal:

Sustainable Finances: Responsible financial management and better service delivery

Insurance Commission Services
•  Provide efficient administration, underwriting and 

management of the statutory motor injury insurance 
scheme;

•  provide timely, equitable and efficient motor injury 
insurance claims management service;

•  provide agencies with high quality insurance 
advice and efficient administration, underwriting 
and management of self-insurance; 

•  provide timely, equitable and efficient RiskCover 
Fund claims management services; and

•  perform fund management and investment functions 
to manage monies and other property to provide 
assets to meet insurance liabilities.  

Insurance Commission Outcomes
•  Fully-funded Third Party Insurance Fund and Motor 

Vehicle (Catastrophic Injuries) Fund; 

•  affordable premium rates for Western Australian 
vehicle owners;

•  a motor injury insurance claims system that 
treats claimants fairly and delivers equitable 
compensation;

•  fully-funded RiskCover Fund;

•  sustainable fund contributions (premiums) to 
RiskCover Fund agencies; 

•  a RiskCover Fund claims system that treats agencies 
and claimants fairly and delivers equitable 
compensation; and

•  sufficient financial resources to be able to meet 
commitments. 
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2.6.2 Shared Responsibilities with other Public Authorities

Department of Transport
The Department of Transport (DoT) and its agents issue 
motor injury insurance policies and collect insurance 
premiums on behalf of the Insurance Commission. In 
exchange for this service, the Insurance Commission 
pays a fee to DoT per transaction. For 2019, this fee 
was $4.33 per transaction. The total amount paid to 
DoT in 2019 was $26 million.

The partnership between the Insurance Commission 
and DoT provides WA motorists with a ‘one-step’ 
process to licence their vehicle and purchase motor 
injury insurance in a convenient manner. 

Indian Ocean Territories
The Insurance Commission, via a service delivery 
arrangement with the Commonwealth Government, 
manages the Indian Ocean Territories Motor Injury 
Insurance Scheme on a fee-for-service basis. 

WorkCover WA
The Insurance Commission manages claims from 
the Employers’ Indemnity Supplementation Fund 
Act 1980, Workers’ Compensation and Injury 
Management (Acts of Terrorism) Act 2001 and 
Waterfront Workers (Compensation for Asbestos 
Related Diseases) Act 1986. 

Claims management expenses and claims payments 
made, which predominantly stem from the collapse 
of the HIH Group of Companies in 2001, are 
reimbursed by WorkCover under the Employers’ 
Indemnity Supplementation Fund Act 1980. 

On behalf of WorkCover WA, the Insurance 
Commission also manages claims lodged against 
WorkCover WA’s General Account. 

Western Australia Police Force

Online Crash Reporting 

The Online Crash Reporting Facility (OCRF) is a joint 
initiative of the Insurance Commission and the WA 
Police Force. The Insurance Commission provides 
customers with an efficient and convenient online 
process to report motor vehicle crashes in WA.

The facility is a good example of inter-agency 
cooperation. No police station visit is required to 
report a car crash to initiate an insurance claim, 
saving customer/claimant time and police resources.

As well as providing a more efficient, convenient 
and customer-focused means to report crashes, the 
improved reliability, accuracy and completeness of 
crash data delivered by the OCRF provides better 
data to inform road safety strategies in WA. 

This joint initiative also involves data-sharing with DoT, 
Main Roads WA and the Road Safety Commission.

The Insurance Commission is not aware of any other 
Australian jurisdiction having an online crash reporting 
facility. 

Former Police Officers

The Insurance Commission manages claims lodged 
by former Police Officers and Aboriginal Police 
Liaison Officers under the Police (Medical and Other 
Expenses for Former Officers) Act 2008. 
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Perth CBD skyline. The Insurance Commission paid over $37 million in 2019 for people 
injured in crashes or workplace accidents in the City of Perth local government area.
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3.1 Insurance Commission
The Insurance Commission’s profit before income tax 
(excluding RiskCover Fund) was $272.9 million in 
2019, which was $67.7 million better than budget. 
The profit after income tax (excluding the RiskCover 
Fund) was $203.8 million. 

In 2019, the Insurance Commission received over 
$1.2 billion in total revenue and earnings (excluding 
the RiskCover Fund). Premium revenue in 2019 
increased by $28.0 million to $797.6 million.

The Insurance Commission delivered an underwriting 
loss of $34.7 million compared to a forecast 
underwriting profit of $7.5 million. This underwriting 
loss was caused by the decline in discount rates 
(based on Government Bond rates) resulting in an 
increase in outstanding liabilities (future claims costs) 
and $22.8 million in additional claims costs against 
the Government Insurance Fund, as a result of the 
Government’s commitment to address historic child 
sexual abuse claims. The cost of these abuse claims 
will be met by the State Government.

Claims payments increased by $53.8 million in 2019 
to $458.7 million, as a result of a higher number of 
new Compulsory Third Party compensation claims and 
large loss claims finalised compared to 2018. 

The Insurance Commission’s investment portfolio 
delivered a gross return of 7.0% for 2019. This return 
reflects total investment returns for two investment funds, 
the Main Fund and the Motor Vehicle (Catastrophic 
Injuries) Fund (MVCIF). Each fund has an asset 
allocation designed to meet its insurance liability term 
profile. The Main Fund and MVCIF delivered returns of 
6.9% and 7.8% respectively. 

Following a downturn in global investment markets in 
the first six months of the financial year, the Insurance 
Commission recorded an investment loss of  
$167.0 million at 31 December 2018. Since then 
investment markets rebounded sharply with the full 
investment portfolio delivering a turnaround of  
$517.5 million. The total investment income for  
the year of $350.5 million was $73.7 million  
above the budget of $276.8 million. 

The total value of assets held by the Insurance 
Commission was $5.9 billion at 30 June 2019. 

Outstanding claims liabilities increased by  
$310.1 million in 2019 to $3 billion. This increase 
is largely attributed to discount rates (based on 
Government Bond rates) declining by 1.2%, which 
added $200 million to outstanding claims costs. 

Main Roads is responsible for the delivery and management of a safe and efficient main road network in WA.  
The Insurance Commission covers the agency for workers' compensation, property, motor vehicle, liability and travel risks.
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3.1.1 Insurance Commission Key Performance Indicators

Outcome A That the Insurance Commission has sufficient financial 
resources to be able to meet its commitments.

Effectiveness Performance Indicators

Investment Rolling 7-Year Return (%)
This KPI calculates the long-term investment 
performance, measured over a rolling 7-year 
period as a percentage (per year) of the amount 
of money invested. This KPI measures whether 
investment returns have achieved the Board's long-
term Consumer Price Index (CPI) plus 3% investment 
objective (Main Fund) and CPI plus 3.25% 
(MVCIF).

Comment: The Main Fund investment rolling 7- year return was 9%, above the target estimate of 5.5% and above 
the actual CPI +3% outcome of 4.6%.

Annual Investment Rate of Return (%)
This KPI calculates the amount of revenue/(loss) 
the Insurance Commission’s investment strategy 
generates over the financial year as a percentage 
of the value of the opening investment assets. 
This KPI measures the Insurance Commission’s 
performance compared to a specific market-related 
benchmark. The benchmark is a mix of Australian 
and global equities, fixed interest, alternative assets, 
property and cash indices.

 

Comment: The Main Fund's annual investment rate of return for 2019 was 6.9%, above its target of 5.5%. 
MVCIF's annual investment rate of return was 7.8%, above its target of 4.8%. Above target performance for each 
fund was predominantly due to returns in Alternative Assets (15.5%), Global Equities (7.5%), Property (7%) and 
Fixed Interest (4.3%) all being stronger than forecast. Australian Equities (5.8%) and Cash (2.3%) returns were 
below the forecast returns.
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*MVCIF results will be reported after 30 June 2023, due to the 1 July 2016 inception date of that Fund.
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Solvency Level (%)
This KPI calculates Total Assets as a percentage 
of Total Liabilities for the Insurance Commission. 
This KPI measures the ability of the Insurance 
Commission to meet its long-term financial 
obligations as they fall due.
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ACTUAL 131.2 129.9 130.7 132.0
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Comment: The solvency level of 132% is above the target of 129.2% for the financial year.

Return on Total Assets (%)
This KPI is calculated as the Insurance Commission's 
profit/(loss) before income tax (expense)/benefit 
divided by its total assets (sum of total assets at start 
of financial year and end of financial year divided 
by two) and is expressed as a percentage. This KPI 
measures how well the Insurance Commission is 
using its assets to produce income.
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Comment: The profit before income tax of $272.9 million was above the target profit of $205.2 million. 
Average total assets increased by $339.8 million (6.3%) since 2018, predominantly due to an increase in 
investment assets accumulated through strong investment returns. The Insurance Commission holds assets to meet 
current and future claims costs.
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Efficiency Performance Indicators

Net Loss Ratio (%)
This KPI calculates net claims incurred (claims 
payments and movements in outstanding claims 
provision) as a percentage of net premium revenue. 
This KPI measures the sufficiency of premium 
revenue compared to the cost of claims incurred. 
A ratio below 100% indicates the Insurance 
Commission received sufficient net premium revenue 
to meet the net cost of claims incurred.
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Comment: The result of 93.4% is worse than target, driven by net claims incurred being $5.2 million (0.7%) and 
net premium revenue being $26 million (3.2%) lower than budget.

Net Expense Ratio (%)
This KPI calculates underwriting and administration 
expenses as a percentage of net premium revenue, 
and measures operational efficiency. A lower 
expense ratio would contribute to higher profits  
or lower losses being generated.
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Comment: The net expense ratio of 11% is worse than the target of 9.3%. This is primarily due to the $15 million 
negative movement arising from the unearned premium provision being insufficient to meet anticipated future 
claims, despite other underwriting and administration expenses being 14.5% below target.
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Net Combined Ratio (%)
This KPI calculates underwriting and administration 
expenses and net claims incurred as a percentage 
of net premium revenue. This KPI measures 
underwriting profitability to indicate how well the 
Fund is performing. It is the combined result of the 
Net Loss Ratio and the Net Expense Ratio. A ratio 
below 100% indicates that an underwriting profit 
has been made, whereas a ratio above 100% 
indicates an underwriting loss.

TARGET

ACTUAL 103.3 112.0 95.6 104.4

99.1

85
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115

*Excludes RiskCover Fund administration expenses

%

2016 2017 2018 2019

Comment: The net combined ratio of 104.4% is worse than the target of 99.1%. This reflects the Insurance 
Commission's underwriting loss of $34.7 million compared to the budgeted profit of $7.5 million. The 
underwriting loss has been driven by a decline in discount rates and the addition of $22.8 million in historic child 
abuse claims in the Government Insurance Fund (GIF).

Investment Management Expense  
Ratio (%)
This KPI calculates the total management costs 
(investment manager, transaction, custodian, 
investment advisor, Investment Division 
administration, legal and audit fees) as a 
percentage of the average asset value (calculated 
as an average of the twelve month-end valuations) 
of the Insurance Commission's investment portfolio. 
This KPI is a measure of the Insurance Commission's 
efficiency in managing its investments.

Comment: The investment management expense ratio for the Main Fund was 0.58% and for MVCIF was 0.4%. 
MVCIF had a lower expense ratio due to the phased implementation of its investment strategy during 2019. Both 
were below their respective targets for the year, due to lower than expected investment manager fees.

TARGET -  Main Fund 0.69
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The Insurance Commission received $797.5 million in 
motor injury insurance premium revenue in 2019 for 
2.9 million insured vehicles. 

Premium revenue in 2019 was higher than the 
$769.5 million collected in 2018. 

Compared to the budget of $820.8 million for 2019, 
premium revenue received was $23.3 million below 
expectations. 

The Insurance Commission managed motor injury 
claims valued at approximately $3.1 billion in 2019, 
consisting of $448.5 million in claims payments to 
people injured in crashes (including in prior years) 
and to service providers, and anticipated future claims 
expenses of $2.7 billion. 

Motor injury insurance claims liabilities increased 
by $257 million in 2019 reflecting estimated costs 
of future claims payments. The main reason for 
the increase in outstanding claims liabilities is the 
reduction of the discount rates (the rate of return used 
to discount future cash flows) used in both the Third 
Party Insurance Fund (TPIF) and the Motor Vehicle 
(Catastrophic Injuries) Fund (MVCIF).

Claims payments for the year were $57.1 million 
higher than the $391.4 million paid in 2018. The 
increase in claim payments is largely a result of the 
following: 

•  5.3% increase in the number of new CTP 
compensation claims received in 2019 (3,360) 
compared to 2018 (3,191); and

3.2 Motor Injury Insurance 

 
New Claims

11,300
 
Claim Payments

$448.5m

Increase in CTP 
Compensation 
Claims Received

5.3% 

 
Division 
Underwriting Result 

$1.3m loss

•  more large loss claims (claims over $1 million) 
finalised at higher values (38 large loss claims 
were finalised in 2019 at an average cost of  
$3.8 million, compared to 28 in 2018 at an 
average cost of $3.2 million). 

There was also a 7.8% decrease in the number 
of minor injury claims received in 2019 (7,920) 
compared to 2018 (8,588).

Third Party Insurance Fund

The Third Party Insurance Fund (TPIF) is the fund 
associated with the CTP insurance scheme, which 
represents the majority of motor injury insurance claims 
and costs for the Insurance Commission. 

The TPIF recorded an underwriting loss of  
$16.5 million for 2019 compared to an  
underwriting profit of $26 million in 2018. 

The underwriting loss is mainly the result of a 1.2% 
reduction in the discount rate used by the actuary to 
estimate the present value of the outstanding claims 
liabilities (future claims costs). Discount rates are based 
on Government Bonds.

The reduction in the discount rate was the key driver 
for an increase in the outstanding claims liability of the 
TPIF (estimated cost of future claims), which grew to 
over $2.2 billion at 30 June 2019. The discount rate 
reduction accounted for $104 million of a total increase 
of $116 million from 30 June 2018. The discount rate 
of 1.25% at 30 June 2019 was at a historic low.
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There have been seven underwriting losses recorded 
in the TPIF in the past ten years but only one in the past 
three years (the last recorded was a small $5.2 million 
underwriting loss in 2016). 

The Insurance Commission’s pricing approach, covered 
in Section 4.2.1 of this report, seeks to ensure premium 
revenue, together with other income expected to be 
received, will be sufficient to meet the claims costs and 
other expenses anticipated to arise or be incurred. 

The TPIF recorded a profit before tax of  
$210.8 million, which was $120.4 million lower 
than the $331.2 million result achieved in 2018.  
The profit before tax was achieved despite an 
underwriting loss in the fund, as net investment income 
received was $227.3 million.

The value of claims payments made from the TPIF to 
people injured in crashes (including in prior years) and 
to service providers in 2019 was $439.2 million. 

The number of new CTP compensation claims received 
in 2019 was 3,360, which was 169 (5.3%) more 
than the 3,191 new claims received in 2018. 
This is the second time in three years that new CTP 
compensation claim volumes have increased. Prior to 
2016, there had only been one occasion (in 2008) in 
14 years where new claims received by the Insurance 
Commission had increased from the prior year (and 
that was a marginal increase of 0.5%). 

Generally, the average number of CTP compensation 
claims received has declined by three per cent each 
financial year. This long-term declining trend follows 
a similar long-term declining trend of fewer vehicle 
crashes (over the ten years to 30 June 2018, the 
number of reported crashes decreased by 24%). 

While fewer crashes are occurring and less injuries 
are arising from those crashes, there has been a 25% 
increase in the likelihood of a CTP compensation 
claim being made in 2019 compared to 2013. 

The growth in the propensity to claim corresponds with 
a growth in legal representation by certain law firms of 
crash claimants, specifically for claims with relatively 
low compensation values. From 2010 to 2019, the 
number of such claims that were legally represented 
doubled. The Insurance Commission is monitoring the 
impact of these developments on scheme efficiency. 

Stephen* was injured when his vehicle was 
struck as he turned right on a green arrow at 
a Bunbury intersection. He developed shoulder 
pain, which worsened over time. He was 
diagnosed with impingement syndrome, which 
required surgery.

Stephen contacted the Insurance Commission 
to make a CTP compensation claim. The 
Insurance Commission paid for his operation, 
rehabilitation program and compensation for 
future medical costs. 

Stephen provided feedback to the Insurance 
Commission on his claim experience:

“My case officers were always efficient, 
courteous and understanding.

“They were also willing to explain the process 
involved in simple terms that helped with my 
own decision making.

“I recall that on a couple of occasions, the 
exercise physiotherapist required clarification 
from the Insurance Commission about my case. 
I was pleasantly surprised by the speed of their 
responses, so that treatment could continue 
without delay.

“The professional and kind way in which they 
handled my case was much appreciated.”

After 18 months, Stephen fully recovered from 
his injuries and his claim was finalised. 

*Name has been changed for privacy reasons.

Stephen’s CTP claim experience 
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Motor Vehicle (Catastrophic Injuries) Fund

The Motor Vehicle (Catastrophic Injuries) Fund 
(MVCIF) is the Fund associated with the Catastrophic 
Injuries Support (CIS) scheme. The CIS scheme was 
introduced on 1 July 2016 to provide lifetime care 
and support to people catastrophically injured in 
crashes who are ineligible for CTP cover as they were 
unable to identify another driver at fault in the crash. 

The MVCIF recorded an underwriting profit of  
$15.2 million in 2019, compared to an underwriting 
profit of $37.6 million in 2018. 

The positive underwriting result was due to fewer 
people being catastrophically injured on the road 
during 2019, and the resultant lower current and 
future claims costs.

It is an excellent outcome when fewer people are 
catastrophically injured on the road. The number of 
people catastrophically injured on the road can vary 
significantly from year to year. One reason for this is 
the fine line between being killed or catastrophically 
injured in a crash. The average annual number of 
people killed in crashes on WA roads over the last five 
years is 205.

In 2019, the Insurance Commission managed CIS 
claims valued at $437 million ($427.7 million 
estimated for future claims costs and $9.3 million 
paid for care and support for scheme participants). 
Outstanding claims liabilities increased by  
$140.5 million in 2019. 

The MVCIF delivered a profit before tax of  
$56.1 million in 2019, largely as net investment 
income for the fund was $40.9 million.

Since the CIS scheme commenced on 1 July 2016, 
the Insurance Commission has received 819 
notifications of people with possible catastrophic 
injuries. There have been 139 people assessed as 
eligible for treatment, care and support via either  
the CIS or CTP schemes due to their catastrophic 
injuries in the past three years. Eighty-three of those 
people were eligible for the CIS scheme as there  
was no other driver identified at fault in the crash.  
The table above shows the participation status of those 
83 people.

CIS Scheme Participant Status at  
30 June 2019 Number

Interim participants* 61

Lifetime participants 9

Suspended# 8

Deceased 1

Not eligible as lifetime (injuries 
improved to no longer be catastrophic 
and therefore they exited the scheme)

4

Total 83

*Participants are accepted as ‘lifetime’ status generally after two years  
#  Suspended because a person left Australia or did not participate  
in eligibility assessments and other CIS scheme requirements.

The other 56 people with catastrophic injuries are 
eligible for compensation through the CTP scheme as 
their injuries were caused by the fault of another driver. 

The number of people catastrophically injured in 
crashes will vary year to year, and the extent of 
the variation is expected to materially impact the 
performance of the MVCIF in its early years until the 
fund reaches a state of maturity, which could take up 
to 90 years. 

The CIS scheme continues to deliver lifetime treatment, 
care and support to people with catastrophic 
injuries resulting from vehicle crashes. Pleasingly, the 
CIS scheme has also delivered positive economic 
outcomes in employment and accommodation. 

At 30 June 2019, 66% of scheme participants that 
were working or studying prior to incurring their 
catastrophic injury had returned to work, study  
or were in rehabilitation/return-to-work programs.  
Only 16% of scheme participants were newly 
accessing Commonwealth Centrelink support, as  
a result of their injuries. 

The CIS scheme provides funding for home 
modifications and transitional support to help people 
with catastrophic injuries return home from hospital 
following emergency treatment after the crash. At 30 
June 2019, 62 scheme participants had returned 
home. No new demand for public housing has been 
generated by claimants suffering catastrophic injury in 
vehicle crashes. 

A summary of scheme performance and statistics is on 
the following page.
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34
Female

Catastrophic injuries are defined as spinal cord injuries, traumatic brain injuries, multiple amputations,  
severe burns and permanent traumatic blindness.

Crash Locations

82
Male

Catastrophic Injury - Gender

Spinal Injuries 

25%

Acquired Brain Injury 

75% 48%
of catastrophic injuries 
occurred in regional areas 
but only 34% of people 
catastrophically injured 
live in regional areas. 
The South West had the 
highest claim volume 
in WA with 21 crashes 
resulting in catastrophic 
injury. 
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Catastrophic injuries

116
TOTAL  

(since 2017)

31
2019

CTP scheme

46
TOTAL  

(since 2017)

11
2019

CIS scheme

70
TOTAL  

(since 2017)

20
2019

Returning to work 

66%  of CIS scheme participants had returned to work, study or 
were in rehabilitation/return-to-work programs following 
treatment after their crash. 

Accommodation

100%  of CIS scheme participants had returned 
home following treatment after their crash. 

Number of People with Catastrophic Injuries Managed or Funded at 30 June 2019
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The Insurance Commission has paid over 
900 service suppliers to provide treatment, 
care and support to clients catastrophically 
injured in road crashes since the CIS scheme 
was introduced in 2016. Suppliers range 
from hospitals to physiotherapists to house 
modification specialists, located throughout WA. 

Optimal Living Therapy is one provider 
delivering occupational therapy services to 
Insurance Commission clients within the CIS 
scheme. Lauren Hart, director of the firm, talks 
about working with the Insurance Commission 
and how the CIS scheme delivers better 
outcomes for clients:

“Our role as occupational therapists is to 
maximise independence and quality of life, 
whether through one-to-one rehabilitation, 
modifying the home or prescribing the right 
equipment, while working to reduce the burden 
on carers.

"The funding from the Insurance Commission 
is comprehensive and seeks to optimise 

a client’s independence. Importantly, its 
funding parameters are goal-driven and 
independence-focused, which fosters better 
client outcomes than having to prove disability 
and dependence. 

"We really enjoy the interface between 
ourselves as community therapists and the CIS 
scheme care coordinators. Having a dedicated 
professional to communicate with about therapy 
funding and client requests is much more 
efficient and effective. 

"In our experience, the care and rehabilitation 
outcomes of CIS scheme clients have been 
significant. The ability to access funding 
for intensive therapy, home modifications, 
equipment, and even home automation, has 
meant our clients’ independence and quality of 
life are immeasurably better than they would 
have been prior to the CIS scheme. 

"Without it, many would have likely been 
discharged to a nursing home or been in a 
home much less equipped to support them.”

Working together to improve client independence

Lauren Hart, Optimal Living Therapy



42

3. PERFORMANCE

Services Provided

36,335
Doctor 

appointments 

54,906
Physiotherapy 

sessions 

12,100
X-rays 

8,338
Occupational 

therapy 
appointments

12,860
Exercise 

programs 

2,015
Anaesthetics 
administered

6,692
Psychologist 

and psychiatrist 
appointments

6,920
Ambulance  

trips

7,857
Chiropractor 

and osteopath 
appointments

1,384
Hydrotherapy 

sessions

711
Prostheses fitted

896
Speech pathology 

appointments

1,014
Massage 

appointments

1,301
Pilates classes

17,374
Chemist 
expenses

The Insurance Commission has a significant role and 
relationship with the health sector, which provides 
treatment to its clients for injuries sustained in vehicle 
crashes. 

The Insurance Commission paid for the following 
services provided to people injured in vehicle crashes in 
2019 across both its CTP and CIS schemes: 
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Joan, an 80-year-old grandmother and Pinjarra 
local, was driving home on the Kwinana Freeway 
in June 2018 when she blacked out and crashed, 
suffering a traumatic brain injury, incomplete 
spinal cord injury and multiple broken bones. 

Joan was eligible for lifetime treatment, care and 
support from the CIS scheme. 

She participated in a rehabilitation program to 
maximise her independence, which included 
occupational therapy, physiotherapy and in-
home support. The Insurance Commission also 
funded modifications to her home to continue her 
independent living. To enable Joan to access the 
community, the Insurance Commission funded a 
walker, electric wheelchair and a back-up manual 
wheelchair.

The physical, psychological and financial 
consequences of catastrophic injuries can be 
enormous on the injured person, their family and 
the community – and last a lifetime. 

However, for clients like Joan, the CIS scheme 
means that families don’t have to carry the 
financial burden. Joan credits the scheme with 
allowing her to stay in her own home: 

“I was in Fiona Stanley [Hospital] for three 
months and I had to sort of learn to walk and 
get out of bed and do all the normal things that I 
hadn’t been able to do.

“I believe that the Insurance Commission has 
helped me to gain my independence and to be 
able to live alone here with the help that they’ve 
given me, much quicker than I would have done 
on my own.”

Catastrophic injuries resulting from crashes 
can happen to anyone. Although the Insurance 
Commission had 14 catastrophically-injured 
clients aged 65 and over, including Joan, at 30 
June 2019, the younger cohort is overrepresented 
with 60 clients aged 34 or under, reflecting the 
higher likelihood for young people to be injured 
in a crash. 

Tragically this includes 12 children, four of whom 
are aged five or under with the youngest child 
just three years old at 30 June 2019. Most of 
the children received catastrophic injuries while 
passengers in vehicles driven by their parents. 

Joan’s CIS scheme experience 

CIS scheme client Joan Buchanan
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Motoring Costs

The graph below compares WA’s 1 July 2019 
premium rate for a family car to premium rates for 
equivalent motor injury insurance products in other 
states and territories. This graph also presents the 
affordability of those products, expressed as a 
proportion of one week’s average wages in each state 
and territory.

The price of motor injury insurance is set to balance 
product affordability, cover and scheme sustainability. 
It is critical that sufficient revenue is collected to meet 
the current and future costs of claims for people injured 
in vehicle crashes.
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Motor Injury Insurance Premium Rate Comparisons and Affordability at 1 July 2019

Motor injury insurance is paid at the time of vehicle 
registration so many motorists are familiar with the total 
motoring cost. That cost is presented below for a small 
family vehicle in each jurisdiction.

Motor injury insurance and vehicle registration costs 
in WA are the third most affordable in Australia at 
$697 for a small family vehicle. Similar insurance 
and registration costs are significantly higher in the 
Australian Capital Territory ($911), Victoria ($835) 
and New South Wales ($815).

MII = motor injury insurance 
Rego = vehicle registration fee

*Includes an additional $60 for Stamp Duty 
on Insurance, separate to CTP Stamp Duty

Motoring Costs Comparison at 1 July 2019

WA
MII  

$444
REGO

$253
TOTAL

$697 

NT
MII  

$561
REGO

$154
TOTAL

$715 

QLD
MII  

$351
REGO

$386
TOTAL

$737 

NSW
MII  

$533
REGO

$282
TOTAL

$815 

VIC
MII  

$532
REGO

$302
TOTAL

$834 

TAS
MII  

$314
REGO

$254
TOTAL

$568 

ACT
MII  

$569
REGO

$343
TOTAL

$912 

SA
MII  

$412
REGO

$234*
TOTAL

$646 
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Claims

The Motor Injury Insurance Division received 11,300 new motor injury insurance claims in 2019.

CTP Compensation

3,360
CTP Minor Injury

7,920
CIS Scheme

20
Total Claims 

11,300

There are two categories of CTP scheme claims 
received by the Insurance Commission: minor injury 
claims and compensation claims. 

A minor injury claim is where a claimant has a minor 
crash injury caused by another driver and is seeking 
reimbursement for a medical bill. These claims are 
usually paid and settled quickly. There were 7,920 
minor injury claims received in 2019, which was a 
7.8% decrease (668 less claims) in minor injury claims 
received in 2018. 

A CTP compensation claim is where a claimant 
has sustained more significant crash injuries and is 

eligible to claim compensation. These claims typically 
take longer to settle as recovery and rehabilitation 
take time. There were 3,360 compensation claims 
received in 2019, of which 2,100 related to crashes 
from that year and 1,260 related to crashes from 
prior years. The number of new compensation claims 
received in 2019 increased by 5.3% (169 claims) 
compared to the 3,191 new compensation claims 
received in 2018. 

There is only one category of CIS scheme claims 
received by the Insurance Commission. During 2019, 
the Insurance Commission received 20 new CIS 
scheme claims. 

Motor injury insurance premium rates in WA are among the most affordable 
in Australia. In 2019, the cost for a family car was $444.
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CTP Compensation and CIS Scheme Claims by Role, Gender and Age

OTHER 
FACTORS

$4.0m 
(15%)

EXPOSURE 
TO VIOLENCE

$2.7m
(10%)

(23%)

HARASSMENT
$6.4m

 

 

WORK 
PRESSURE

$8.1m
(29%)

O
F

 C L A I M A N

TS

  T
OTAL NUMBER

3,380

0-4
21
(0.6%)5-18

229
(6.8%)

19-24
300

(8.9%)

25-34
656

(19.4%)

35-44
630

(18.6%)

45-54
668

(19.8%)

55-64
476

(14.1%)

 65+
400

(11.8%)

AGE OF
CLAIMANT

OTHER 
FACTORS

$4.0m 
(15%)

EXPOSURE 
TO VIOLENCE

$2.7m
(10%)

(23%)

HARASSMENT
$6.4m

 

 

WORK 
PRESSURE

$8.1m
(29%)

5-18
229

(6.8%)

Male
1,609
(48%)

25-34
656

(19.4%)

35-44
630

(18.6%)

45-54
668

(19.8%)

55-64
476

(14.1%)

 65+
400

(11.8%)

Female
1,771
(52%)

GENDER OF 
CLAIMANT

As at 30 June 2019, the Motor Injury Insurance 
Division was managing 6,172 open CTP 
compensation claims. This was 138 more claims 
than the 6,034 open CTP compensation claims it 

was managing 12 months earlier. The higher open 
claim number reflects the increase of 169 new CTP 
compensation claims received in 2019 compared to 
the previous year. 
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Total Number of Claimants 3,380
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People injured in vehicle crashes who live 
in remote parts of the state sometimes have 
to travel great distances to access specialist 
medical treatment and/or legal services for 
their serious injuries and related insurance 
claims. 

The settlement of a CTP compensation claim 
can also be challenging, especially if people 
are unfamiliar with the claims process and do 
not have access to explanatory resources or 
Insurance Commission claims staff.

The Insurance Commission continued its efforts 
to help claimants in remote areas by sending 
members of its claims team to those areas to 
engage face-to-face. 

Two regional customer service visits were 
undertaken in 2019: one to the Kimberley and 
Pilbara, and another to the Goldfields. 

The Kimberley and Pilbara visit covered 
over 3,000 km by road from Newman 
to Kununurra via eight other towns and 
communities.

The Goldfields visit covered over 2,600 
km and included Kalgoorlie-Boulder, the 
Warburton Ranges Mirlirrtjarra Community 
(between the Gibson and Great Victoria 
Deserts) and the Mantamaru Community in 
Jameson. 

Both trips were a success as they resulted in 
53 people being seen face-to-face to finalise 
their insurance claims and/or receive medical 
treatment and compensation for injuries 
caused by the actions of another driver. The 
Insurance Commission paid $3.1 million in 
claims expenses to people as a result of those 
visits. 

Feedback from people seen on the two 
trips was overwhelmingly positive as they 
appreciated the ability to engage directly with 
the insurer and support services in their local 
area. The Insurance Commission also received 
positive media resulting from these efforts. 

Settling claims in remote WA

Flying to meet claimants in remote Goldfields
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Targeting Long-Duration Claims 

The Insurance Commission established a ‘long-
duration’ claims team in 2018 to focus on finalising 
claims that had been open for more than four years. 

This was a customer service initiative to reduce the 
time it takes for some claims to be finalised. A claim 
that takes a long time to finalise is frustrating for the 
claimant and their family, and can incur additional 
costs for the Insurance Commission which can increase 
premium rates for motorists. 

Reasons some claims remain open for longer can 
include that the claimant:

•  is a child and the full extent of their injuries may  

not be established for some time; and

•  has complex injuries where the recovery and 
rehabilitation process takes several years and, 
therefore, the extent of the injury and required 
future care and compensation is not immediately 
known. 

In 2019, the team closed 265 claims, which resulted 
in final payments to people injured in crashes of 
$62.1 million. Most of those claims arose from 
crashes that occurred prior to 2015. As the team 
continues to close long-duration claims, the average 
claim duration across all open claims will reduce. 

Open Claims (CTP and CIS) by Crash Year as at 30 June 2019

Crash Year Open Claims Percentage of Total  
Open Claims 

Percentage Open  
in Crash Year

Pre - 2000 6 0.1% --

2000 - 2005 22 0.4% --

2006 - 2010 57 0.9% --

2011 16 0.3% 0.4%

2012 23 0.4% 0.6%

2013 59 0.9% 1.6%

2014 89 1.4% 2.5%

2015 243 3.9% 7.2%

2016 588 9.4% 18.4%

2017 1,206 19.3% 35.7%

2018 1,999 32.0% 66.3%

2019 1,946 31.1% 92.0%

Total 6,254
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Stuart* is a former soldier who re-entered the 
workforce after retiring from service. 

Unfortunately, he suffered severe injuries when 
his motorcycle was struck by another vehicle 
in 2014. These included fractures to his femur, 
tibia, fibula and foot. He also dislocated his 
knee, ruptured his anterior and posterior 
cruciate ligaments, and had multiple open 
wounds and abrasions over his body.

The Insurance Commission paid for Stuart’s 
emergency transport and treatment at Royal 
Perth Hospital. Given the extent of Stuart’s 
injuries caused by the actions of another 
driver, he was eligible to make a CTP 
compensation claim. 

Stuart participated in rehabilitation, funded 
by the Insurance Commission, for 18 months. 
Stuart’s positive attitude and commitment to 
recovery saw him return to fly-in-fly-out work 
only two years after the crash. 

At the conclusion of the claim, Stuart said 
he was “…grateful that the Insurance 
Commission had made the claims experience 
easy to navigate. The support provided by the 
Insurance Commission during my recovery 
enabled me to successfully return to work. I am 
positive about my future.” 

Stuart’s claim is an example of a long-duration 
claim the Insurance Commission settled during 
2019. 

Helping a former soldier return to work

*Name has been changed for privacy reasons.
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In 2019, the Insurance Commission launched 
an online claims mechanism for motor injury 
insurance claims. This customer service 
initiative was aimed at simplifying the claims 
process.

Previously, motorists involved in a crash had to 
telephone the Insurance Commission to notify 
it of their injuries and to initiate a claim. 

The Insurance Commission enhanced its 
existing driver/owner Online Crash Reporting 
Facility (OCRF) to allow all motorists, 
irrespective of their role in the crash, to 
provide their injury details, and request and 
make a claim online.

The online claims mechanism means that 
thousands of people every year will not 
be required to telephone the Insurance 
Commission or obtain a paper CTP  
compensation claim form. 

Additionally, the changes allow all claimants 
who are injured in a vehicle crash to report 
their injuries online. The Insurance Commission 
uses those reports to help it assess the claim 
and enable payments to be made to over 
11,000 claimants and their service providers 
each year. 

This customer service initiative also means 
claims officers no longer have to manually 
transcribe substantial volumes of data each 
year from claims that are not lodged online.

This is an example of re-purposing an existing 
online system to enhance its functionality and 
assist a larger cohort of people. The initiative 
is consistent with the WA Government’s 
approach to make more services available 
online. 

The Insurance Commission plans to make 
further changes to the OCRF to make the crash 
reporting and insurance claims process even 
more streamlined for motorists. 

Online claims facility goes live
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Costs

The Motor Injury Insurance Division managed motor 
injury claims valued at nearly $3.1 billion in 2019, 
consisting of $448.5 million in claims payments to 
people injured in crashes (including in prior years), 
and anticipated future claims expenses of $2.7 billion.

Ninety-four per cent of claims payments made in 
2019 were for the direct benefit of the claimant. The 
other 6% included the Insurance Commission’s claims 
management, legal and investigation costs associated 
with running the CTP and CIS schemes. 

Forty-three percent ($194.8 million) of payments in 
2019 were made to claimants to compensate them 

for pain and suffering as a result of their injury and for 
time off work. 

Thirty-seven per cent ($167.7 million) of payments in 
2019 were made to service providers who delivered 
care, hospital, medical, rehabilitation and equipment 
services to claimants. 

Of the estimated future payments for current claims, 
42% ($1.12 billion) is for care expected to be 
provided for claimants. The table below displays the 
breakdown of payments made and estimated future 
payments by major cost category at 30 June 2019. 

Current and Outstanding Claims Costs

Payments Estimates Total

Care $88.1m $1.12b $1.2b

Compensation:

Economic loss $116.1m $431.6m $547.7m

Pain and suffering $78.7m $329.4m $408.1m

Hospital $37.2m $63.8m $101.0m

Medical and equipment $42.4m $245.9m $288.3m

Other $86.0m $465.7m $551.7m

Total $448.5m $2.7b $3.1b

Claims costs are related to the severity of the injuries 
sustained in a crash and the role of the injured person 
in the crash. This is highlighted in the graphic on the 
next page that shows vulnerable people (motorcyclists, 
pillion passengers, pedestrians and cyclists) 
represented 39% of total claims payments in 2019 
despite only representing 16% of total claims. The 
other 61% of claims payments were made to drivers 

and passengers injured in crashes. As drivers and 
passengers have seatbelts and are protected by the 
car body in the crash, it is understandable that their 
injuries are often not as severe as those sustained by 
vulnerable road users.
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The most common motor injury insurance claim 
received is a minor injury claim. These claims 
represented 70% of all claims received during 2019 
but represented less than 5% of the costs paid by the 
Insurance Commission. 

CTP compensation claims represented 30% of claims 
received and represented 95% of the cost. 

The table opposite highlights the average claim costs 
within bands of claims finalised by the Insurance 
Commission during 2019. A finalised claim is a 
CTP compensation claim that the claimant and the 
Insurance Commission both agree can be closed 
as the claimant's injuries have stabilised and/or the 
amount of compensation payable is known. 

Motorcyclist
$120.6m

Pedestrian
$103.6m

Pillion Passenger
$18.0m

Cyclist
$42.4m

$14.4m
remains outstanding to be paid

$2.6m
was paid on hit-and-run  
claims in 2019

244 
hit-and-run 
claims were 
received  
in 2019

$176.6m
was paid to vulnerable 
road users in 2019

However, vulnerable 
road user claims  
only represented 

15.8%
of total claims 
received in 2019

Vulnerable road  
users represented 

39.4% 
of total claims 
payments in 2019

Vulnerable Road Users Claims Cost (including Outstanding Estimates)
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Finalised 2019 Motor Injury Insurance Claims by Cost Band

Band Total Claims Total Payments Average Cost  
of Claims

$0 - $1,000 418 $122,173 $292

$1,001 - $2,000 118 $176,377 $1,495

$2,001 - $5,000 230 $760,283 $3,306

$5,001 - $10,000 214 $1,568,678 $7,330

$10,001 - $20,000 264 $4,038,864 $15,299

$20,001 - $50,000 710 $24,804,701 $34,936

$50,001 - $100,000 652 $46,226,600 $70,900

$100,001 - $200,000 388 $53,106,183 $136,872

$200,001 - $500,000 257 $78,353,668 $304,878

$500,001 - $1,000,000 96 $64,948,655 $676,548

$1-2 million 32 $42,276,718 $1,321,147

$2-5 million 10 $28,045,893 $2,804,589

>$5 million 10 $74,999,747 $7,499,975

Total 3,399 $419,428,539 $123,398

*Excludes minor injury claims closed in 2019 

The maps on the following pages shows the crash locations across the WA regions by number of new motor injury 
insurance claims (CTP compensation and minor injury, and CIS scheme) and the claims payments for crashes in that 
region. The metropolitan area recorded the highest number of crashes (8,903 and payments of $330.4 million in 
2019, which is expected given 79% of the population live in metropolitan Perth. 
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Crash Claims Paid including Minor Injury Claims  
(total payments and estimates are irrespective of accident year)

Total - WA Regions

11,300
New Claims

 $448.5m 
Payments

$2.7b 
Estimate Outstanding

Kimberley

Mid West and Gascoyne

Goldfields-Esperance

Perth Metropolitan

Peel and South West Great Southern

Wheatbelt

Pilbara

Interstate

New  
Claims

34

 Payments

$8.7m

Estimate 
Outstanding

$62.5m

New  
Claims

8,903

Payments

$330.4m

Estimate 
Outstanding

$1.63b 
New  
Claims

470

 Payments

$26.0m 

Estimate 
Outstanding

$224.3m

New  
Claims

205

 Payments

$8.1m 

Estimate 
Outstanding

$86.0m 

New  
Claims

1,063

 Payments

$44.8m 

Estimate 
Outstanding

$281.3m 

New  
Claims

211

 Payments

 $9.0m 

Estimate 
Outstanding

$108.5m

New  
Claims

179

 Payments

$7.2m 

Estimate 
Outstanding

$70.4m 

New  
Claims

86

 Payments

 $5.9m 

Estimate 
Outstanding

 $104.4m

New  
Claims

149

 Payments

 $8.4m 

Estimate 
Outstanding

$87.6m
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Top Local Government Areas
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The Australian external territories in the Indian Ocean 
of Christmas Island and the Cocos (Keeling) Islands 
are grouped with Western Australia but are administered
by the Department of Infrastructure and Regional Development
and an Administrator.
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Local Government Areas 
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Maps from Wikimedia Commons

Mandurah

Bayswater

 Victoria Park

Canning

Swan

New  
Claims

361

Payments

$11.3m

Estimate 
Outstanding

$42.5m

New  
Claims

261

 Payments

$7.9m

Estimate 
Outstanding

$55.1m

New  
Claims

548

 Payments

$12.1m

Estimate 
Outstanding

$50.2m

New  
Claims

774

 Payments

$21.5m

Estimate 
Outstanding

$98.2m 

New  
Claims

248

New  
Claims

$7.4m

Estimate 
Outstanding

$63.4m Cockburn

New  
Claims

531

 Payments

$22.0m

Estimate 
Outstanding

$72.1m 

Gosnells

New  
Claims

372

 Payments

$23.6m

Estimate 
Outstanding

$115.1m

 Armadale
New  
Claims

272

 Payments

$6.3m

Estimate 
Outstanding

$45.2m

Perth

Melville

Wanneroo

Joondalup

Rockingham

New  
Claims

491 

 Payments

$19.0m

Estimate 
Outstanding

$32.6m

New  
Claims

435

 Payments

$16.2m

Estimate 
Outstanding

$47.7m

New  
Claims

603

 Payments

$31.5m

Estimate 
Outstanding

$150.5m

New  
Claims

634

 Payments

$22.5m

Estimate 
Outstanding

$71.0m

New  
Claims

385

 Payments

$19.4m

Estimate 
Outstanding

$119.5m

Stirling

New  
Claims

1,157

 Payments

$40.8m

Estimate 
Outstanding

$168.1m

Belmont
New  
Claims

281

 Payments

$11.3m

Estimate 
Outstanding

$42.0m

INSURANCE COMMISSION ANNUAL REPORT 2019
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Top Metropolitan and Regional Roads for Crashes in 2019

These tables list the top metropolitan and regional WA roads for crashes reported to the Insurance Commission in 
2019. Where the road covers more than one local government area, the primary one is listed for identification 
purposes (excluding some highways and freeways). 

PERTH METROPOLITAN

Road and Local Government Area Number of 
Crashes

Kwinana Freeway 216

Great Eastern Highway 122

Mitchell Freeway 98

Armadale Road, Armadale 82

Albany Highway 67

Tonkin Highway 65

Ranford Road, Canning 56

Joondalup Drive, Joondalup 53

Wanneroo Road, Wanneroo 50

Ocean Reef Road, Joondalup 39

West Swan Road, Swan 39

Reid Highway 38

Whitfords Avenue, Joondalup 37

Hester Avenue, Wanneroo 33

Canning Highway 32

Gnangara Road, Wanneroo 31

Marmion Avenue, Wanneroo 31

Mirrabooka Avenue, Stirling 31

Walcott Street, Stirling 31

Hutton Street, Stirling 30

Orrong Road, Canning 30

South Street, Melville 30

REGIONAL WA

Road and Local Government Area Number of 
Crashes

Mandurah Road, Mandurah 66

Bussell Highway 55

Pinjarra Road, Mandurah 41

Old Coast Road, Mandurah 34

Albany Highway 33

Forrest Highway, Harvey 22

South Coast Highway, Albany 17

Eyre Highway, Dundas 14

North West Coastal Highway 14

Blair Street, Bunbury 12

Chester Pass Road, Albany 11

Parade Road, Bunbury 10
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Number and Cost of Crash Injuries by Body Part

Excludes minor injury claims.

Head
Number of  
Injuries

400 
Payments

$95.5m

Face
Number of  
Injuries

130 
Payments

$4.3m

Spine and Neck
Number of  
Injuries

4,333 
Payments

$130.1m

Chest
Number of  
Injuries

460 
Payments

$38.3m

Lower Limbs
Number of  
Injuries

1,342 
Payments

$80.7m

Psychological 
Number of  
Injuries

147 
Payments

$3.2m

Upper Limbs
Number of  
Injuries

1,397 
Payments

$58.5m

Abdomen and Pelvis
Number of  
Injuries

110 
Payments

$5.2m

Burns and Other
Number of  
Injuries

493 
Payments

$7.0m

The infographic below shows the number of key injuries sustained in car crashes and CTP compensation payments 
made for those injuries. One claim can involve multiple injuries.
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Sunday

1,051
Number of 

Crashes

10%

Monday

1,509
Number of 

Crashes

14%

Tuesday

1,647
Number of 

Crashes

15%

Wednesday

1,621
Number of 

Crashes

15%

Thursday

1,701
Number of 

Crashes

16%

Friday

1,808
Number of 

Crashes

17%

Saturday

1,350
Number of 

Crashes

13%

10,687Total
People are most likely to be injured in a crash in  
Western Australia between 3pm and 6pm on a Friday

Daily Breakdown of Crashes Resulting in Motor Injury Claims in 2019

Vehicle Growth and Claim Numbers in Western Australia's Motor Injury Insurance Scheme
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Crash Claim Frequency Trends

The number of registered vehicles in WA, including 
trailers and caravans, has grown from 1.6 million in 
1998 to 2.9 million in 2019. Positive vehicle growth 
was maintained during 2019 at 0.9% (over 20,000 
new registered vehicles).

In 2019, WA had approximately 14.7% of Australia’s 
total number of registered vehicles despite having only 
10.4% of the population. 

The total number of people that reported vehicle 
crashes in WA via the Online Crash Reporting Facility 
during 2019 was 41,826. The majority of those 
crashes were for property damage only and some 
crashes will result in multiple reports if more than one 

vehicle is involved. The infographic opposite shows 
the number of reported crashes cascading down into 
the number of injury insurance claims lodged with the 
Insurance Commission. 

Approximately 30 crashes occurred each day on WA 
roads that resulted in motor injury insurance claims. 
People are most likely to be injured in a crash in WA 
on a Friday afternoon between 3pm and 6pm. The 
table at the bottom presents the number of crashes 
resulting in injury insurance claims and the day of 
the week they occurred. Crash rates on weekends are 
lower due to fewer vehicles on the road as schools and 
many businesses are closed on Saturday and Sunday. 
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Motor Injury Insurance – From Crash Report to Claim

This infographic illustrates how the ‘funnel’ of crash reports received by the Insurance Commission in 2019 translated 
into injuries and claims.

11,300
motor injury 
insurance claims

41,826
crash reports

14,911
people injured in

10,687
crashes  
involving injury

7,920
CTP minor injury claims 

3,360
CTP compensation claims 

20 
CIS scheme claims
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In October 2018, the Transport (Road Passenger 
Services) Act 2018 (Act) was passed by the 
WA Parliament to deliver on-demand transport 
reforms. The Act replaced the Taxi Act 1994 and 
parts of the Transport Co-ordination Act 1966 
that related to country taxi, car and bus licences.

The Act allows all taxis to operate state-wide, 
removing access restrictions around where taxis 
can operate. The Insurance Commission took 
the opportunity to review and develop the right 
insurance pooling and pricing solution for on-
demand vehicles, bearing in mind the objectives 
of the Act to regulate the entire road passenger 
transport industry. The new Motor Injury 
Insurance (MII) premiums effective from  
1 July 2019 introduced:

•  Consistent premium rates for metro and 
country taxis, hire vehicles and vehicles used 
for hire, fare and reward; and 

•  Premium rate changes for other related vehicle 
insurance groups to better reflect their claims 
history.

As a result of these changes, approximately:

•  1,700 metro-taxi owners had their annual 
MII premiums (inclusive of GST and insurance 
duty) reduced from $1,603.05 to $603.50;

• 1,500 country-area buses had MII premium 
reductions from $774.45 to $358.45; 

•  1,900 metro-area buses had MII premium 
increases from $2,029.05 to $2,122.85; and

•  300 country-area taxi owners and 33,000 
hire vehicles saw a rise from $516.40 to 
$603.50.

Prior to the reform, there was significant disparity 
in MII premium rates charged between taxis and 
other on-demand vehicles. The new approach 
ensures vehicles used for similar purposes are 
charged the same MII premium rate. The table 
below shows how the 2019 WA MII premium rate 
compares to the 2018 interstate premiums for 
metropolitan area taxis.

It remains significantly more affordable to insure 
a taxi for motor injury insurance in WA ($604) 
at 1 July 2019 than in almost all other states and 
territories.

MII Premium Rate for Metropolitan Area Taxis 2019 
(including GST and Insurance Duty)

WA 
($)

VIC 
($)

TAS 
($)

NT 
($)

QLD 
($)

SA 
($)

NSW 
($)

ACT 
($)

604 521 1,028 1,552 4,124 5,243 5,862 7,947
 

On-demand transport reform 
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3.2.1 Motor Injury Insurance Key Performance Indicators

Outcome A To ensure the Fund is fully funded

Effectiveness Performance Indicator

Solvency Level (%) - TPIF
This KPI calculates Total Assets as a percentage 
of Total Liabilities in the Third Party Insurance Fund 
(TPIF). This KPI measures the ability of the TPIF to 
meet its long-term financial obligations as they  
fall due. The Insurance Commission has a long-term 
objective to achieve and maintain a solvency  
level of not less than 125% with a target of 135% 
for the TPIF.

TPIF outstanding claims liabilities are calculated 
based on a 75% Probability of Sufficiency (PoS). 
The PoS takes into account potential uncertainties 
relating to various actuarial assumptions and 
statistical modelling techniques.

Comment: The solvency level of 143.3% is above the target of 141.2%. Increasing the PoS of the outstanding 
claims liabilities to 90% would reduce the likelihood of not having a sufficient outstanding claims provision from 
one-in-four years to one-in-ten years and is therefore a higher confidence measure of the solvency position of the 
Insurance Commission. At a 90% PoS, the TPIF solvency level would reduce to 137.2%.

Efficiency Performance Indicators

Net Loss Ratio (%) - TPIF
This KPI calculates net claims incurred (claims 
payments and movements in outstanding claims 
provision) as a percentage of net premium revenue. 
This KPI measures the sufficiency of premium 
revenue compared to the cost of claims incurred. 
A ratio below 100% indicates the TPIF received 
sufficient net premium revenue to meet the net cost 
of claims incurred.

TARGET

ACTUAL 91.2 88.0 86.1 92.7

88.8

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

%

2016 2017 2018 2019

Comment: The 2019 net loss ratio is worse than target, primarily due to net premium revenue being $19 million 
(3.1%) lower than forecast, reflecting a lower than forecast rate of vehicle growth (0.9% actual compared to 
2.2% forecast).

TARGET

ACTUAL (75% PoS) 137.4 141.5 143.1 143.3

141.2

ACTUAL (90% PoS) 137.2

120

125

130

135

140

145

150

*Solvency long-term target

%

2016 2017 2018 2019

130.7 135.6 137.0
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Net Expense Ratio (%) - TPIF
This KPI calculates underwriting and administration 
expenses as a percentage of net premium revenue, 
and measures operational efficiency. A lower 
expense ratio would contribute to higher profits or 
lower losses being generated.

TARGET

ACTUAL 9.8 8.6 9.5 10.1

10.3

7.5

8.0

8.5

9.0

9.5

10.0

10.5

%

2016 2017 2018 2019

Comment: The net expense ratio is marginally better than target. While the underwriting and administration 
expenses is 4.5% lower than budget, this was offset by lower than forecast net premium revenue (3.1%).

Net Combined Ratio (%) - TPIF
This KPI calculates underwriting and administration 
expenses and net claims incurred as a percentage 
of net premium revenue. This KPI is a measure  
of underwriting profitability used to indicate how 
well the TPIF is performing. It is the combined  
result of the Net Loss Ratio and the Net Expense 
Ratio. A ratio below 100% indicates that an 
underwriting profit has been made, whereas a  
ratio above 100% indicates an underwriting loss.

TARGET

ACTUAL 101.0 96.6 95.6 102.8

99.1

90

92

94

96

98

100

102

104

%

2016 2017 2018 2019

Comment: The result is worse than target, reflecting the Fund's underwriting loss of $16.5 million compared to  
the forecast profit of $5.6 million for the financial year. This loss is largely attributable to premium revenue being 
$19 million lower than expected and marginally higher than expected underwriting and administration costs 
(0.5% above budget).
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Effectiveness Performance Indicator

Solvency Level (%) - MVCIF
This KPI calculates Total Assets as a percentage of 
Total Liabilities in the Motor Vehicle (Catastrophic 
Injuries) Fund (MVCIF). This KPI measures the 
ability of the MVCIF to meet its long-term financial 
obligations as they fall due.

MVCIF outstanding claims liabilities are calculated 
based on a 75% Probability of Sufficiency (PoS). 
The PoS takes into account potential uncertainties 
relating to various actuarial assumptions and 
statistical modelling techniques.

Comment: The solvency level of 118.4% for the MVCIF reflects the better than expected underwriting 
performance and investment returns for the financial year. The Fund's underwriting profit of $15.2 million in 2019 
was due to a lower than forecast increase in outstanding claims provisions. This was driven by a lower than 
expected number of participants being partially offset by a decrease in discount rates. Given the long-tail nature 
of the liabilities in this Fund, considerable volatility is expected, particularly in the early years.

Efficiency Performance Indicators

Net Loss Ratio (%) - MVCIF
This KPI calculates net claims incurred (claims 
payments and movements in outstanding claims 
provision) as a percentage of net premium revenue. 
This KPI measures the sufficiency of premium 
revenue compared to the cost of claims incurred. 
A ratio below 100% indicates the MVCIF received 
sufficient net premium revenue to meet the net cost 
of claims incurred.
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-

0

25

50

75

100

125

150

175

200

%

175.7 78.9

92.3

2016 2017 2018 2019

-

Comment: The net loss ratio is better than target. This result is driven by a favourable movement in the outstanding 
claims provision (13.6%) as a result of a lower than expected number of participants, partially offset by a 
decrease in discount rates.
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Net Expense Ratio (%) - MVCIF
This KPI calculates underwriting and administration 
expenses as a percentage of net premium revenue, 
and measures operational efficiency. A lower 
expense ratio would contribute to higher profits or 
lower losses being generated.
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ACTUAL 13.1
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Comment: The net expense ratio of 13.1% is above the target of 5.6%. This is due to premium held to meet 
anticipated related future claims being insufficient, despite other underwriting and administration expenses being 
10.5% below target.

Net Combined Ratio (%) - MVCIF
This KPI calculates underwriting and administration 
expenses and net claims incurred as a percentage 
of net premium revenue. This KPI is a measure of 
underwriting profitability used to indicate how well 
the MVCIF is performing. It is the combined result 
of the Net Loss Ratio and the Net Expense Ratio. 
A ratio below 100% indicates that an underwriting 
profit has been made, whereas a ratio above 
100% indicates an underwriting loss.
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Comment: The result is better than target, which reflects the better than expected underwriting result of  
$15.2 million for the MVCIF compared to budget of $4.3 million. This is primarily due to the favourable 
movement in the outstanding claims provisions.
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Outcome B To provide affordable premiums to owners of  
Western Australian vehicles

Effectiveness Performance Indicator

Affordability Index (%) - MII
The Affordability Index calculates the Motor Injury 
Insurance (MII) premium (excluding GST and 
insurance duty) for the average family vehicle as a 
percentage of one week’s worth of WA's average 
weekly earnings. The target is to have the MII 
premium for the average family vehicle at or below 
25% of one week’s worth of WA’s average weekly 
earnings.

TARGET

ACTUAL* 14.7 19.7 20.0 20.0
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Comment: WA's motor injury insurance premium price remains one of the most affordable in Australia, when 
measured as a proportion of one week's average weekly earnings.

Efficiency Performance Indicator

Gross Expense Ratio (%) - MII
This KPI calculates total underwriting and 
administration costs as a percentage of gross 
written premiums collected. This KPI measures how 
efficiently the Insurance Commission manages the 
Motor Injury Insurance (made up of the CTP and 
CIS schemes).
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ACTUAL 10.5 10.3 10.1
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Comment: The result is higher than target. While the administration expenses (9.1%) were lower than budget, 
the gross written premiums collected were also lower than forecast (2.2%) reflecting a lower than forecast rate of 
vehicle growth.
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Outcome C
To provide a claims system that treats claimants fairly, 
delivers equitable compensation and a necessary and 
reasonable level of care and support

Effectiveness Performance Indicators

Timeliness of Initial Contact with 
Treating Health Team (%) - MVCIF
This KPI calculates the timeliness of the initial contact 
with the injured party’s treating health team and 
requires contact be made within three business days 
from receipt of a catastrophic injury notification.
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ACTUAL 97.3
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Comment: The 2019 result exceeded the target. During the financial year, in 96.4% of cases, the treating health 
team for potentially catastrophically injured parties were contacted within three business days of the Insurance 
Commission being notified of the injury.

Catastrophically Injured Claimant 
Satisfaction with the Level of Care and 
Support Services Provided (%) - MVCIF
This KPI measures the effectiveness of services 
provided and is determined by a survey for clients 
with catastrophic injuries and their families.

TARGET

ACTUAL 96.4
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Comment: The result is better than target. Ninety per cent of respondents indicated they were satisfied or 
extremely satisfied with the level of care and support services provided by the Insurance Commission.
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Proportion of Claims Payments made 
for the Direct Benefit of Claimants  
(%) - MII
This KPI calculates claims payments made for the 
direct benefit of claimants as a percentage of the 
total claim payments made in a financial year. 
Claims payments that do not go to the direct benefit 
of the claimant include the Insurance Commission's 
claims management, legal and investigation costs 
ordinarily incurred. This KPI reflects the Insurance 
Commission's effectiveness in minimising the 
financial hardship of claimants and delivering 
equitable compensation.
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ACTUAL* 89.4 91.0 94.2 94.2
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Comment: The result is marginally lower than target but in line with the 2018 result. The payments to claimants 
are $53.2 million more than last year, due to an increase in finalised claims compared to 2018 and a higher 
proportion of large loss (>$2 million) claim settlements. The operational costs including legal fees have also 
proportionally increased.

Timeliness of Liability Determination 
(%) - MII
This KPI calculates the timeliness of liability decisions 
for Motor Injury Insurance claims. The target 
requires that a decision be made on claims within 
25 days from the date of lodgement of the claim to 
ensure claimants are treated fairly.
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Comment: This indicator is significantly better than target and the prior years. The satisfactory outcome results from 
continuing efforts to streamline the claims management process with particular focus on ensuring timely liability 
decisions.
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Efficiency Performance Indicators

Claims Administration Costs per Claim 
Administered ($) - MII
This KPI calculates claims administration costs 
divided by the number of claims administered in the 
period. This KPI measures the efficiency of claims 
administration.
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ACTUAL* 3,204 3,055 3,187
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Comment: The result is significantly better than target due to the combined impact of lower claims administration 
costs (6.8%) and a higher number of claims administered (4.5%) than forecast, as more claims were received and 
finalised in 2019 compared to the prior year.

Claim Administration Costs as a Ratio of 
Gross Claims Paid (%) - MII
This KPI calculates claims administration costs as 
a percentage of the gross claims paid. This KPI 
measures the efficiency of claims administration.
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Comment: The result is better than target due to lower than forecast claims administration costs (6.8%) while 
claims payments were 3.3% higher than expected. The increase in claims payments is a result of more claims 
finalisations including a higher volume of large claims payments in 2019 compared to the prior year.
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3.3 Government Insurance

New Claims

19,328
Claim Payments

$254.9m
The RiskCover Division changed its name to the 
Government Insurance Division at the end of 2019. 
The change in division name was made to better 
reflect the breath of government insurance services 
delivered in addition to managing the RiskCover Fund. 

The division renewed or issued the following policies 
during the year:

•  renewed 111 annual self-insurance policies to  
WA Government agencies insured by the 
RiskCover Fund;

•  renewed 2,261 three-year Compensation 
(Industrial Diseases) Fund (CIDF) policies to 
employers engaged in mining in WA; and

•  issued 471 new CIDF policies to employers 
engaged in mining in WA.

The division received 19,328 new claims in 2019, 
administered 27,322 claims and made payments of 
$254.9 million to claimants, service providers and 
agencies across all its funds and schemes. 

The WA Government introduced the Civil Liability 
Legislation Amendment (Child Sexual Abuse Actions) 
Act 2018 on 1 July 2018 to remove the statute of 
limitations for civil actions relating to child sexual 
abuse. The change of legislation has resulted in 
87 new claims of historic child sexual abuse being 
made against agencies. The State Government or the 
RiskCover Fund will meet  the cost of these claims, 
which are managed by the Insurance Commission. 

The largest function performed by the division is to 
manage claims made against the RiskCover Fund, the 
self-insurance arrangements of the WA Government.

Karratha Health Campus, Pilbara. The Insurance Commission provides workers' compensation, 
property, motor vehicle and liability cover to WA Country Health Service.
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New Claims

19,141

 
  
Claim Payments

$244.6m

Workers’ compensation 
paid for the direct 
benefit of claimant 

91.5% 
 
Underwriting Result 

$23.5m loss
The RiskCover Fund recorded a $30.8 million profit 
before tax for 2019 compared to a $159.2 million 
profit in 2018. This is the seventh consecutive year the 
fund has recorded a profit. The positive 2019 result 
was due mostly to strong investment returns of  
$54.3 million, which offset the $23.5 million 
underwriting loss. 

The underwriting loss is the first for the fund since 
2014, and represents an $87 million decline in 
performance compared to the 2018 underwriting 
profit of $63.5 million. The underwriting loss is largely 
the result of an increase in the fund’s outstanding 
claims liabilities due to a decline in discount rates 
and an increase in the number of large claims in the 
property and miscellaneous classes of insurance. 
The net outstanding claims liability for the RiskCover 
Fund increased by $30 million in 2019 to $544.4 
million at 30 June 2019. This is the first increase to the 
fund’s liabilities since 2015, when the net outstanding 
liability balance was $600.3 million.

Despite the increase in outstanding claims liabilities, 
fund contributions charged to WA government 
agencies are at their lowest levels since 2012 at 
$288.2 million in 2019. Fund contributions remained 
low even though the cover provided to government 
agencies was expanded during the year to cover 
environmental impairment, loss or damage caused 
by chemical, biological, radiological and nuclear 
substances. This also follows extension of cover for 
agencies in prior years to include cyber-attacks. 

Administration expenses incurred to manage the fund 
were $30.6 million, which was $2.1 million less than 
administration expenses incurred in 2018, and which 
represent the lowest costs incurred since 2014. 

Claims
The RiskCover Fund received 19,141 new claims 
during the year, 1,332 less than 2018. Total claims 
administered (open and finalised) of 26,735 was 
7.5% lower than the number of claims (28,821) 
administered during 2018. 

The large reduction in new claims received in 2019 
was primarily due to 1,118 fewer low-value property 
claims received from the Department of Finance’s 
Building Management and Works (BMW) division. 
Property claims from BMW are received in bulk 
files. The number of property claims processed in a 
year can fluctuate due to timing of when the files are 
received.

The workers’ compensation and liability classes of 
cover experienced minor increases in new claim 
volumes (43 and 42 claims respectively) in 2019, 
which reverses the longer-term trend of fewer new 
claims being made. 

The continued reduction in total new claims is a 
desired outcome, as it indicates Government agencies 
are managing their risks.

The fund made $244.6 million in claims payments 
during 2019, which was a 9.5% increase on the 
$223.4 million in payments made in 2018. The 
increase in claim payments was across most insurance 
classes, led by workers’ compensation and liability 
claims, which were $8.8 million and $7.8 million 
higher respectively. The increase in the liability class 
was due to a few large medical treatment liability 
claims paid for incidents occurring at public hospitals. 

The number of open RiskCover Fund claims at  
30 June 2019 was 6,833.

RiskCover Fund
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In 2017, the Insurance Commission launched 
an online workers’ compensation claim form 
as part of the eClaims service available to 
insured agencies. 

Injured employees can submit workers’ 
compensation claims and supporting 
documentation to their employer and track 
progress of their claim.

During 2019, two additional agencies 
commenced using the eClaims system, taking 
the number to 36 (or 32% of agencies insured 
by the RiskCover Fund).

In 2019, most injured workers and agencies 
using the eClaims system:

•  had workers’ compensation claims received 
by the Insurance Commission in one day 
compared to five days for paper claim 
forms; and

•  received a liability decision in under four 
days on average compared to over six 
days for paper forms.

Feedback from agencies using the eClaims 
system is that the process is simple to follow, 
eliminates duplication and reduces paper 
handling and data entry.

The Insurance Commission will continue to 
engage with agencies to promote the use of 
the eClaims system to strive for a more efficient 
and effective claims process. 

eClaims simplifies the 
claims journey

Workers’ Compensation

The RiskCover Fund received 4,747 new workers’ 
compensation claims in 2019, a small increase of 43 
claims compared to the prior year. Despite the minor 
increase in new claims, the number of open claims at 
30 June 2019 remained stable. 

The current number of open claims (4,019) is 
comparable to 2018 (3,987). The graph below 
shows the consistent reduction in open claims since 
2013. These results reflect the ongoing commitment 
and investment in occupational safety and health by 
government agencies, and the effectiveness of the 
Insurance Commission at finalising claims in a timely 
manner. 

The Insurance Commission continues to work with 
agencies to identify where and how workplace 
injuries occur, in an effort to guide the preventative 
occupational health and safety initiatives delivered 
by those agencies. The purpose of those efforts is 
to avoid circumstances that give rise to workers’ 
compensation claims and their resultant cost, so fund 
contributions remain affordable for agencies. 

Despite the number of new and open claims being 
maintained near historic low levels, the estimated 
cost of claims (per year of lodgement) continues to 
increase. This is because a higher proportion of the 
total claims portfolio relates to more complex long-
duration claims, as well as inflationary pressures such 
as wage and medical cost increases. 

ESTIMATED COST OF NEW CLAIMS AT 30 JUNE PER YEAR NEW CLAIMS OPEN CLAIMS AT 30 JUNE 
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While there are 111 agencies insured by the RiskCover Fund, workers’ compensation claims are grouped 
functionally into three sectors: Education, Health and General Government. Each sector includes multiple agencies.

Education

1,933
New Claims

2,174
Finalised Claims

$42.0m
Payments

68,032
Paid Days Lost

283
Full-Time Equivalent  

Staff Absent from Work  
for the Year

General Government

1,669
New Claims

1,919
Finalised Claims

$65.3m
Payments

95,075
Paid Days Lost

396
Full-Time Equivalent  

Staff Absent from Work  
for the Year

2019 Workers’ Compensation Summary by Government Sector

Health

1,145
New Claims

1,446
Finalised Claims

$54.5m
Payments

82,929
Paid Days Lost

346
Full-Time Equivalent  

Staff Absent from Work  
for the Year

2019 Workers' Compensation Claims by Job Type

Education General Government Health
Occupation New Claims Occupation New Claims Occupation New Claims

Education Assistant 652 Prison Officer 539 Nurse 406

Primary School Teacher 326 Fire Fighter 204 Personal Care and 
Nursing Assistants 201

Secondary School 
Teacher 322 Social and Community 

Workers 94 Security Officer 55

Commercial Cleaner 146 Residential Care Officer 61 Commercial Cleaner 55

Special Needs Teacher 80 Guard and Security 
Officer 54 General Clerk 49

School Principal 78 General Clerk 50 Midwife 30

General Gardener 65 Jockey 41 Mental Health Nurse 30

Education Officer 60 Train Driver 20 Kitchen Hand 16

General Clerk 39 Conservation Officer 19 Medical Scientist 16

University Lecturer 27 Forestry Worker 17 Nurse Manager 13
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Ben*, a child protection worker at the Department 
of Communities, works with children and 
their families in often stressful and emotional 
environments. Following a serious incident at  
work in 2018, Ben sustained a psychological 
injury, diagnosed as an adjustment disorder  
with post-traumatic anxiety and depression.

Ben lodged an initial workers’ compensation claim 
with his employer and then an additional claim 

when his symptoms reoccurred. The Insurance 
Commission’s Government Insurance Division 
managed both claims. 

The Insurance Commission has funded Ben’s 
treatment to enable his recovery and return 
to work. Funding has also been provided 
for medication, medical and psychologist 
appointments, as well as his compensation for lost 
wages.

Commenting on the support he received from the 
Insurance Commission, Ben says: “Your claims 
officer has been amazing to work with – she is 
quick to action payments, organise appointments 
and provide guidance without being overbearing.

“Really cannot fault her service, as I know how 
challenging the role of a workers’ compensation 
case manager can be. She’s definitely a great 
worker!”

Ben’s workers’ compensation claims experience 

*Name has been changed for privacy reasons.

The average cost for a workers’ compensation claim 
finalised in 2019 was $33,700. This was lower 
than the average cost of claims finalised in 2018 
at $34,300 per claim. The education sector has a 
significantly lower average cost per claim ($20,000) 
than the other two sectors (Health: $46,600 and 
General Government: $39,400). The General 
Government sector has a higher proportion of mental 
stress claims. The Health sector has a higher portion 
of body stress claims and the Education sector has a 
higher proportion of ‘hit by moving object’ claims. 

The graphic opposite also illustrates that 246,036 
working days were lost to government agencies due to 
staff absences following a workplace injury in 2019. 
This is an 11% increase on the number of working 
days lost in 2018. In 2019, this represented 1,025 
full-time equivalent employees being absent from 
work for the year in the public sector due to an injury 
sustained at work. 

Over the last four years the average return to work rate 
for injured government workers in the RiskCover Fund 
was 92%. This compares favourably to the overall WA 
scheme (made up mostly of non-government entities), 
which had an average return to work rate of 86% in 
2019. This is a positive result as it means most people 
return back to work following injury.

The RiskCover Fund incurred $186.4 million in costs 
for workers’ compensation claims that were finalised in 
2019. This reduced 5% from 2018 ($200.6 million), 
as a result of fewer claims being finalised in 2019. 

Twenty-eight percent of all claims finalised were within 
the cost band of $0 - $1,000 but accounted for only 
0.3% of all claims costs. Claims with a total cost 
between $200,000 and $500,000 represent the 
largest proportion of costs incurred on claims finalised 
during the year (see following table). One reason why 
there were less workers’ compensation claims finalised 
in 2019 was due to the higher proportion of severe 
long-duration claims than experienced in prior years.
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Finalised 2019 Workers’ Compensation Claims by Cost Band
Cost Band Claims Payments Average Claim Cost

$0 - $1,000 1,539 $607,260 $395

$1,001 - $2,000 572 $834,227 $1,458

$2,001 - $5,000 771 $2,490,673 $3,230

$5,001 - $10,000 491 $3,529,955 $7,189

$10,001 - $20,000 493 $7,054,673 $14,310

$20,001 - $50,000 655 $21,166,646 $32,315

$50,001 - $100,000 424 $30,869,878 $72,806

$100,001 - $200,000 342 $49,604,786 $145,043

$200,001 - $500,000 245 $65,407,131 $266,968

Greater than $500,000 7 $4,846,214 $692,316

Total 5,539 $186,411,442 $33,654

* Excludes minor injury claims closed in 2019 

Within the workers’ compensation portfolio the number 
of new mental stress claims increased in 2019 to 454 
compared to 427 in 2018. The proportion of new 
mental stress claims in the portfolio has also increased 
slightly from approximately 9% in the past three years 
to 9.6% in 2019. The cost of mental stress claims for 
WA public sector agencies is higher than other claim 
types and represents 21.6% of total estimated costs. 

The estimated average cost of mental stress claims 
received in 2019 was $76,000, which is more than 
double the next highest category of injury. This is due 
to the complexities of mental stress injuries and the 
challenges of returning an individual back to their pre-
injury duties and/or work environment. 

Public sector workers in WA continue to lodge mental 
stress workers’ compensation claims at rates well 
above the private sector. The difference is noteworthy 
and is reflective of the many complex and challenging 
frontline services delivered to the community by public 
sector employees.

The infographic opposite provides further detail on 
mental stress claims. 
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Workers’ Compensation Mental Stress Claims

Approximately 56% of mental stress claims in  
WA are lodged through the Insurance Commission  
despite public sector employees only accounting for  

10% of WA’s workforce 

$34.5m
Estimated cost of mental stress claims lodged with the 

Insurance Commission in 2019

Stress claims are more than twice the cost of physical injury claims and have longer durations

Female
266

new claims

$20.1m
estimated 

cost

Male
188

new claims

$14.4m
estimated 

cost
The most common mental stress claim causes were exposure 
to trauma (men) and harassment (women).

Ages 30 and under 
$71,600
average cost  

per claim

Ages 41-50
$84,900
average cost  

per claim

Injured workers with mental stress claims took an average of 
123 days off work in 2019 compared to 67 days for all 
other lost time injury claims.

In 2019, mental stress claims made up 9.6% of new claims in the RiskCover Fund but represented 21.6% of the cost

All New 
Claims

New Mental 
Stress Claims

Number of claims 4,747 454 (9.6%)

LTI claims 3,157 374 (11.8%)

Severe* claims 1,121 235 (21.0%)

Estimated average 
claim cost^ $33,700 $76,000

Estimated total 
claims cost^ $160.0m $34.5m (21.6%)

Full-time equivalent 
absent from work 875 192

Average days  
lost per LTI 66.5 123.2

LTI: Lost Time Injury 
*Severe is greater than 60 days 
^Based on finalised claim costs

Cost Breakdown 2019 Profile Comparison

Other Factors

Harrassment

Exposure to Violence

Exposure to Trauma

Work Pressure

OTHER 
FACTORS

$4.0m 
(14%)

 ERUSOPXE 
TO TRAUMA

$6.2m
(23%)

EXPOSURE 
TO VIOLENCE

$2.7m
(10%)

(23%)

HARASSMENT
$6.4m

 

 

WORK 
PRESSURE

$8.1m
(30%)

Lorem ipsum

Other Factors

Harrassment

Exposure to Violence

Exposure to Trauma

Work Pressure
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In 2018, the Department of Fire and 
Emergency Services (DFES) gave evidence at a 
Commonwealth Parliament Senate inquiry into 
the mental health conditions experienced by first 
responders in Australia.

DFES described its collaborative relationship with 
the Insurance Commission in the management of 
psychological claims, including post-traumatic 
stress disorder (PTSD) in Western Australia: 

"I understand that, in some jurisdictions and 
services, workers have reported that the process 
of making a [PTSD] claim has been adversarial, 
invasive and traumatic. 

“DFES have worked closely with our insurer, 
RiskCover [the Insurance Commission], over the 
last six to seven years to minimise the stress and 
anxiety for workers making a claim for PTSD. 
Since 2010, our insurer has accepted liability for 
all PTSD claims lodged by first-responder workers. 
Our insurer will also fund preventative therapies 
on a without-prejudice basis before determining 
liability.”

The Insurance Commission continues to support 
DFES and other agencies who provide complex 
and challenging frontline services. 

Working in partnership to improve PTSD outcomes

Services Provided

43,951
Doctor 

appointments 

70,112
Vocational rehab 

sessions 

18,748
Chemist 
expenses

17,969
Exercise 

programs 

42,740
Physiotherapy 

sessions 

6,542
X-rays 

5,237
Occupational 
therapy 
appointments

661
Massage 

appointments

1,147
Hydrotherapy 

sessions

1,148
Chiropractor 

appointments 

2,960
Anaesthetics 
administered

7,891
Psychologist 

and psychiatrist 
appointments

110
Ambulance  

trips

7,754
Aids, appliances 
and equipment

7,573
Hospital 

appointments
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Dispute Resolution

In 2019, there were 259 disputes lodged for 
conciliation related to active workers’ compensation 
claims managed by the Insurance Commission. The 
dispute rate reduced slightly from 3.1% in 2018 to 
3.0% in 2019, remaining below the WA workers’ 
compensation scheme average of 4.4% in 2019 of all 
claims active.  

Only 72 (27.8%) disputes made in 2019 proceeded 
to arbitration, which is required if agreement between 
a worker and their employer or insurer cannot be 
reached at conciliation. That is a pleasing result 
as it indicates agreements can be reached to the 
satisfaction of both parties for most disputes without the 
need and cost of legal arbitration. The average rate 
of disputes proceeding to arbitration for the entire WA 
workers’ compensation scheme was 30.1% in 2019. 

Claim Geography

The maps on the following pages report by WA 
region the number of new workers’ compensation 
claims lodged, total payments made and estimates 
outstanding in 2019. As expected, metropolitan 
Perth experienced the highest number (3,443) and 
proportion (73%) of workers’ compensation claims 
and payments of $123.6 million aligning with the 
metropolitan location of public sector workplaces and 
client base. 

During the year, the Fund received 15 workers’ 
compensation claims that occurred outside WA. 

Yagan Square, Perth, is one asset covered by the Insurance Commission for liability risks within the 
Metropolitan Redevelopment Authority portfolio. The Insurance Commission also provides the agency 
with cover for workers' compensation, property, motor vehicle and personal accident.



3. PERFORMANCE

78

Workers’ Compensation Claims in 2019  
(total payments and estimates are irrespective of accident year)

Total - All Areas

4,747
New Claims

 $161.8m 
Payments

$288.0m 
Outstanding Estimate
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are grouped with Western Australia but are administered
by the Department of Infrastructure and Regional Development
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Workers’ compensation claims are categorised by 
injury type (mechanism) to help identify trends for 
agencies seeking to address the cause of injury. This 
information is set out below along with the number 
and cost of claims finalised during 2019, regardless 
of the year of claim lodgement. 

Body stress has been the predominant cause of  
work-related injuries for the past five years. In 2019, 
body stress claims represented the highest number  
of finalised claims (1,768) at a total cost of  
$62.4 million and an average cost of $35,000 per 
claim. It is pleasing to report that the number of body 
stress claims finalised has decreased 15% since 2015 
from 2,074 to 1,768 claims.

Mental stress claims constitute 22% of payments but 
only 10% of claims finalised. The average cost of a 
finalised mental stress claim in 2019 was $76,000,  
a 27% increase since 2015.

Although not a high proportion of claims costs, it is 
noteworthy that claims for exposure to chemicals and 
other substances have increased 186% over the past 
five years.

31.9%1.8%

99 
Claims

Chemicals and 
Substances

22.5%

1,247 
Claims

Falls, Slips 
and Trips

5.7%

316 
Claims

Impact with 
Sta�onary 
Object

9.4%

520 
Claims

Mental Stress

1,325 
Claims

Hit by Moving 
Object

0.4%

 22 
Claims

Sensory 
Pressures

4.4%

242 
Claims

Other

23.9%

Sensory Pressures                                                                  

Other

Mental Stress                                                                             

Impact with Stationary Object                                       

Falls, Slips and Trips

Chemicals and Substances                                                            

Body Stress 

Hit by Moving Object                                                   

C L A I M S

  TO
TAL

5,539 

1,768 
Claims

Body Stress

Object

Finalised Workers' Compensation Claims - Injury Causes

2.8%

$5.2m
Costs

Impact with 
Stationary 
Object

21.2%

$39.5m
Costs

Mental Stress

$32.3m 
Costs

Hit by Moving 
Object

0.4%

$0.8m
Costs

Sensory 
Pressures

2.0%

$3.8m
Costs

Other

17.3%

33.5%

$62.4m 
Costs

Body Stress

0.5%

$0.9m
Costs

Chemicals and 
Substances

22.3%

$41.5m 
Costs

Falls, Slips 
and Trips

 C O S T S

  TO
TAL

$186.4m 
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The Insurance Commission also captures data on the 
body part injured by each workers’ compensation 
claimant. This information is useful to guide claims 
management decision-making, treatment plans and 
agency injury preventions. 

In 2019, 2,781 claims for injuries to limbs (upper  
and lower) were finalised, which represented  
$83.8 million or 45% of finalised workers’ 
compensation claims costs. The graphic below shows 
the number and cost of claims finalised during 2019, 
regardless of the year of lodgement, for workers’ 
compensation injuries by body part.

Finalised Workers' Compensation Claims - Number and Cost of Injuries by Body Part

Neck
Number of  
Injuries

131 

Costs
 

$3.8m 

Total

5,539
Number of Injuries 

$186.4m
Costs

Upper Limbs
Number of  
Injuries

1,661 

Costs
 

$46.8m 

Lower Limbs
Number of  
Injuries

1,120 

Costs
  

$37.0m 

Head
Number of  
Injuries

474 

Costs
 

$7.2m 

Trunk and Back
Number of  
Injuries

864 

Costs
 

$28.2m 

Psychological
Number of  
Injuries

550 

Costs
 

$40.3m 

Multiple and  
Other Locations
Number of  
Injuries

739 

Costs
  

$23.1m 
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Liability

The RiskCover Fund Liability Portfolio contains three 
sub-classes: general liability, professional indemnity 
and medical treatment liability. In 2019, new claims 
within the Liability portfolio represented 2% of total 
claims made against the Fund. However, due to the 
high cost and complexity of liability claims, these 
represented 19% of total claims payments across the 
Fund. 

The number of new medical treatment liability claims 
received in 2019 increased by 12% (384 new 
claims) against 342 new claims received in 2018. 

The number and cost of liability claims can vary 
significantly year to year as some liability claims can 
be complex and require significant investigation. In 
2019, the total cost of liability claims finalised was 
$39.8 million, compared to $19.5 million in 2018. 
The reason for the higher 2019 costs compared to the 
previous year was the number of large liability claims 
finalised during the year. 

The chart opposite shows the breakdown of claims 
payments within the liability portfolio by sub class. 

Further to the claims costs paid in 2019, the 
outstanding claims liability at 30 June 2019 by  
sub-class was: medical treatment $149.1 million; 
general liability $55.6 million; and professional 
indemnity $3.5 million. Included in the general  
liability class is an outstanding claims provision of 
$4.3 million for historic child sexual abuse claims.

Other Classes

The other insurance classes of the RiskCover Fund 
include Miscellaneous, Motor and Property risks. 
While there are some long-duration claims within these 
portfolios, in general they represent high frequency, 

low value and short duration claims. In 2019, 
these classes accounted for 73% of finalised claims 
(14,018 claims) and 12% of total payments  
($30.5 million) in the Fund. 

RiskCover Fund Classes Finalised Claims in 2019

Finalised Claims Total Cost Average Cost

Workers’ Compensation 5,539 $186.4m $33,654

Liability 349 $39.8m $113,981

Motor 2,268 $9.6m $4,236

Property 11,640 $19.6m $1,687

Miscellaneous 110 $1.3m $12,055

Total 19,906 $256.7m  

OTHER 
FACTORS

$4.0m 
(15%)

EXPOSURE 
TO VIOLENCE

$2.7m
(10%)

(23%)

HARASSMENT
$6.4m

 

 

WORK 
PRESSURE

$8.1m
(29%)

O
F

 C L A I M A N

TS

  T
OTAL NUMBER

3,380

Professional 
Indemnity
$659k
(1.5%)

Medical 
treatment 

$33.7m
(85.0%)

General 
Liability 
$5.4m

(13.5%)

L IABIL ITY 
PORTFOLIO

CLAIMS
COSTS



83INSURANCE COMMISSION ANNUAL REPORT 2019

3. PERFORMANCE

The Miscellaneous portfolio within the RiskCover 
Fund covers a number of minor classes with the two 
main categories being Personal Accident and Travel. 
During 2019, the Miscellaneous portfolio received 
several large personal accident claims from volunteer 
firefighters. Since its introduction in January 2017, 
the Firefighters and Emergency Volunteers Legislation 
Amendment (Compensation) Act 2016 has enabled 
volunteer and former career firefighters to claim 
compensation for injuries sustained, in addition to 
those made by state-employed firefighters. 

Claims experience in the Motor Vehicle class has 
been favourable and at a five-year low, with losses 
sustained to government-owned/leased motor vehicles 
down 21% from 2,750 claims in 2015 to 2,171 
claims in 2019. A significant proportion of claims 
related to accidents where the government agency 
driver was at fault (873 claims), followed by 207 
general windscreen damage claims. 

Property claims represent the most significant volume 
of claims managed for the Fund. Claims result from 
causes such as fire, vandalism, theft, lightning strike 
and storm. The Insurance Commission facilitates 
repairs and/or replacement of insured assets in these 
circumstances. 

There were 11,595 new property claims received 
in 2019, which is a five-year low compared to the 
13,156 new claims received in 2015. General  
loss/damage claims are the most common property 
claim received (8,466 or 73% of new claims) 
followed by accidental damage (795 or 6.8% of  
new claims) and graffiti (629 or 5.4% of new claims). 

There has been a 32% reduction of new claims 
received in 2019 due to graffiti placed on insured 
government assets. Pleasingly, there has also been a 
21% reduction in break and entry claims resulting from 
the intrusion into Government assets received by the 
Insurance Commission. 

As a result of these claims reductions, there was  
$4.7 million less in property claims payments made 
($24.5 million) compared to a forecast of  
$29.2 million for the year. 

The total value of properties insured by the RiskCover 
Fund totalled $55 billion in 2019. The graphics 
below and on the next page illustrate how the  
exposure in the property portfolio is distributed across 
asset category, industry type and region. 

Property Values By 
Industry Type
Education and Health property 
assets comprise 56% of the total 
property values.

Health
$12.5b
(22.7%)

Education
$18.4b
(33.5%)

Sea/Water
$5.2b
(9.5%)
Other
$4.7b
(8.5%)

General Services
$14.2b
(25.8%)

Property Portfolio Profile

Total 
Property Value 

Insured
$55 billion

$33m
Other

$3.6b
Loss of Profits 

$44.9b
Buildings/Contents  

$5.7b
Infrastructure

$59m
Art

$649m
Motor
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RiskCover Fund Property By CRESTA Zone*

Appropriately 67% of the property  
portfolio is located in Perth.

Dampier

$3.5b

Wyndham

$2.1b

Central WA

$4.5b

Geraldton/Carnarvon

$3.0b

Bunbury/Albany 

$5.2b

Perth

$36.8b

Other (NT and Overseas)

$28.2m

*CRESTA Zones (Catastrophe Risk Evaluating and Standardising  
Target Accumulations) are part of an international geographic zoning 
system which helps brokers and reinsurers manage natural hazard risk
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Combustible cladding

Shareholder Return

As agreed with the Department of Treasury, the 
Insurance Commission Board policy is that, where 
the RiskCover Fund has funds in excess of its 135% 
solvency target, a return of capital can be made to the 
Consolidated Account of Government.

The solvency of the RiskCover Fund at 30 June 2019 
was 150%. Implementation of the Board policy for 
return of capital from the RiskCover Fund provides for 
a return of capital of $69.5 million. 

This payment will bring the total return of capital from 
the RiskCover Fund to Government to $329.5 million 
since shareholder returns from that Fund commenced in 
2018.

The final solvency position following the return of 
capital ensures the fund maintains a prudential reserve 
of $60.2 million. This reserve allows the fund to 
protect itself against a one-off large event, multiple 
large events in any one cover period, or events 
covered by the fund for which reinsurance has not 
been obtained or is unobtainable. 

As at 30 June 2019, RiskCover Fund net assets total 
$243.5 million. 

In June 2017, a fire occurred at the 24-storey 
Grenfell Tower block of public housing flats in 
West London, which resulted in multiple fatalities 
and multiple severe injuries. The fire is suspected 
to have been accelerated by the building’s 
exterior cladding, which was a combustible 
aluminum product. The Grenfell apartment fire 
has raised awareness and focused attention on 
the potential dangers associated with combustible 
cladding material on buildings. 

Following the Grenfell incident, the WA 
Department of Mines, Industry Regulation 
and Safety (DMIRS) coordinated an audit of 
government owned/leased buildings to assess 
the prevalence and risk of combustible cladding. 
Several agencies also conducted their own audits 

and commissioned assessments by qualified fire 
engineers of buildings suspected of potentially 
containing combustible cladding.

The Insurance Commission insures over 8,500 
government buildings and structures. Of the 
buildings requiring assessment due to their 
characteristics, only ten buildings require 
some form of remediation action, of which two 
buildings have had that remediation action 
completed by the building owners at 30 June 
2019.

The Insurance Commission continues to work 
with DMIRS and agencies to monitor progress of 
assessments and remedial actions. 
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3.3.1 RiskCover Fund Key Performance Indicators 

Outcome A To ensure the Fund is fully funded

Effectiveness Performance Indicator

Solvency Level (%)
This KPI calculates Total Assets as a percentage 
of Total Liabilities in the RiskCover Fund. This KPI 
measures the ability of the RiskCover Fund to meet 
its long-term financial obligations as they fall due.

Comment: RiskCover’s solvency level was 150% as at 30 June 2019 which was higher than target (135%). This 
was subsequently reduced to 135% after providing for a return of capital of $69.5 million to the Consolidated 
Account of Government.

Efficiency Performance Indicators

Net Loss Ratio (%)
This KPI calculates net claims incurred (claims 
payments and movements in outstanding claims 
provision) as a percentage of net premium revenue. 
This KPI measures the sufficiency of premium 
revenue compared to the cost of claims incurred. 
A ratio below 100% indicates the RiskCover Fund 
received sufficient net premium revenue to meet the 
net cost of claims incurred.

TARGET

ACTUAL 71.1 68.1 65.0
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Comment: The net loss ratio is below target. This is due to a higher than expected increase in outstanding claims 
provisions ($14.4 million) and payments ($11.4 million) predominantly due to larger settlements and a higher 
claims finalisation rate for liability and workers' compensation claims, offset partially by fewer settlements for 
property claims.

TARGET

ACTUAL 131.1 135.0 135.0
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Net Expense Ratio (%)
This KPI calculates underwriting and administration 
expenses as a percentage of net premium revenue. 
This KPI is a measure of operational efficiency. A 
lower expense ratio would contribute to higher 
profits or lower losses being generated.

TARGET

ACTUAL 12.3 11.9 11.9

12.4

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

%

11.1
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Comment: The net expense ratio of 11.1% is better than the target and prior years. The favourable result is due to 
net premium revenue being $7.7 million (2.9%) above budget, while underwriting and administration expenses 
were $2.7 million (8%) lower than target. The higher premium revenue is required to meet higher claims costs 
mainly for workers' compensation, which led to an additional $7.4 million adjustment (contribution by agencies) 
for that insurance cover.

Net Combined Ratio (%)
This KPI calculates underwriting and administration 
expenses and net claims incurred as a percentage 
of net premium revenue. This KPI is a measure of 
underwriting profitability used to indicate how  
well the Fund is performing. It is the combined  
result of the Net Loss Ratio and the Net Expense 
Ratio. A ratio below 100% indicates that an 
underwriting profit has been made, whereas a  
ratio above 100% indicates an underwriting loss.

TARGET

ACTUAL 83.4 80.0 76.9
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Comment: The net combined ratio of 108.5% is worse than target. This reflects an underwriting loss of  
$23.5 million compared to a budgeted loss of $5.8 million, predominantly due to claims expenses being 
higher than budget following a negative movement in outstanding claims of $14.4 million (102.9%) and claims 
payments being $11.4 million (4.9%) higher than target. The unfavourable movement in outstanding claims 
is largely driven by the short-tail property ($10.6 million) class of insurance. The decline in discount rates also 
resulted in a higher than expected movement in outstanding claims for the workers' compensation class of 
insurance.



88

3. PERFORMANCE

Outcome B To provide sustainable fund contributions (premiums) to 
agencies insured

Effectiveness Performance Indicator

Workers’ Compensation Claims Incurred 
per $100 Wage Roll ($)
This KPI calculates the actuarial forecast cost of 
claims incurred in the renewal period adjusted 
to their present day value x 100 divided by the 
total wages declared by all clients, adjusted to 
their present day value. This KPI measures the 
effectiveness of the Insurance Commission in 
keeping the cost of workers’ compensation  
claims low.

TARGET

ACTUAL 1.30 1.22 1.36

1.25
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$
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Comment: The indicator is higher than target and prior years. The result is due to wages of public sector agencies 
insured by the RiskCover Fund increasing by $326.4 million (2.6%) and the actuarial forecast cost of claims 
incurred increasing by $16.7 million (9.8%) since 2018.

Efficiency Performance Indicator

Management Fees as a Percentage of 
Contributions (%)
This KPI calculates the RiskCover Fund's 
administration costs as a percentage of Fund 
contributions. This KPI measures the efficiency with 
which the Insurance Commission manages the 
RiskCover Fund.

TARGET

ACTUAL 8.5 8.8 9.7
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Comment: The 2019 result is favourable to target, mainly due to administration expenses being $2 million 
(6.9%) lower than expected. The improvement in this indicator reflects management's ongoing efforts to improve 
operational efficiencies.
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Outcome C To provide a claims system that treats agencies and 
claimants fairly and delivers equitable compensation

Effectiveness Performance Indicators

Proportion of Workers' Compensation 
Claims Payments made for the Direct 
Benefit of Claimants (%)
This KPI is calculated as workers’ compensation 
claims payments made for the direct benefit 
of claimants as a percentage of total workers' 
compensation claims payments made during the 
financial year. Claims payments that do not go to 
the direct benefit of the claimant include claims 
management, legal and investigation costs incurred. 
This KPI measures the Insurance Commission's 
effectiveness in minimising the financial hardship of 
claimants and delivering equitable compensation.

TARGET

ACTUAL 90.6 90.9 91.3
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Comment: This indicator exceeded target with 91.5% of payments made for the direct benefit of claimants. 

Workers' Compensation Timeliness of 
Liability Determination (%)
This KPI calculates the timeliness of liability decisions 
for workers' compensation claims. WorkCover 
WA's best practice guideline for insurers and  
self-insurers requires that a decision be made on 
claims within 17 days from the date of lodgement 
with the employer to ensure claimants are treated 
fairly. 

TARGET

ACTUAL 94.8 96.1 95.8
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Comment: The 2019 result is better than target and prior years, reflecting continued efforts and improvements to 
process controls to ensure timely liability decisions.
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Efficiency Performance Indicators

Claims Administration Costs per Claim 
Administered ($)
This KPI calculates claims administration costs 
divided by the number of claims administered in the 
period. This KPI measures the efficiency of claims 
administration.

TARGET

ACTUAL* 1,093 1,093 1,133
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*Results prior to 2019 results have been restated to include Building 
  Management and Works property claims

Comment: The claims administration cost per claim administered is $114 (9.1%) better than target. This is due 
to claims administration costs being $2.7 million (8%) below target, despite the number of claims administered 
being 309 (1.2%) higher than target. The increase in claims administered is largely attributable to the longer-tail 
workers' compensation class (852 above budget), offset by a reduction in short-tail property claims (325 below 
budget).

Claims Administration Costs as a Ratio 
of Gross Claims Paid (%)
This KPI calculates claims administration costs as 
a percentage of the gross claims paid. This KPI 
measures the efficiency of claims administration. 

TARGET

ACTUAL 13.5 15.2 14.6
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Comment: The 2019 result was better than target due to the combined impact of claims administration costs 
being $2.7 million (8%) below target and claims paid being $11.4 million (4.9%) above target. The increase 
in gross claims paid was led by the workers' compensation ($8.9 million) and liability ($7.8 million), offset by a 
decrease in property ($4.7 million) and motor ($1.1 million) classes of insurance. 
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3.4 Investments

Total Investment Assets 

$5.5 billion
Investment Return

7.0%

The Insurance Commission’s investment portfolio 
delivered a gross return (before fees and expenses) of 
7% (6.4% net) for 2019. 

This reflects total investment returns for the Main Fund 
and the Motor Vehicle (Catastrophic Injuries) Fund 
(MVCIF). Each fund has an asset allocation developed 
to meet its insurance liabilities. The same investment 
managers are used for both funds.

The Main Fund return of 6.9% underperformed 
its benchmark by 1.9%. This was due to being 
underweight Australian Fixed Interest and 
Inflation Linked Bonds, resulting in Fixed Interest 
underperforming its benchmark by 4.5%, and 
underperformance by the Insurance Commission’s 
Australian and Global Equities managers. Australian 
Equities underperformed by 5.7% and Global Equities 
by 3.8%. The strongest performing asset class was 
Alternative Assets, returning 15.5% and outperforming 
by 9%. Global infrastructure investments, in both listed 
and unlisted assets, were the key reason for this strong 
return.

The MVCIF return was 7.8%, underperforming its 
benchmark by 1.2%. That Fund’s return was boosted 
by well-timed increases in allocation to equities in 
early January 2019 and early May 2019. The  
three-year phased implementation of the investment 
strategy for the MVCIF is in its final stages.

The Insurance Commission focuses on delivering 
long-term growth in investment assets in order to meet 
its insurance claims liabilities. The rolling seven-year 
Main Fund return was 9%, which was 3.5% above 
the Consumer Price Index (CPI) plus 3% performance 
objective.

The total value of investment funds held by the 
Insurance Commission grew from $5.3 billion at  
30 June 2018 to $5.5 billion at 30 June 2019.  
The total value of assets held by the Insurance 
Commission at 30 June 2019 was $5.9 billion. 

This growth reflects the successful implementation of 
the Insurance Commission’s investment strategy focused 
on a long-term outlook across a diverse portfolio 
of quality investment assets. This has enabled the 
Insurance Commission to maintain a strong financial 
position to cover rises in future claims costs.

The compound gross returns for the Main Fund in 
recent times have been very strong:  

The Insurance Commission’s investment assets have 
increased $1.1 billion in the past three years and 
$2.9 billion over the last ten years.

5-year return

44.3%
7-year return 

83.2%
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Financial Market Overview

The 2018-19 financial year was a tale of two halves. 
Financial markets started the year strongly but were 
halted in September 2018 as US-China trade tensions 
and interest rate hikes by the United States Federal 
Reserve (Fed) weighed on investor sentiment.

By 31 December 2018, Global Equity markets had 
erased earlier gains to be 4.2% lower than six months 
prior (at 30 June 2018) and 10-year-US bond yields 
had decreased from 2.9% to 2.7%. The decline in 
investment markets in December was perceived to be 
due to concerns about a number of global factors, 
including Brexit, US-China trade tensions and the U.S. 
Fed increasing interest rates again in December 2018 
to 2.5%.

The effect of declining investment markets in the  
first six months of the 2018-19 financial year was  
a total investment loss to the Insurance Commission  
of $167 million. 

A marked reversal in Fed commentary towards an 
easier monetary policy (lower interest rates) and 
progress on US-China trade talks restored some 
confidence towards a positive global growth outlook. 
Consequently, markets rebounded sharply from the 
beginning of the calendar year.

For the year ended 30 June 2019, Global Equity 
markets were up 11.3%, the Australian Equity market 
was up 11.4%, Property was up 7.2% and Alternative 
Assets were up 6.5%. At the same time, Global Bond 
markets returned 7.2%, the Australian Bond market 
returned 9.6% and Cash returned 2.0%.

The size of the turnaround in investment income for the 
Insurance Commission at 30 June 2019, compared 
to six months earlier on 31 December 2018, was 
$517.5 million.

Despite signs of the rate of global economic growth 
slowing, positive global economic growth is expected 
to continue due to supportive monetary policy and 
country-specific fiscal policy initiatives. It is anticipated 
that geopolitical uncertainty will continue to dampen 
global business activity, which is likely to result in 
slowing global corporate earnings growth. 

With the Australian inflation rate below the lower 
bound of the Reserve Bank of Australia’s (RBA) range 
(2-3%) and an unemployment rate that remains above 
the RBA’s new view of full employment (around 4.5%), 
the bank is expected to continue its recent trend of 
monetary policy easing over the coming 12 months. 
In this environment, the Insurance Commission’s asset 
portfolio is expected to produce a low to modest 
positive return in 2020.
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MAIN FUND ALL ICWA FUNDS, INCLUDING MVCIF

0

1,000

2,000

3,000

4,000

5,000

6,000

201920182017201620152014201320122011201020092008200720062005200420032002200120001999

$’
m

Growth in Insurance Commission Investment Assets (Net of Dividends) from 1999 to 2019

MVCIF BENCHMARK

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

TOTAL 
PORTFOLIO

CASHPROPERTYFIXED 
INTEREST

ALTERNATIVESGLOBAL 
EQUITIES

AUSTRALIAN
EQUITIES

*MVCIF rolling three-year return will be reported in 2020.

%

MVCIF Asset Class Since Inception Performance to 30 June 2019*



94

3. PERFORMANCE

Asset Allocation

The Main Fund neutral strategic allocation to growth 
and defensive assets of 68% and 32% respectively 
was broadly maintained during 2019 through active 
portfolio management. Key Main Fund investments 
over the year included allocations to an Absolute 
Return Strategy, Australian Fixed Interest and the 
replacement of an existing Emerging Market Equities 
manager.

The MVCIF continued its phased approach to achieve 
its neutral strategic asset allocation, increasing its 
exposure to growth assets in January and May 2019. 
The three-year phased implementation of MVCIF’s 
investment strategy is in its final stages. At 30 June 
2019, the MVCIF had an actual allocation of 74.3% 

to growth assets and 25.7% to defensive assets. This 
is in line with its 75% growth assets / 25% defensive 
assets neutral strategic asset allocation. The MVCIF 
has a slightly higher target allocation to growth assets 
to reflect the investment return required to meet the 
longer duration of insurance liabilities in the catastrophic 
injuries fund.

Actual asset allocation relative to each fund’s 
respective strategic benchmark, and the value of each 
asset class and its percentage of investment are shown 
in the following charts. At year end, both Funds were 
underweight in Fixed Interest and overweight in Cash, 
pending new investment opportunities.
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ACTUAL ASSET ALLOCATION STRATEGIC ASSET ALLOCATION
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Sector Exposure Table

ASSET CLASS MAIN FUND ($M) MAIN FUND (%) MVCIF ($M) MVCIF (%)

Australian Equities 938.5 19.3 116.4 18.1

Global Equities 1,044.7 21.5 129.5 20.2

Alternatives 829.8 17.1 129.4 20.2

Fixed Interest 341.2 7.0 31.3 4.9

Property 719.5 14.8 106.4 16.6

Cash 979.3 20.3 128.5 20.0

Investment Assets 4,853.0 100.0 641.5 100.0

Unsettled Purchases 10.1 1.2

Total Investment Assets 4,863.1 642.7

Main Fund 4,863.1

MVCIF 642.7

Non-Investment Assets 358.2

Total ICWA Assets 5,864.0
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The Insurance Commission has a diverse 
investment portfolio designed to meet its 
insurance liabilities. One of the asset classes 
within the portfolio is Infrastructure. 

The Infrastructure asset class sits within the 
Growth Alternatives asset class, and represents 
10% of the strategic asset allocation for the 
Main Fund.

One of the Insurance Commission’s 
Infrastructure investments is in the QIC Global 
Infrastructure Fund (QGIF). 

The QGIF is a pooled unlisted investment vehicle 
that seeks to provide institutional investors 
(like the Insurance Commission) with access 
to attractive, risk-adjusted returns through 
long-term exposure to a diversified portfolio of 
global infrastructure assets. 

The assets include Lochard Energy (which 
owns and operates the Iona Gas Plant), the 
Powering Australian Renewables Fund (PARF, a 
joint investment with AGL and other investment 
clients) and the Port of Melbourne. 

One example of a renewable energy investment 
in QGIF (through PARF) is the Silverton Wind 
Farm in the Barrier Ranges, New South Wales. 
At the site, 58 wind turbines are being built to 
produce 780,000 MWh of renewable energy 
annually. At completion (expected 2020), it 
will be the sixth largest wind farm in Australia, 
producing enough energy for approximately 
136,000 Australian homes. 

The Insurance Commission supports QIC’s 
approach to invest in quality infrastructure 
assets, and its efforts to manage environmental, 
social and governance matters that relate to the 
assets. 

Infrastructure investment 

Photo of Silverton Wind Farm reproduced with permission of QIC

1 QIC website. www.qic.com.au/knowledge-centre/qic-global-infrastructure-fund Accessed 6 August 2019.
2 AGL website. https://www.agl.com.au/about-agl/how-we-source-energy/silverton-wind-farm Accessed 6 August 2019
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Portfolio Positioning
The table below shows the portfolio exposures by geography. 63.3% of the Insurance Commission’s assets are 
invested within Australia. 

Geographical Exposure Table

GEOGRAPHY MAIN FUND ($M) MAIN FUND (%) MVCIF ($M) MVCIF (%)

Australia 3,045.8 62.8 433.6 67.6

United States 735.6 15.1 82.8 12.9

Europe ex United Kingdom 294.4 6.1 32.2 5.0

Asia ex Japan 267.1 5.5 33.4 5.2

United Kingdom 181.2 3.7 15.8 2.5

Japan 61.1 1.3 9.3 1.4

Other 267.8 5.5 34.4 5.4

Investment Assets 4,853.0 100.0 641.5 100.0

Unsettled Purchases 10.1 1.2

Total Investment Assets 4,863.1 642.7

Main Fund 4,863.1

MVCIF 642.7

Non-Investment Assets 358.2

Total ICWA Assets 5,864.0
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3.5 Investigations and Intelligence

The Investigations and Intelligence section seeks to 
identify and stop false and misleading claims that 
undermine the integrity of insurance products delivered 
by the Insurance Commission for its customers.

The team of intelligence analysts and investigators, 
together with commercial investigation firms, detect 
and disrupt false and misleading personal injury 
claims and potential fraud by claimants and service 
providers. 

During the year, 721 personal injury compensation 
claims were assessed as potentially being fraudulent, 
including 123 identified by internal data analytical 
tools.

Following assessment, 132 cases were further 
investigated, resulting in savings to motorists of  
$19.2 million in avoided claims costs. 

There are serious consequences for people who make 
false statements for financial reward, as part of the 
insurance claims process. The consequences can 
include rejection of the claim and hearing of the matter 
in public court, which may result in financial penalties 
and criminal conviction. 

Ten claimants in 2019 received fines and 
criminal convictions for making false statements or 
exaggerating the extent of their injuries. 

 
Claims  
Assessed

721

Claims 
Investigated 
& Resolved

132

 
Total Costs 
Avoided

$19.2m
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Providing false and misleading information in 
a motor injury insurance claim to the Insurance 
Commission can result in a criminal conviction 
and a fine of up to $10,000.

Western Australia’s motor injury insurance 
scheme provides care and reasonable 
compensation to people injured in crashes. 
If compensation is paid to people who falsify 
or exaggerate injuries for financial reward, 
insurance premiums may increase for all motorists 
to cover the higher cost.

The Insurance Commission’s Investigations and 
Intelligence section identifies potentially fraudulent 
behaviour against its insurance operations. 
Should an investigation produce evidence a 
criminal offence may have been committed, the 
Insurance Commission refers the case to the State 
Solicitor’s Office for prosecution. 

Cases include claimants attempting to claim 
lost wages while they were working and/or 
exaggerating the extent of their injuries. 

In one case a claimant claimed to the doctor that 
he 'was [in] constant need of neck brace, two 
walking sticks and a Gopher' when video footage 
showed him using none of those aids the day 
prior to his doctor’s appointment.

Another claimant tried to claim compensation for 
loss of wages from the Insurance Commission as 
a result of a car crash on three occasions. His 
employer subsequently advised the Insurance 
Commission that the claimant was on an 
international holiday and/or at work on each 
occasion (read more below).

Targeting false and misleading claims

Surveillance footage of Example Two claimant

Example One

Excerpt from the Transcript of 
Proceedings in the Magistrates Court  
of Western Australia (Criminal) –  
October 2018

The claimant pleaded guilty to four charges of 
providing false and misleading information about 
injuries he sustained in a car crash in May 2017. 
Between September and November 2017, he 
made three requests for lost-wage payments. 
However during that time, he was working for 
a taxi company and also took an international 
holiday. He was fined $1,000 for each false 
request. He was also fined $1,000 for falsely 
advising his doctor that he had been unable to 
work since the car crash.

Example Two

Excerpt from the Transcript of 
Proceedings in the Magistrates Court 
of Western Australia (Criminal) – 
November 2018

The claimant pleaded guilty to providing false 
and misleading information about his motor 
injury insurance claim. At a medical examination 
almost two years post-crash, he told the doctor 
that “…he had lower and mid back pain to such 
an extent that he had not worked since October 
2015, that he had difficulty with tasks that 
involved manual handling or mobility, and that he 
was no longer able to go fishing, camping and 
four-wheel driving.” Video footage showed that 
four days later, he went fishing and completed 
many strenuous tasks. Upon seeing the video 
footage, the doctor concluded the injuries were 
“…nowhere near as severe as he had claimed”.
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Great Ocean Drive, Esperance. In 2019, 179 new motor injury insurance claims were 
received and $7.2 million in payments made in the Goldfields-Esperance region.
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4.1 Ministerial Directions
No ministerial directions were received during the year. 

4.2 Other Financial Disclosures

4.2.1 Pricing Policies 

The insurance product pricing philosophy for the 
Insurance Commission is based on regular WA 
inflation-linked average weekly earnings increases. 
Average weekly earnings is the most relevant pricing 
index for motor injury insurance and workers’ 
compensation schemes as the majority of claims costs 
(i.e. claims for loss of income, medical and allied 
health costs) are directly linked to wage inflation.

Motor Injury Insurance
Each financial year, the Insurance Commission 
assesses the extent to which premium revenue, 
together with other income expected to be received, 
will be sufficient to meet the claims costs and other 
expenses anticipated to arise or be incurred.

The infographic below sets out the key inputs that 
are considered during the assessment of motor injury 
insurance premium rates. 

Claim experience

Injury severity

Number of registered 
vehicles

Average weekly 
earnings

Interest rates

Calculating Motor Injury Insurance Premium Rates

Reinsurance costs

Risk and expense 
margins

Premium 
rates
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From 1 July 2019, motor injury insurance premium 
rates increased by 3.1%. The increase responds 
to cost pressures on motor injury insurance claims 
expenses, and is in line with prior wage inflation 
forecasts. Following this change, the annual cost of 
motor injury insurance in Western Australia for a family 
vehicle at 1 July 2019 was $444.

Motor injury insurance premium rates are 
communicated to motorists in their vehicle registration 
renewals, on the Insurance Commission and 
Department of Transport websites and via the WA 
Government Gazette.

RiskCover Fund 
Fund contributions are set to ensure sufficient funds are 
collected to pay liabilities and administration costs. 
Individual contributions are determined by agency per 
class of business. 

The key outcomes that the Insurance Commission aims 
to achieve in setting agency contributions are:

•  equity for insured agencies;

•  transparency in the fund contribution methodology;

•  minimum cross-subsidisation;

•  protection against major events; and 

•  incentives for risk management.

The infographic below sets out the key inputs that are 
considered during the assessment of fund contributions 
for agencies. 

Asset values

Calculating RiskCover Fund Contributions

Investment 
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administration 

Risk location
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4.2.2 Capital Works

The Insurance Commission’s 2019 major capital works program included: 

IT Security and Integrity
COMPLETION DATE November 2018

FINAL COST $453,383

Strengthened the Insurance Commission’s IT security capability by enhancing:

•  corporate network security by restricting traffic traversing the development, test and production technical 
environments; and

•  capability to log, monitor and analyse network traffic of suspicious activities. This capability generates  
real-time alerts and allows prompt issue resolution. 

Catastrophic Injury Support Scheme - Claims Estimation System
COMPLETION DATE March 2019

FINAL COST $228,367

Replaced a manual data entry process with an automated process to estimate claims costs for clients with 
catastrophic injuries in the Insurance Commission’s Catastrophic Injuries Support scheme. The automated process 
leverages actuarial algorithms of injury profiles to deliver detailed estimation analysis. 
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Systems Logging and Tracking 
COMPLETION DATE May 2019

FINAL COST $175,768

Enabled logging/alerting of user access to claims, staff and legal information, to enable forensic analysis where 
required. This functionality is now enabled in the core insurance and other support systems.

Online Claims for Motor Injury Insurance
COMPLETION DATE May 2019

FINAL COST $250,833

This initiative improved claimant experience by allowing online motor injury insurance claims submission.  
The project allowed:

•  non-owners and drivers to notify the Insurance Commission of the crash;

• injured parties to request and lodge an electronic Notice of Intention to Claim form for CTP compensation claims;

•  medical authorities to be provided electronically; and

•  enhanced communications to claimants to explain the claims process. 

Business Intelligence and Analytics
COMPLETION DATE June 2019

FINAL COST $474,750

This project enhanced Insurance Commission claims management by establishing:

•  a Business Intelligence and Analytics (BIA) capability for the Government Insurance Division;

•  improvements to the Motor Injury Insurance Division’s BIA capability; 

•  enhanced data collection/use to enable claims reporting, analytics and decisions; 

•  a self-service data analytics tool; and

• management reporting dashboards.
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The Department of Transport connects people with goods and services through an intricate system of roads, railways, airports, ports and waterways in WA.  
The Insurance Commission covers the agency’s workers' compensation, property, motor vehicle, liability, cyber and port authority liability risks.

4.3 Governance Disclosures

4.3.1 Employment and Industrial Relations

The Insurance Commission operated below the full-time 
equivalent (FTE) budget throughout the year and, as 
at 30 June 2019, the total FTE count was 372.3 and 
headcount was 404.

The Insurance Commission’s workforce is employed 
under the Insurance Commission of Western Australia 
Act 1986. Remuneration and working conditions are 
determined by the Insurance Commission, subject 
to the Government Officers (Insurance Commission 
of Western Australia) Award 1987 and General 
Agreement 2017.

The Chief Executive is appointed under the Public 
Sector Management Act 1994 with remuneration and 
terms of employment determined by the Salaries and 
Allowances Tribunal.

Staff Profile
The Insurance Commission’s key human resource 
plans (HR Blueprint and Diversity Action Plan) support 
delivery of the strategy set out in the Statement of 
Corporate Intent and Strategic Development Plan.

Workforce supply and demand forecasts that are 
linked to these plans manage internal resource needs, 
together with strategies to ensure the right people  
are recruited with the right skills when the business 
requires them.

The Insurance Commission aims to attract, retain and 
develop a diverse and talented workforce. 

We are focused on building 
a more inclusive workforce, 
which is why we have actions 
underway to increase the 
representation of women 
in senior leadership roles, 
Indigenous Australians, youth 
and people with disability, 
within the business. 

The infographic on the following page highlights 
employee diversity and other demographics.
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Employee Demographics

Gender
Men

38%
Women

62% Overall

Full-time 36.1% 45.1% 81.2%

Part-time 1.7% 17.1% 18.8%

Generational Profile
 

Employee 
percentage

Average length of 
service (years)

 

Veteran 
(1922-45) 0.5% 38

Baby 
Boomer
(1946-64)

21.0% 20

Gen X
(1965-79) 39.4% 12

Gen Y
(1980-94) 33.7% 6

Gen Z 
(1995-) 5.4% 1

Women in 
leadership roles

41.6%
Culturally and 
linguistically 
diverse

25.4%
Youth (<25)

4.4%
People with 
disability

2.7%
Indigenous 
Australians 

0.7%
Average length 
of service

11 
years
Average age

44
years
Returning from 
maternity leave 
(5 year average)

77%

Workforce Diversity Gender / Working Arrangements
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Organisational Culture
The Insurance Commission continues its multiple 
streams of work to embed its preferred corporate 
culture. It is committed to a high performance culture 
that values accountability, professional integrity and 
respect.

The effectiveness of the cultural change program 
is measured through its corporate culture model 
incorporated in the annual employee engagement and 
culture survey.

The corporate culture model includes four dimensions 
(innovation, market, people and process). In 2019, 
it shifted to a slightly more innovative, market-focused 
and less process-driven one.

The 2019 survey results reflect the high commitment 
and engagement levels of employees highlighting 
the positive progress of the culture transformation and 
embedding of the desired values.

The results also indicate that further work is required to 
improve the efficiency of some business processes so 
more time can be spent on claims management rather 
than claims administration.

Workforce Development 
The Insurance Commission’s learning and development 
strategies equip employees with the required 
skills, knowledge and capabilities to effectively 
undertake their current roles and develop and sustain 
organisational capabilities for the future. 

Workforce development programs are delivered 
across three levels: all employees, leadership group 
and people managers. 

To support its emerging and current leaders, the 
Insurance Commission offers leadership development 
across all levels. Eighty-six per cent of people 
managers have completed the management and 
leadership development program.

The senior leadership cohort participated in a 
360-degree feedback process during the year to 
assess their leadership capabilities, which included 
1:1 leadership coaching. All employees participate 
in performance and development discussions, and 
are encouraged to take accountability for their career 
development.

Employee training and professional development 
programs were refined during the year to help 
deliver the desired high performance culture. Specific 
programs were also delivered on customer service, 
information technology, diversity and inclusion, and 
general professional development. 

Technical and compliance training remains a focus for 
operational insurance areas. 
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The Rotational Graduate Program continues to 
inject youth and fresh ideas into the organisation.

Over two years, graduates rotate every six months 
to expose them to different business units. 
Graduates also participate in the Public Sector 
Commission’s Graduate Development Program 
to provide a whole-of-sector perspective, and 
additional public sector training and networking.

Since the program started in 2017, nine 
graduates have been recruited of which seven 
remain with the Insurance Commission. The 
remaining two graduates left the organisation to 
pursue career advancement interstate.

The Insurance Commission recruited two 
graduates with actuarial science and economics 
backgrounds during 2019. Those graduates 
started their first rotations in the Investments and 
Policy areas. 

Graduate feedback on the program has been 
positive. One graduate, Lucy Farnsworth, 
comments:

“Over the past two years the graduate program 
has provided me with the opportunity to learn 
and gain experience across a variety of teams 
throughout the organisation. This has allowed 
me to develop my professional expertise and 
skill set in a supportive team environment and 
apply my knowledge to assist people impacted 
by motor vehicle and workplace accidents within 
the WA community. This experience has provided 
me with the foundation to work towards my 
career goals of completing my CPA (Certified 
Practising Accountant) and continuing to develop 
my professional skillset to pave the way to a 
successful and fulfilling career.”

Developing our talent pipeline

Lucy was appointed as a permanent Financial 
Policy Officer at the end of her graduate 
program.

Graduate Michael Nelmes says: 

“Through the program, I have not only improved 
my knowledge in my preferred career path but I 
have developed skills that I never thought would 
be important during university. I can safely say 
that a lot of what I’ve learnt in all four of my 
rotations has been applicable and helpful in my 
current role. On top of that, all my managers 
and colleagues have been more than helpful and 
are a key reason why I have learnt as much as I 
have.”

Michael was appointed as a permanent Financial 
Analysis and Reporting Officer at the end of his 
graduate program.
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Mentoring Program

The Insurance Commission’s Mentoring Program aligns 
with its strategies for the attraction, development and 
retention of talent. The aims of the program are to:

•  Support a collaborative organisational culture and 
enhance workplace engagement across divisions;

•  Increase leadership capabilities for current and 
future leaders;

•  Support diversity initiatives;

•  Support initiatives for knowledge transfer; and

•  Facilitate self-development and self-directed 
learning.

Workshops were conducted for participants (mentors 
and mentorees) during the year to support effective 

achievement of the strategies. 

Key outcomes of the program for the 30 participants 
during 2019 included:

•  Increased understanding of the broader 
organisational context;

•  Increased understanding of personal/professional 
skills and attributes;

•  A clearer view of professional goals;

•  Increased resilience of mentorees to deal with 
uncertainty; and

•  Valuable cross-divisional engagement and 
collaboration.

Board and Committee Remuneration and Attendance

Name Position
Board 

attendance at  
11 meetings

Audit and Risk 
Committee 

attendance at  
7 meetings

Gross annual 
remuneration*

Frank Cooper AO ^ Chairman 10 6 $98,273

John Scott
Deputy Chairman, 
Chairman of Audit 
and Risk Committee

11 7 $73,696

Andrea Hall
Commissioner, 
Member of Audit 
and Risk Committee

11 6 $49,137

Carol Dolan ^
Commissioner, 
Member of Audit 
and Risk Committee 

11 3 $49,137

Rob Bransby Commissioner 11 - $49,137

Yasmin Broughton ^
Commissioner, 
Member of Audit 
and Risk Committee

11 3 $49,137

Rod Whithear
Chief Executive, 
Commissioner  
ex officio

10 7 $417,095

* Includes superannuation and Fringe Benefits Tax.  
^  On 27 March 2019, Ms Dolan and Ms Broughton joined the Audit and Risk Committee and Mr Cooper stood down.
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4.3.3 Compliance with Public Sector Standards and Ethical Codes

The Insurance Commission values strong governance 
and proactively manages risk and compliance in the 
performance of its functions. 

An Audit and Risk Committee assists the Board to 
monitor and oversee risk and compliance activities. 
An internal audit function provides assurance of the 
risk management approach adopted by management 
and independently reviews risk action plans in 
operational areas. An external audit function provides 
a further level of assurance on risk and compliance 
management. 

The Insurance Commission recognises ISO 31000 
and ISO 19600 as providing guidance on best 
practice risk and compliance management, and 
seeks to align its approach to those standards. The 
Audit and Risk Committee reviews the Insurance 
Commission’s risk management framework to ensure it 
remains effective. 

During the year, the Insurance Commission continued 
to refine its risk and compliance management 
capability. This included review of its risk appetite 
statement and revision of key risk indicators and 
performance reporting. Further gains were made to 
embed risk management into strategic and annual 
planning and ensure individual accountability for risk 
action plans and control actions. Work continued 
to standardise compliance management across the 
insurance divisions and improve compliance reporting.

The Insurance Commission monitors risk, compliance 
and governance developments in other sectors to 
identify improvement opportunities. In 2019, the 

Insurance Commission benchmarked itself against 
the ASX Corporate Governance Principles and 
Recommendations 4th edition. While the Insurance 
Commission is not subject to ASX-listing requirements, 
it recognises the Principles are represented as best 
practice corporate governance for public companies 
(which include financial service organisations 
delivering functions equivalent to the Insurance 
Commission). The results of the benchmarking provide 
assurance that the Insurance Commission’s governance 
arrangements are robust, contemporary and in line 
with the requirements of public listed companies.

The Board and Audit and Risk Committee regularly 
assess their performance to enhance the effectiveness 
of the key oversight bodies of the organisation. During 
the year, an independent reviewer conducted the 
performance assessments. 

See Note 5 of the Financial Statements for further 
information on risk management.

Existing controls provide reasonable assurance of 
compliance with public sector standards and ethical 
codes. The Insurance Commission’s Code of Conduct 
(Code) is integrated into its induction program and is 
available to employees via the intranet. Awareness 
training is undertaken for key aspects of the Code, 
including accountable and ethical decision making. 

During the year, one breach of standard (grievance 
resolution) claim was received and referred to the 
Public Sector Commission. Following an investigation, 
no breach was found and the claim was therefore 
dismissed. 
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4.3.4 Disability Access and Inclusion

The Insurance Commission is committed to increasing 
awareness of access and inclusion issues and 
improving its service delivery to the community. 

During the year, the Insurance Commission 
implemented its new Disability Access and Inclusion 
Plan (DAIP) 2018-23. The Plan was developed in 
consultation with people with disability, employees, 
customers, disability service providers, National 
Disability Services WA and the Department of 
Communities. 

The Plan was launched internally to all employees, 
and training workshops were held with staff in 
leadership and people manager roles. The Plan was 
also launched externally to the Public Sector DAIP 
Agency Network that helped to promote the Insurance 
Commission’s improved access and inclusion efforts 
across the whole of Government. 

 For the second year, the Insurance Commission 
sponsored the ‘Excellence in Innovation’ 
category at the 2019 WA Disability Support 
Awards to promote fresh ideas which can have 
transformative effects on the quality of life and 
independence of people injured in vehicle crashes 
and at work.

The awards are organised by National Disability 
Services WA, which is a stakeholder of the 
Insurance Commission.

The Independent Living Centre WA’s (ILC) 
Community Allied Health Services Schools Team 
won the award for its Engaging in Eye Gaze: 
Collaborating and Consulting with Schools Project.

Eye-gaze technology enables people to use 
eye movements to control a speech-generating 
device or computer, allowing independent 
communication. 

Led by ILC speech and occupational therapists, 
the project trialled the technology with 50 
students with disability from nine Western 
Australian schools.

The project demonstrated that students with 
complex physical needs can use the eye-gaze 
technology to communicate, learn and socialise. 
The technology also helped maximise educational 
outcomes for individual students. 

The use of assistive technology, like eye-gaze, can 
help some Insurance Commission claimants with 
catastrophic injuries received in motor vehicle 
crashes become more independent.

The runner-up for the innovation award was 
Richmond Wellbeing, who deliver outreach and 
community based support services, and help 
boost recruitment and retention of Aboriginal 
employees in Western Australian workplaces.

Supporting the disability sector 

The ILC team with Kane Blackman, Commission Secretary at the 
Insurance Commission
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While most DAIPs focus on seven required outcome 
and inclusion areas, the Insurance Commission added 
an eighth outcome to reflect its core function to provide 
compensation and care to people injured in vehicle 
crashes and at work. 

Each DAIP outcome and corresponding 2019 actions 
is listed below.

Outcome 1: People with disability have the same 
opportunities as other people to access the services 
and events organised by the Insurance Commission.

Action

Ensured training venues utilised by the Insurance 
Commission were accessible. 

Outcome 2: People with disability have the same 
opportunity as other people to access the buildings 
and facilities of the Insurance Commission. 

Action

Installed automatic doors for the public meeting rooms 
to improve accessibility.

Procedures for floor wardens during a building 
emergency were made clearer to support the 
evacuation of mobility impaired employees and 
visitors. 

Outcome 3: People with disability receive information 
from the Insurance Commission in a format that will 
enable them to access the information as readily as 
other people are able to access it. 

Action

Delivered an Insurance Commission website that 
broadly aligned with WCAG 2.0 standards and 
accessibility guidelines. Information and documents 
are available in alternative formats on request. 

Outcome 4: People with disability receive the same 
level and quality of service as other people from 
Insurance Commission employees.

Action 

Organised staff presentations from clients with 
disability and disability service providers to increase 
access and inclusion awareness, and improve 
customer service. 

Created a new disability awareness training module 
for completion by all staff.

Delivered customer service training for staff within the 
Government Insurance and Motor Injury Insurance 
divisions. These programs are also delivered to all 
new employees.

Outcome 5: People with disability have the same 
opportunities as other people to make complaints to 
the Insurance Commission.

Action

Enhanced the Insurance Commission’s stakeholder 
feedback policy and process to capture more 
feedback through multiple channels for service delivery 
improvement. 

Outcome 6: People with disability have the same 
opportunities as other people to participate in any 
public consultation that the Insurance Commission 
may undertake. 

Action

Feedback on the effectiveness of the Insurance 
Commission’s service delivery continued to be 
collected from clients and service providers. 

No formal public consultation was undertaken  
during 2019. 

Outcome 7: People with disability have the same 
opportunities as other people to obtain and maintain 
employment with the Insurance Commission.

Action

Reviewed recruitment and advertising procedures to 
ensure inclusive practices. 

Provided adjustments and special requirements for 
employees with disability to access the workplace. 
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Outcome 8: Improve disability outcomes for claimants 
and clients of the organisation by effectively 
managing insurance schemes that provide care and 
compensation to people injured in motor vehicle 
crashes and at work.

Action

Provided care and compensation to over 20,000 
people who were injured in vehicle crashes and at 
work in 2019. 

Supported people with catastrophic injuries from 
vehicle crashes to return home following emergency 
treatment and rehabilitation (no clients with 
catastrophic injuries in the lifetime care scheme were 
new to public housing at 30 June 2019).

Supported people with catastrophic injuries in the 
lifetime care scheme to return to work (66% of people 
working or studying before their vehicle crash had 
returned to work, study or were engaged in return to 
work and rehabilitation programs). 

Sponsored the ‘Excellence in Innovation’ category at 
the WA Disability Support Awards to promote care 
and support initiatives that improve the independence 
of people injured in vehicle crashes and at work.

Funded neurotrauma and care innovation research to 
improve the independence of people with catastrophic 
injuries. 

4.3.5 Recordkeeping Plan

The Insurance Commission maintains a Recordkeeping 
Plan approved by the State Records Commission. 
The Recordkeeping Plan sets out the recordkeeping 
system, training program and reporting for the 
organisation. Recordkeeping training continues to be 
undertaken by all new employees via an induction 
program, which details employee recordkeeping 
roles and responsibilities. The Insurance Commission’s 
intranet houses the Recordkeeping Plan and related 
documentation. Routine reporting is undertaken on the 
performance of recordkeeping systems and training 
delivered. 

The State Records Office requires agencies to 
retain and dispose of records in line with disposal 
authorities, although some corporate governance 
records are required to be kept in perpetuity.

This year, effort was made to reduce the number  
of older Insurance Commission records held  
off-site. Reduction of approximately 1,500 boxes  
was achieved during 2019 and further work is 
planned to reduce off-site storage costs.

4.3.6 Substantive Equality

Our employment practices align with the Public Sector 
Commission’s Employment Standards, are transparent 
and based on the principles of merit and equity.

4.3.7 Use of Credit Cards

No Insurance Commission credit cards were used for 
personal costs in 2019.

4.3.8 Occupational Safety and 
Health

The Insurance Commission maintains a positive safety 
culture where its Occupational Safety and Health 
(OSH) systems aim for more than just compliance. 

During induction, all new employees receive 
information and training on their responsibilities under 
the OSH and injury management policies. 

The Insurance Commission’s OSH Committee provides 
a forum for employees to be engaged on OSH 
matters and be involved in developing the OSH and 
Wellbeing Management Plan.

Three staff workers' compensation claims were lodged 
during the year. Two claims had no lost time during 
2019, and the third claim was under assessment at 
30 June 2019. Injured employees are supported in 
their return to work under the Workers’ Compensation 
and Injury Management Act 1981.
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Occupational Safety and Health (OSH) Reporting

Actual Results Results Against Target

Measure 2017 2018 2019 Target Comment

Number of fatalities 0 0 0 0 Achieved 

Lost time injury and/or disease 
incidence rate 0.27 0.58 0 0 or 10% reduction Achieved

Lost time injury and/or disease 
severity rate 0 0 0 0 or 10% reduction Achieved

Percentage of injured workers returned to work:

(i) within 13 weeks 100% 50% 100% Actual Result Achieved

(ii) within 26 weeks 100% 50% 100% ≥ 80% within 26 weeks Achieved

Percentage of managers trained in 
OSH and injury management 88% 78% 93%     80% Achieved 

Health and Wellbeing
The Insurance Commission proactively manages the 
health and wellbeing of its employees by providing: 

•  Access to end-of-trip facilities;

•  Access to an on-site gym and exercise classes;

•  Independent counselling advice for staff and their 
families through an employee assistance program;

•  Skin cancer screening;

•  Health assessments (e.g., diabetes, blood pressure, 
cholesterol and blood glucose);

•  Workshops on mental health, diet, sleep and 
resilience;

•  Flu vaccinations;

•  On-site massages (paid by employees); and

•  Complimentary fruit over the summer months.

Staff evaluated the health and wellness program 
during the year as ‘excellent’, and requested it be 
continued each year. 

4.3.9 Market Research and Advertising Expenditure

The Insurance Commission spent $10,399 in 2019 to advertise job vacancies, motor injury insurance premium 
rates and community consultation on its Disability Access and Inclusion Plan. 

Market Research and Advertising Expenditure

Type Organisation Total
Advertising Agencies Adcorp, Initiative Media and State Law Publisher $5,577

Media Advertising Sensis $4,822

Total* $10,399

*No costs for market research, polling or direct mail organisation 
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Perth CBD. The Insurance Commission expects to pay $1.6 billion in future  
claims costs from crashes that occurred in the metropolitan area.

4. SIGNIFICANT ISSUES

4.4 Significant Issues 

4.4.1 Bell Group Litigation

In March 2019, it was announced that the parties to 
the Bell Group liquidation proceedings had agreed 
to defer those proceedings to enable settlement 
negotiations to continue. The negotiations continue. 

Litigation costs for the year are substantial and future 
costs will escalate if the negotiations fail and litigation 
resumes.

4.4.2 Policy Matters

One of the core functions of the Insurance Commission 
is to provide advice to the Government on insurance 
matters. 

Over the course of 2019, the policy unit was 
engaged with a number of insurance and  
liability-related policy matters. Three examples are 
listed on the following page.
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Automated Vehicle Insurance and 
Liability

Automated vehicles are expected to significantly 
affect transport systems around the world when 
they enter markets in volume. Fewer vehicle 
crashes, injuries and insurance claims are 
hopefully anticipated but remain some way off as 
technological and infrastructure solutions require 
further development. 

Personal injury and death caused by automated 
vehicles without a human driver in control can be 
expected to be attributed to manufacturer fault, 
cyber issues or product failure.

The Insurance Commission has actively promoted 
the development of an insurance solution that 
ensures that manufacturers and companies that 
put automated vehicle technology on Australian 
roads act responsibly by having suitable liability 
insurance cover to respond if that technology 
causes personal injury or death. 

That way, manufacturers and companies 
would remain accountable for the performance 
of products and community confidence that 
unnecessary safety risks are not being taken can 
be maintained.

The Insurance Commission’s view differs from the 
recommendations made by other government 
entities in Australia. If those recommendations 
were accepted, it would result in motorists paying 
for a product liability cost that should be borne 
by product manufacturers and suppliers.

Risk Analysis of Western Australia’s 
Motor Injury Insurance Scheme

The policy unit completed an analysis of the WA 
motor injury insurance scheme that sought to 
identify issues that may threaten the sustainability 
of the scheme and to identify any future action 
that may be necessary to protect it.

That analysis found that the fundamentals of the 
scheme were sound:

•  premium rates for motorists remain affordable 
and cost effective compared to comparable 
insurance products in other Australian 
jurisdictions;

•  the number and size of indemnity losses have 
reduced to bring the CTP scheme back to a 
more sustainable position;

•  the solvency level of the TPIF for the scheme 
provides confidence that the cost of future 
liabilities can be met; and

•  investment returns have generated value for 
the shareholder (the WA government).

However, some concerning trends were identified:

•  Injury insurance claims are now 25% more 
likely to be made following a crash than 
they were in 2013, despite the long-term 
trend showing fewer reported crashes (24% 
reduction since 2009);

•  The propensity to claim has increased despite 
data showing that when a crash occurs the 
likelihood that motorists are more seriously 
injured has reduced;

•  Increased claim rates appear driven by 
low-merit claims; and

•  The proportion of claims involving minor 
injuries where the claimant was legally 
represented has doubled over the past ten 
years – increasing from 23% in 2010 to 58% 
in 2019.

These concerning trends will increase the 
administrative costs of managing claims.

The Insurance Commission is reviewing options 
to ensure scheme efficiency is maintained so that 
premium rates remain affordable for motorists.

Treatment, Care and Support for 
Catastrophic Workplace Injuries

The Government announced a reform to the WA 
workers’ compensation scheme that will expand 
the Catastrophic Injuries Support (CIS) scheme 
to cover workers with catastrophic injuries. The 
policy unit has been working to facilitate that 
change. 

Policy priorities
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Road near Exmouth, Gascoyne. Country roads account for a disproportionate 
number of crashes with fatigue and distraction contributing to more crashes than 
alcohol and speeding (Road Safety Commission).
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5.1 Statements of Compliance
The accompanying financial statements have been 
prepared in accordance with the provisions of 
the Financial Management Act 2006 from proper 
accounts and records to present fairly the financial 
transactions for 2019 and the financial position as at 
30 June 2019.

At the date of signing, we are not aware of any 
circumstances that would render the particulars 
included in the financial statements misleading or 
inaccurate.

Key Performance Indicators

We certify the Key Performance Indicators are based 
on proper records, are relevant and appropriate for 
assisting users to assess the Insurance Commission of 

Western Australia’s performance, and fairly represent 
the performance of the Insurance Commission for the 
financial year ended 30 June 2019.
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5.2 Financial Statements Index
For the year ended 30 June 2019:

•  Statement of Comprehensive Income;
• Statement of Changes in Equity; and
•  Statement of Cash Flows.

Balance Sheet as at 30 June 2019.
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Statement of Comprehensive Income
for the year ended 30 June 2019

2019 2018
Notes $'000 $'000

Premium Revenue 2.1 797,601 769,625
Reinsurance Premium Expense 2.2 (9,693) (8,564)
Reinsurance Commission Revenue 2.1 975 854

Net Premium Revenue 788,883 761,915

Claims Expense 2.2 (766,645) (656,611)
Reinsurance and Other Recoveries 2.1 30,106 3,676
Net Claims Incurred 2.3 (736,539) (652,935)

RiskCover Fund Administration Cost Reimbursement 2.1 27,952 29,356

Movement in Unexpired Risk Liability (16,007) (6,526)
Recoveries on Unexpired Risk Liability 945 652
Net Movement in Unexpired Risk 3.2.3(f) (15,062) (5,874)

Premium Collection Costs 2.2 (25,976) (24,451)

Other Underwriting and Administration Expenses 2.2 (73,926) (74,182)

Underwriting (Loss)/Profit (34,668) 33,829

Investment Income 4.1 350,459 446,741
Investment Expenses 4.2 (18,822) (21,454)
RiskCover Fund Investment Return 4.2 (54,264) (95,656)
Other Income 8.8 30,165 19,297
Other Expenses (11) (18)

Profit Before Tax Equivalent 272,859 382,739

Income Tax Equivalent Expense 6.1 (69,094) (105,050)

Profit After Tax Equivalent 203,765 277,689

Items That Will Not Be Reclassified To Profit/(Loss)

Re-measurement (Loss)/Gain on Defined Benefit Plans (413) 669
Related Income Tax Equivalent Effect 6.1 124 (200)

Other Comprehensive (Expense)/Income After Tax Equivalent (289) 469

Total Comprehensive Income After Tax Equivalent 203,476 278,158

The Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the Notes to the Financial Statements.
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Balance Sheet
as at 30 June 2019

2019 2018
Notes $'000 $'000

Assets
Cash and Cash Equivalents 8.7 12,997 6,434
Receivables 2.7 331,030 277,487
Investments 4.3 5,505,835 5,326,217
Deferred Premium Collection Costs 2.6 5,163 4,837
Other Assets 2,685 2,419
Plant and Equipment 8.2 1,891 1,959
Intangibles 8.3 4,375 4,708

Total Assets 5,863,976 5,624,061

Liabilities
Payables 2.8 34,249 33,549
Financial Liabilities - RiskCover Fund Investments 4.4 908,449 1,054,785
Current Tax Payable 5,106 70,631
Outstanding Claims 2.4 3,017,352 2,707,281
Unearned Premium 2.5 298,131 291,350
Unexpired Risk Liability 3.2.3(f) 36,965 20,958
Provisions 8.5 16,771 16,204
Deferred Tax Liabilities 6.2 124,658 107,922

Total Liabilities 4,441,681 4,302,680

Net Assets 1,422,295 1,321,381

Equity
Compensation (Industrial Diseases) Fund Reserve 23,471 23,192
Retained Earnings 1,398,824 1,298,189

Total Equity 1,422,295 1,321,381

The Balance Sheet should be read in conjunction with the Notes to the Financial Statements.
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Statement of Changes in Equity
for the year ended 30 June 2019

2019 2018
Notes $'000 $'000

Summary of Changes in Equity

Balance of Equity at Start of the Year 1,321,381 1,192,486

Profit after Tax Equivalent 203,765 277,689
Re-measurement on Defined Benefit Plans after Tax Equivalent (289) 469
Total Comprehensive Income after Tax Equivalent 203,476 278,158
Dividends Paid 8.6 (102,562) (149,263)

Balance of Equity at End of the Year 1,422,295 1,321,381

Reserves
Compensation (Industrial Diseases) Fund Reserve
Balance at Start of the Year 23,192 22,088
Transfer from Retained Earnings 279 1,104

Balance at End of the Year 23,471 23,192

Retained Earnings
Balance at Start of the Year 1,298,189 1,170,398
Profit after Income Tax Equivalent Expense 203,765 277,689
Re-measurement on Defined Benefit Plans after Income Tax Equivalent (289) 469
Dividends Paid 8.6 (102,562) (149,263)
Transfer to Compensation (Industrial Diseases) Fund Reserve (279) (1,104)

Balance at End of the Year 1,398,824 1,298,189

The Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the Notes to the Financial Statements.
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Statement of Cash Flows
for the year ended 30 June 2019

2019 2018
Notes $'000 $'000

Cash Flow From Operating Activities
Premium Revenue Received 883,620 854,250
Insurance Duty Received 87,616 84,494
Right of Indemnity Receipts - Government Insurance Fund 6,116 4,062
Right of Indemnity Receipts - WorkCover WA 642 427
Interest Received 36,794 37,362
Property Income Received 134 13,454
Dividends Received 114,122 136,013
Reinsurance and Other Recoveries Received 3,805 6,166
Management Fees Received 27,984 31,761
Outwards Reinsurance Commission Received 1,072 939
Other Receipts 540 602
Claims Paid (488,986) (432,207)
RiskCover Fund Investment Return (54,264) (95,656)
Outwards Reinsurance Paid (10,712) (8,856)
Premium Collection Costs Paid (28,899) (26,800)
Set-up Costs Paid - 3,779
Underwriting and Administration Expenses Paid (60,897) (55,363)
Bell Litigation Costs Paid (17,387) (14,500)
Property Expenses Paid (1) (3,609)
Goods and Services Tax Paid (43,089) (45,940)
Insurance Duty Paid (87,672) (84,761)
Other Payments (19,874) (19,188)

Net Cash Flow From Operating Activities 8.7 350,664 386,429

Cash Flow From Investing Activities
RiskCover Fund Investment Funds Paid (146,336) (11,895)
Payments for Purchase of Investments (1,470,898) (1,576,417)
Proceeds from Sale of Investments 1,462,561 1,320,845
Payments for Purchase of Plant and Equipment (2,678) (2,357)
Proceeds from Sale of Plant and Equipment 490 388

Net Cash Flow From Investing Activities (156,861) (269,436)

Cash Flow To State Government
Dividends Paid (102,561) (149,264)
Income Tax Equivalent Paid (117,759) (40,658)

Net Cash Flow To State Government (220,320) (189,922)

Net Decrease In Cash And Cash Equivalents (26,517) (72,929)

Cash And Cash Equivalents At Start Of The Year 1,226,872 1,299,801

Cash And Cash Equivalents At End Of The Year 8.7 1,200,355 1,226,872

The Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the Notes to the Financial Statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

1. About This Report

1.1 Statement of Compliance

1.2 Basis of Preparation

1.3 Disclosure of Prior Period Restatement, Changes in Presentation and Changes in Accounting Policy or 
Estimates

1.4 Basis of Consolidation

The financial statements are presented in Australian dollars and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand dollars ($’000),
unless otherwise stated.

The financial report is a general purpose financial report which has been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting
Standards (including Australian Interpretations) adopted by the Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB) and as applied
by the Treasurer’s Instructions.

Several of these are modified by the Treasurer's Instructions to vary application, disclosure, format and wording. Such
modifications are intended to provide certainty and ensure consistency and appropriate reporting across the public sector. 

Where modification is required and has a material or significant effect upon the reported results, details of that modification and
the resulting financial effect are disclosed in individual notes to the financial statements.

The Financial Management Act 2006 and the Treasurer's Instructions are legislative provisions governing the preparation of
financial statements and take precedence over Accounting Standards, the Framework, Statements of Accounting Concepts and
other authoritative pronouncements of the AASB.

The financial statements have been prepared on the accrual basis of accounting using the historical cost convention, or are
measured at fair value.

The judgements made in the process of applying the Insurance Commission’s accounting policies, that have the most significant
effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements, are disclosed in the applicable notes.

Key assumptions made concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period,
that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of outstanding claims liabilities, are disclosed
at Note 2.4, ‘Actuarial Assumptions and Methods’.

There are no mandatory or voluntary prior period restatements, changes in presentation or changes in accounting policies which
impact on the financial statements. 

The financial statements at 30 June 2019 relate to the Insurance Commission. 

The financial statements of the RiskCover Fund are not consolidated as its assets are controlled by the Government of Western
Australia and not by the Insurance Commission.

In 2015 the Insurance Commission set up two subsidiaries, BACL (ICWA) Pty Ltd and BAM (ICWA) Pty Ltd, as part of the Bell
recovery action. The BACL and BAM subsidiaries did not have any assets, liabilities, revenues or expenses during the previous or
current financial years.



129INSURANCE COMMISSION ANNUAL REPORT 2019

5. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Notes to the Financial Statements

2. Insurance Activities

2.1 Revenue
2019 2018

Notes $'000 $'000

Premium Revenue (i)
Premium Collected 804,381 775,183
Movement in Unearned Premium (6,780) (5,558)

797,601 769,625

Reinsurance Commission Revenue 975 854

Reinsurance and Other Recoveries Revenue (ii)
Reinsurance Recoveries Received (15) 1,255
Movement in Reinsurance Recoveries Receivable 13,830 (6,122)
Other Recoveries Received 2,031 3,959
Movement in Other Recoveries Receivable 14,260 4,584

30,106 3,676

RiskCover Fund Administration Cost Reimbursement (iii) 27,952 29,356
Total Revenue 856,634 803,511

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

2.2 Expenses

Claims Expenses
Claims Paid 458,710 404,902
Movement in Outstanding Claims 307,935 251,709

766,645 656,611

Reinsurance Premium Expense (i) 9,693 8,564

Net Movement in Unexpired Risk Liability 15,062 5,874
Premium Collection Costs (ii) 25,976 24,451

Other Underwriting and Administration Expenses
Accident Prevention and Research 1,420 1,414
Remuneration Payable to the Auditor General 440 449
Board of Commissioners' Fees 337 337
Contractors and Consultants 1,904 2,427
Bell Litigation Costs 17,224 13,510
Amortisation Intangible Assets 1,697 1,897
Depreciation 651 778
Employee Benefits 39,278 42,785
IT Hardware and Software 3,760 3,655
Occupancy 4,473 4,333
Other 2,742 2,597

73,926 74,182

Total Expenses 891,302 769,682

(i)

(ii)

Premium paid to reinsurers is recognised as an expense over the period to which the cover relates.

Premium collection costs are amounts paid to the Department of Transport for administering the collection of motor
injury insurance premiums. These costs are deferred and recognised as assets where they can be reliably measured
and where it is probable that they will give rise to revenue that will be recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive
Income in subsequent reporting periods.

RiskCover Fund administration cost reimbursement relates to the costs associated with administering the RiskCover Fund.
It is calculated in proportion to the usage of the Insurance Commission's services. A profit element is not included in the
fee.

Premium revenue, including unclosed business, is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income when it has
been earned and is calculated from the attachment date over the period of the policy. The pattern of recognition over
the policy period is based on time, which closely approximates the pattern of risks underwritten.

Reinsurance and other recoveries revenue on paid claims, claims reported but not paid, claims incurred but not
reported (IBNR) and claims incurred but not enough reported (IBNER) are recognised as revenue. Recoveries
receivable for long-tail classes of insurance are measured as the present value of the expected future receipts,
calculated on the same basis as the liability for outstanding claims.
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2.3 Net Claims Incurred

Current Year Prior Years Total
(i) (ii)

$'000 $'000 $'000
Current Year

Gross Claims - Undiscounted 862,969 (332,363) 530,606

Discount and Discount Movement (141,192) 377,231 236,039

Gross Claims - Discounted 721,777 44,868 766,645

Reinsurance and Other Recoveries - Undiscounted (18,811) 2,321 (16,490)

Discount and Discount Movement 5,754 (19,370) (13,616)

Reinsurance and Other Recoveries - Discounted (13,057) (17,049) (30,106)

Net Claims Incurred 708,720 27,819 736,539

Current Year Prior Years Total
(i) (ii)

$'000 $'000 $'000
Previous Year

Gross Claims - Undiscounted 1,082,484 (209,960) 872,524

Discount and Discount Movement (349,941) 134,028 (215,913)

Gross Claims - Discounted 732,543 (75,932) 656,611

Reinsurance and Other Recoveries - Undiscounted (33,005) 21,236 (11,769)

Discount and Discount Movement 15,428 (7,335) 8,093

Reinsurance and Other Recoveries - Discounted (17,577) 13,901 (3,676)

Net Claims Incurred 714,966 (62,031) 652,935

(i)  Current Year's  claims relate to risks borne in the current year.

(ii) Prior Years'  claims relate to a re-assessment of the risks borne in all previous years. 

2019

2018
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2.4 Outstanding Claims

2019 2018
$'000 $'000

Central Estimate 3,093,967 3,032,285
Discount to Present Value (418,607) (621,479)

2,675,360 2,410,806
Claims Management Expenses (discounted) 113,495 98,937

2,788,855 2,509,743
Risk Margin 228,497 197,538

Gross Outstanding Claims 3,017,352 2,707,281

Current 521,928 463,754
Non-Current 2,495,424 2,243,527

3,017,352 2,707,281

Critical Accounting Judgements and Estimates

Actuarial Assumptions and Methods

- projecting future claim payments in current values using a variety of actuarial models;
-

- discounting inflated claim payments to allow for an investment return at a risk-free rate;
- deducting the estimated effect of tax credits;
- adding an amount to provide for associated claims management expenses;
- reducing the amount by an allowance for reinsurance and other recoveries; and
- adding an allowance for a prudential risk margin.

Processes Used to Determine Assumptions

A description of the factors used to determine these assumptions is provided below:

The liability for outstanding claims is measured as the central estimate of the present value of expected future claims
payments plus a risk margin.

The expected future payments include the cost of claims incurred but not settled at the end of the reporting period,
including the cost of claims incurred but not yet reported (IBNR) and claims incurred but not enough reported (IBNER).
Outstanding claims and recoveries take into account factors such as allowances for future wage increases,
superimposed inflation, risk-free investment return, claims administration expenses and a risk margin.

Whilst all reasonable steps are taken to ensure that adequate information is obtained on outstanding claims exposures,
given the uncertainty in establishing claims provisions, it is likely that the final outcome will prove to be different from
the original liability. In particular, the estimation of IBNR claims is generally subject to a greater degree of uncertainty
than the estimation of claims already notified, where more information about the claim is usually available. IBNR
claims may not be lodged until many years after the events giving rise to the claims. 

The estimate of liability for outstanding claims is based upon an independent actuarial valuation which utilises statistical
analysis of historical experience and assumes the development pattern of current claims will be consistent with past
experience. 

The Insurance Commission underwrites a number of insurance classes through its funds. The ultimate liability for
outstanding claims is estimated by:

adjusting the projected claim payments to allow for the effect of future inflation from current values to the date of 
payment;

Discount Rates: risk-free rates derived from the market yields on traded Commonwealth Treasury Bonds at 30 June
2019. Long-term discount rates are based on the discretion of the independent actuarial firm.

Inflation Rates: based on Western Australia Treasury forecasts for short term rates. Long-term inflation rates are based 
on the discretion of the independent actuarial firm.
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2.4 Outstanding Claims (continued)

2.5 Unearned Premium

2019 2018
Notes $'000 $'000

Unearned Premium at Start of the Year (291,350) (285,792)
Earning of Premiums Collected in Previous Periods 291,350 285,792
Premium Collected in the Period (804,381) (775,183)
Earning of Premiums Collected in the Period 506,250 483,833

Unearned Premium at End of the Year (298,131) (291,350)

2.6 Deferred Premium Collection Costs

Balance at Start of the Year 4,837 4,933
Premium Collection Costs paid to Department of Transport 26,302 24,355
Amount recognised as Expense (24,732) (23,256)
Write Down for Premium Deficiency 3.2.3(f) (1,244) (1,195)

Balance at End of the Year 5,163 4,837

The 75% probability of sufficiency is estimated taking into account potential uncertainties relating to various actuarial
assumptions, statistical modelling techniques, the underlying data quality, the general insurance and legal environments
and changes in social attitudes.

Although not subject to the Australian Prudential Regulation Authority (APRA) regulatory framework, the Insurance
Commission has calculated its risk margin in accordance with APRA guidelines. Under this regime the central estimate
is derived using risk-free rates based on yields from Commonwealth Government fixed interest securities. The total
provision is required to achieve a 75% probability of sufficiency based solely on liability risk (including inflation risk),
but with no allowance for asset risk or asset returns above risk-free rates.

Risk Margin: a risk margin is applied to the outstanding claims liability to reflect the inherent uncertainty in the central
estimate of the outstanding claims liability. The risk margin increases the probability that the claims liability is
adequately provided for to a 75% probability of sufficiency. The RiskCover Fund does not apply a risk margin.

Reinsurance Recoveries: based on expected recoveries from claims that have exceeded, or are estimated to exceed,
the reinsurance retention levels.

Claims Management Expenses: derived from past experience and breakdown of expenses.

Superimposed Inflation: derived from actuarial modelling based on the long-term average of past experience.

The proportion of premium received or receivable relating to risks for periods of insurance subsequent to the end of the
reporting period and not earned in the Statement of Comprehensive Income, is recognised on a pro-rata basis.

At the end of the reporting period, a portion of premium collection costs (refer Note 2.2(ii)) is deferred in recognition
that it represents an expense that will give rise to premium revenue that will be recognised in future reporting periods.
Deferred premium collection costs are expensed in the following financial year.

Other Factors: Third Party Recoveries, Number of Claims, Average Claim Size, Average Term to Settlement/Claim
Finalisation, IBNR, Development of Case Estimates and Projected Case Estimates Payment Factors are based on past
experience.
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2.7 Receivables

2019 2018
Notes $'000 $'000

Current
Premiums Receivable 6,602 5,410

35,562 34,009

3.2.3(f) 4,678 3,733
Right of Indemnity

Government Insurance Fund (i) 7,981 5,956
WorkCover WA (ii) 1,858 1,686

9,839 7,642

Other Receivables 608 1,517

Total Current 57,289 52,311

Non-Current

194,361 168,736

Right of Indemnity
Government Insurance Fund (i) 67,096 45,476
WorkCover WA (ii) 12,284 10,964

79,380 56,440

Total Non-Current 273,741 225,176

Total Receivables 331,030 277,487

(i)

(ii)

Critical Accounting Judgements and Estimates

Estimations are made of all recoveries, including reinsurance recoveries and tax credits. Assets arising from reinsurance
contracts are calculated taking into account factors such as allowances for future wage increases, superimposed
inflation, risk-free investment return, claim administration expense and a prudential risk margin. In addition, the
recoverability of these assets are assessed on a periodic basis to ensure the balance is reflective of the amounts that will
ultimately be received, taking into consideration factors such as counterparty and credit risk. Under AASB 9, the 12
month's expected credit loss model has been used to determine any potential impairment of financial assets. Under this
model an allowance for impairment is considered regardless of whether a credit event has occurred.

The Government of Western Australia assumed liability for any accumulated deficit existing in the Government
Insurance Fund after Cabinet's decision in June 1996. Indemnity includes movements in outstanding claims
provisions and Bell litigation costs.

The Insurance Commission has the right of reimbursement from WorkCover WA for all payments and expenses
paid under the Employers' Indemnity Supplementation Fund Act 1980 .

Receivables are initially recognised at fair value and are subsequently measured at amortised cost less a provision for
impairment losses.

Recoveries on Unexpired Risk Liability

Discounted Value of Expected Future Reinsurance and Other 
Recoveries Receivable

Discounted Value of Expected Future Reinsurance and Other 
Recoveries Receivable
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2.8 Payables

2019 2018
Notes $'000 $'000

Current
Trade Creditors 18,612 22,833
Reinsurance Creditors 493 543
Accrued Employee Benefits 144 132
Investment Sundry Payables 11,342 6,273
Goods and Services Tax Liability (i) 3,658 3,768

34,249 33,549

(i) Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST except where the GST incurred on
the purchase of goods and services is not recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office (ATO), in which
case the GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense.
Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of GST. The net amount of GST payable to, or recoverable
from, the ATO is included as part of receivables or payables in the Balance Sheet.

Payables, including accruals not yet billed, are carried at cost and recognised when the Insurance Commission
becomes obliged to make future payments as a result of a purchase of assets or services.
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3. Insurance Activities - Fund Level

3.1 Third Party Insurance Fund

3.1.1 Overview

3.1.2 Financial Statements

Statement of Comprehensive Income 2019 2018

for the year ended 30 June 2019 $'000 $'000

Premium Revenue 604,025 590,769
Reinsurance Premium Expense (5,603) (4,525)
Reinsurance Commission Revenue 565 441
Net Premium Revenue 598,987 586,685

Claims Expense
Claims Paid (439,197) (381,187)
Movement in Outstanding Claims (138,318) (126,537)

Other Recoveries Revenue 22,549 2,539
Net Claims Incurred (554,966) (505,185)

Premium Collection Costs (20,400) (19,197)
Other Underwriting and Administration Expenses (40,116) (36,296)

Underwriting (Loss)/Profit (16,495) 26,007

Investment Income 243,469 325,802
Investment Expenses (16,309) (20,770)
Other Income 92 116

Profit Before Tax Equivalent 210,757 331,155

Income Tax Equivalent Expense (53,369) (90,235)

Profit After Tax Equivalent 157,388 240,920

The Third Party Insurance Fund (TPIF) is associated with the Compulsory Third Party (CTP) scheme. This Fund caters for
any injured third party or the dependants of a person killed as a consequence of the negligent driving of a Western
Australian registered motor vehicle. They are entitled to damages for personal injury, as long as negligence can be
established against the owner or driver of a Western Australian registered motor vehicle.
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3.1 Third Party Insurance Fund (continued)

3.1.2 Financial Statements (continued)

Balance Sheet 2019 2018

as at 30 June 2019 $'000 $'000

Assets
Receivables 186,207 164,104
Current Tax Receivable 18,295 -
Investments 3,796,613 3,669,864
Deferred Premium Collection Costs 5,163 4,837

Total Assets 4,006,278 3,838,805

Liabilities
Payables 18,138 19,433
Current Tax Payable - 52,758
Outstanding Claims 2,411,965 2,273,646
Unearned Premium 225,742 220,712
Deferred Tax Liabilities 139,245 115,896

Total Liabilities 2,795,090 2,682,445

Net Assets / Equity 1,211,188 1,156,360

3.1.3 Financial Disclosures

(a) Outstanding Claims

Central Estimate 2,318,287 2,287,953
Discount to Present Value (123,228) (219,488)

2,195,059 2,068,465
Claims Management Expenses (discounted) 76,827 72,395

2,271,886 2,140,860
Risk Margin 140,079 132,786
Gross Outstanding Claims 2,411,965 2,273,646

(b) Reconciliation of Movement in Discounted Outstanding Claims

Gross Recoveries Net
$'000 $'000 $'000

Outstanding Claims at 1 July 2018 2,273,646 158,966 2,114,680

Effect of Changes in Assumptions/Experience (7,360) 14,768 (22,128)
Expected Claims Incurred/Recoveries During Year 615,097 36,701 578,396

607,737 51,469 556,268

Claim Payments/Recoveries During Year (469,418) (29,276) (440,142)

Total Outstanding Claims at 30 June 2019 2,411,965 181,159 2,230,806

Incurred Claims Recognised in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income
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Notes to the Financial Statements

3.1 Third Party Insurance Fund (continued)

3.1.3 Financial Disclosures (continued)

(c) Claims Development Tables

The following tables show the development of gross and net undiscounted outstanding claims relative to the ultimate expected claims for the ten most recent years.

Gross Claims Development Table

Accident Year  2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 Total

Gross Ultimate Claims Cost Estimate: $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

At End of Accident Year 404,768 465,178 473,855 462,637 512,234 501,892 479,249 547,862 566,085 567,270
One Year Later 419,377 463,545 449,693 483,024 487,242 480,993 494,136 563,010 539,749
Two Years Later 421,704 427,448 462,605 474,228 490,863 511,782 501,489 556,612
Three Years Later 410,630 446,669 461,711 451,120 527,342 499,470 523,384
Four Years Later 428,953 446,898 454,348 467,326 518,133 476,691
Five Years Later 428,635 430,957 463,447 446,976 493,393
Six Years Later 463,148 457,365 453,178 433,404
Seven Years Later 467,687 447,920 438,123
Eight Years Later 475,241 433,638
Nine Years Later 481,634

Current Estimate of Net Ultimate Claims Costs 481,634 433,638 438,123 433,404 493,393 476,691 523,384 556,612 539,749 567,270 4,943,898
Cumulative Payments (402,243) (409,353) (401,710) (351,222) (381,644) (331,030) (302,421) (176,124) (85,194) (45,380) (2,886,321)

Outstanding Claims Undiscounted 79,391 24,285 36,413 82,182 111,749 145,661 220,963 380,488 454,555 521,890 2,057,577

Discount (on Accident Years 2010 and Later) (100,839)
Claims Handling Expenses (on Accident Years 2010 and Later) 68,486
Claims 2009 and Prior 246,662
Risk Margin 140,079

Gross Outstanding Claims 2,411,965
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3.1 Third Party Insurance Fund (continued)

3.1.3 Financial Disclosures (continued)

(c) Claims Development Tables (continued)

Net Claims Development Table

Accident Year  2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 Total

Net Ultimate Claims Cost Estimate: $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

At End of Accident Year 379,914 435,494 443,567 426,289 480,464 469,804 448,612 514,207 531,121 532,246
One Year Later 392,496 428,762 420,859 452,884 456,019 450,172 463,792 528,348 506,452
Two Years Later 394,599 399,988 433,522 443,766 459,377 480,426 470,677 522,344
Three Years Later 384,215 418,399 432,054 422,119 495,234 468,929 491,248
Four Years Later 401,652 418,242 425,171 438,921 486,629 447,633
Five Years Later 401,169 403,332 435,431 419,899 462,252
Six Years Later 433,466 426,605 425,835 407,221
Seven Years Later 439,502 421,111 411,767
Eight Years Later 446,568 407,750
Nine Years Later 452,559

Current Estimate of Net Ultimate Claims Costs 452,559 407,750 411,767 407,221 462,252 447,633 491,248 522,344 506,452 532,246 4,641,472
Cumulative Payments (378,297) (385,034) (377,707) (330,347) (359,000) (311,383) (284,561) (166,439) (81,264) (44,074) (2,718,106)

Outstanding Claims Undiscounted 74,262 22,716 34,060 76,874 103,252 136,250 206,687 355,905 425,188 488,172 1,923,366

Discount (on Accident Years 2010 and Later) (94,254)
Claims Handling Expenses (on Accident Years 2010 and Later) 68,486
Claims 2009 and Prior 193,129
Risk Margin 140,079

Total Outstanding Claims Net of Reinsurance and Other Recoveries 2,230,806
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3.1 Third Party Insurance Fund (continued)

3.1.3 Financial Disclosures (continued)

(d) Actuarial Assumptions
The following table provides key actuarial assumptions made in determining the outstanding claims liability:

Inflation Rate

Discount Rate

Claims Management Expenses
Reinsurance Recoveries
Superimposed Inflation

Risk Margin

Third Party Recoveries
Number of Claims 
Average Claim Size
Average Term to Settlement

(e) Sensitivity Analysis

Variable Change in 
Variable

Net of 
Recoveries

 $'000

Gross of 
Recoveries

$'000
Inflation +1% (61,727) (63,343)
Inflation -1% 57,439 58,928
Discount +1% 61,265 65,430
Discount -1% (67,450) (72,326)
Superimposed Inflation +1% (24,209) (24,901)
Superimposed Inflation -1% 23,279 23,944
Claims Incurred But Not Reported (IBNR) +10% (13,997) (14,397)
Claims Incurred But Not Reported (IBNR) -10% 13,997 14,398
Small Claims Average Size +10% (94,095) (96,787)
Small Claims Average Size -10% 94,905 96,787
Higher Large Case Estimate Savings (+1,000 basis points) +1,000 27,784 28,629
Lower Large Case Estimate Savings (-1,000 basis points) -1,000 (27,787) (28,630)
1 Extra Claim per Accident Half-Year from Dec-15 +1 (25,933) (26,675)
1 Fewer Claim per Accident Half-Year from Dec-15 -1 25,925 26,667

(f) Unexpired Risk Liability

2019 2018

Varies from 2.3% for 2020, 2.8% for 2021, 
3% for 2022, then gradually decreases to 
the long-term rate of 2.5%

Varies from 1.7% for 2019, 2.5% for 2020, 
2.9% for 2021, then gradually increases to 
the long-term rate of 3.5%

Varies from 1% for 2020, 0.9% for 2021, 
0.9% for 2022, then gradually increases to 
the long-term rate of 3.3%. Note that the last 
cash flow occurs in 2050

Varies from 1.9% for 2019, 2.1% for 2020, 
2.2% for 2021, then gradually increases to 
the long-term rate of 4.5%. Note that the last 
cash flow occurs in 2042

6.7% of central estimated liability for 75% 
probability of sufficiency

6.7% of central estimated liability for 75% 
probability of sufficiency

0.05% of gross claim payments 0.05% of gross claim payments 
Approximately 3,420 for accident year Approximately 3,300 for accident year

3.5% of gross claim payments 3.5% of gross claim payments 
1.8% of gross claim payments 1.2% of gross claim payments 
2.8% per annum assumed, although this 
varies depending on the actuarial model 
adopted

2.8% per annum assumed, although this varies 
depending on the actuarial model adopted

A Liability Adequacy Test was performed for the Third Party Insurance Fund and resulted in a net surplus (2018: net surplus) and
therefore a Nil Unexpired Risk Liability (2018: Nil).

Approximately $132,500 for accident year Approximately $137,000 for accident year
4.2 years 4 years

Profit/(Loss) 
Increase/(Decrease) 

The following table is an illustration in how changes in key assumptions would impact equity and profit after tax (assumed at a tax
rate of 30%). The impact of change in the variables upon outstanding claim liabilities moves opposite to the impact upon profits.
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3.2 Motor Vehicle (Catastrophic Injuries) Fund

3.2.1 Overview

3.2.2 Financial Statements

Statement of Comprehensive Income 2019 2018

for the year ended 30 June 2019 $'000 $'000

Premium Revenue 193,487 178,733
Reinsurance Premium Expense (4,090) (4,039)
Reinsurance Commission Revenue 410 413
Net Premium Revenue 189,807 175,107

Claims Expense
Claims Paid (9,258) (10,238)
Movement in Outstanding Claims (148,046) (118,082)

Other Recoveries Revenue 7,541 6,103

Net Claims Incurred (149,763) (122,217)

Gross Movement in Unexpired Risk Liability (16,007) (6,526)
Reinsurance and Other Recoveries on Unexpired Risk Liability 945 652

Net Movement in Unexpired Risk (15,062) (5,874)

Premium Collection Costs (5,576) (5,254)
Other Underwriting and Administration Expenses (4,228) (4,158)

Underwriting Profit 15,178 37,604

Investment Income 42,740 16,063
Investment Expenses (1,853) (1,083)
Other Income 29 34

Profit Before Tax Equivalent 56,094 52,618

Income Tax Equivalent Expense (14,204) (15,494)

Profit After Tax Equivalent 41,890 37,124

The Motor Vehicle (Catastrophic Injuries) Fund (MVCIF) is associated with the Catastrophic Injuries Support (CIS) Scheme.
This Fund caters for catastrophically injured motorists involving a registered motor vehicle in Western Australia where fault
cannot be attributed to a third party. 
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3.2 Motor Vehicle (Catastrophic Injuries) Fund (continued)

3.2.2 Financial Statements (continued)

Balance Sheet 2019 2018

as at 30 June 2019 $'000 $'000

Assets
Cash and Cash Equivalents 6,761 5,351
Receivables 30,460 21,454
Investments 641,307 448,420
Deferred Tax Assets 16,875 9,474

Total Assets 695,403 484,699

Liabilities
Payables 4,618 4,640
Current Tax Payable 22,675 19,461
Outstanding Claims 450,785 302,739
Unearned Premium 72,208 70,638
Unexpired Risk Liability 36,965 20,958

Total Liabilities 587,251 418,436

Net Assets / Equity 108,152 66,263

3.2.3 Financial Disclosures

(a) Outstanding Claims

Central Estimate 649,144 624,155
Discount to Present Value (281,699) (377,379)

367,445 246,776
Claims Management Expenses (discounted) 27,558 18,508

395,003 265,284
Risk Margin 55,782 37,455
Gross Outstanding Claims 450,785 302,739
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3.2 Motor Vehicle (Catastrophic Injuries) Fund (continued)

3.2.3 Financial Disclosures (continued)

(b) Reconciliation of Movement in Discounted Outstanding Claims

Gross Recoveries Net
$'000 $'000 $'000

Outstanding Claims at 1 July 2018 302,739 15,586 287,153

Effect of Changes in Assumptions/Experience (106,317) (5,452) (100,865)
Increase in Expected Claims Incurred/Recoveries During Year 264,232 13,603 250,629

157,915 8,151 149,764

Claim Payments/Recoveries During Year (9,869) (610) (9,259)

Total Outstanding Claims at 30 June 2019 450,785 23,127 427,658

(c) Claims Development Tables

Gross Net
Estimated Ultimate Claims Cost at 30 June: $'000 $'000

2017 376,345 352,921
2018 639,638 599,329
2019 674,496 632,093

Current Estimate of Cumulative Claims Costs 674,496 632,093
Cumulative Payments (25,352) (23,783)
Outstanding Claims Undiscounted 649,144 608,310

Discount (281,699) (263,992)
Claims Management Expenses 27,558 27,558
Risk Margin 55,782 55,782

450,785 427,658

Incurred Claims Recognised in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income

The following table shows the development of gross and net undiscounted outstanding claims since the inception of the
Fund.

Outstanding Claims
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3.2 Motor Vehicle (Catastrophic Injuries) Fund (continued)

3.2.3 Financial Disclosures (continued)

(d) Actuarial Assumptions
The following table provides key actuarial assumptions made in determining the outstanding claims liability:

(e) Sensitivity Analysis

Variable Change in 
Variable

Net of 
Recoveries

 $'000

Gross of 
Recoveries

 $'000
Inflation +1% (78,845) (83,104)
Inflation -1% 56,439 59,487
Discount +1% 57,660 60,772
Discount -1% (82,718) (87,184)
Attendant Care Costs +10% (23,104) (24,311)
Attendant Care Costs -10% 23,152 24,361
Bed Day Rate +10% (2,895) (3,046)
Bed Day Rate -10% 2,927 3,080
One Additional Claim Incurred But Not Reported (IBNR) +1 (4,643) (4,894)
One Fewer Claim Incurred But Not Reported (IBNR) -1 4,643 4,894
Reduction in CANS* -1 51,447 54,184

15% of central estimated liability for 75%
probability

Risk Margin

22 years

$3.1 million per claim for 2019 (excludes
claims handling costs and risk margin)

15% of central estimated liability for 75%
probability
$3 million per claim for 2018 (excludes claims
handling costs and risk margin)

0.75% per annum assumed and an additional
0.5% per annum for Medical, Hospital and
Rehabilitation costs for Brain Injuries

2019

Varies from 2.3% for 2020, 2.8% for 2021,
3% for 2022, then 2.5% for subsequent periods

0.75% per annum assumed and an additional
0.5% per annum for Medical, Hospital and
Rehabilitation costs for Brain Injuries

2018

Varies from 1.7% for 2019, 2.5% for 2020,
2.9% for 2021, then 3.5% for subsequent
periods
Varies from 1.9% for 2019, 2.1% for 2020,
2.2% for 2021, then gradually increases to the
long-term rate of 4.5%
7.5% of gross claim payments 

Superimposed Inflation

Inflation Rate

Discount Rate

Claims Management 
Expenses

Varies from 1% for 2020, 0.9% for 2021,
0.9% for 2022, then gradually increases to the
long-term rate of 3.3%
7.5% of gross claim payments 

Profit/(Loss) 
Increase/(Decrease) 

The following table is an illustration in how changes in key assumptions would impact equity and profit after tax (assumed
at a tax rate of 30%). The impact of change in the variables upon outstanding claim liabilities moves opposite to the impact
upon profits.

Average Claim Size

Average Term to Claim 
Finalisation

23 years

* Assumes the injury severity of participants with a Brain Injury improves by '1' on the Care and Needs Scale (CANS).
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3.2 Motor Vehicle (Catastrophic Injuries) Fund (continued)

3.2.3 Financial Disclosures (continued)

(f) Unexpired Risk Liability

2019 2018
Unexpired Risk Liability $'000 $'000

Unexpired Risk Liability at Start of the Year (20,958) (14,432)
Recognition of Additional Unexpired Risk Liability in the Period (16,007) (6,526)

Unexpired Risk Liability at End of the Year (36,965) (20,958)

Movement in Deficiency Recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income
Gross Movement in Unexpired Risk Liability 16,007 6,526
Increase in Recoveries on Unexpired Risk Liability (945) (652)
Net Movement in Unexpired Risk 15,062 5,874
Write-down of Deferred Premium Collection Costs 1,244 1,195

Total Deficiency Recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income 16,306 7,069

Unearned Premium Liability Adequacy Test
Unearned Premium Liability 72,208 70,638
Related Deferred Premium Collection Costs (1,244) (1,195)

70,964 69,443

93,352 78,323
Risk Margin 15,821 13,273

(4,678) (3,733)

104,495 87,863

Net Deficiency (33,531) (18,420)

(4,678) (3,733)
Gross Deficiency (38,209) (22,153)

At the end of the reporting period, unearned premium is assessed to determine whether it is sufficient to pay related future
claims. If the present value of the expected future claims exceeds the unearned premium liability (less any related deferred
premium collection costs), then the unearned premium liability is deemed to be deficient. The Insurance Commission applies
a risk margin to achieve the same probability of sufficiency (75%) for future claims as is achieved by the estimate of the
outstanding claims liability.

Present Value of Expected Future Cash Inflows Arising from Reinsurance
and Other Recoveries on Future Claims

Central Estimate of Present Value of Expected Future Cash Flows Arising
from Future Claims

Less: Reinsurance Element of Present Value of Expected Future Cash Flows
for Future Claims
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3.3 Compensation (Industrial Diseases) Fund

3.3.1 Overview

3.3.2 Financial Statements

Statement of Comprehensive Income 2019 2018
for the year ended 30 June 2019 $'000 $'000

Net Premium Revenue 89 123

Claims Expense
Claims Paid (168) (304)
Movement in Outstanding Claims (641) 600

Other Recoveries Revenue (91) (306)

Net Claims Incurred (900) (10)

Other Underwriting and Administration Expenses (533) (927)

Underwriting Loss (1,344) (814)

Investment Income 1,839 2,446
Investment Expenses (120) (150)

Profit Before Tax Equivalent 375 1,482

Income Tax Equivalent Expense (95) (379)

Profit After Tax Equivalent 280 1,103

Balance Sheet
as at 30 June 2019

Assets
Receivables 197 555
Current Tax Receivable 1 -
Investments 28,029 26,847

Total Assets 28,227 27,402

Liabilities
Payables 221 119
Current Tax Payable - 339
Outstanding Claims 3,620 2,979
Unearned Premium 181 -
Deferred Tax Liabilities 734 773
Total Liabilities 4,756 4,210

Net Assets / Equity 23,471 23,192

Industrial diseases insurance is compulsory for employers engaged in mining. Liability is limited to workers’ compensation
payments for the respiratory diseases of pneumoconiosis, lung cancer, mesothelioma and diffuse pleural fibrosis, all of which
may arise from exposure to harmful mineral dust in the course of employment. These claims are paid from the Compensation
(Industrial Diseases) Fund (CIDF). Under the Insurance Commission of Western Australia Act 1986 , transfers from the CIDF
Reserves may only be used to meet, or assist in meeting, any amounts required to be expended for research into the
prevention and treatment of industrial diseases.
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3.3 Compensation (Industrial Diseases) Fund (continued)

3.3.3 Financial Disclosures

(a) Outstanding Claims 2019 2018
$'000 $'000

Central Estimate 2,543 2,367
Discount to Present Value (284) (508)

2,259 1,859
Claims Management Expenses (discounted) 791 651

3,050 2,510
Risk Margin 570 469
Gross Outstanding Claims 3,620 2,979

(b) Reconciliation of Movement in Discounted Outstanding Claims
Gross Recoveries Net
$'000 $'000 $'000

Outstanding Claims at 1 July 2018 2,979 288 2,691

Effect of Changes in Assumptions/Experience 473 (90) 563
Incurred Claims Recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income 473 (90) 563

Claim Payments/Recoveries During Year 168 - 168

Total Outstanding Claims at 30 June 2019 3,620 198 3,422

(c) Actuarial Assumptions

Inflation Rate

Discount Rate

Risk Margin

(d) Unexpired Risk Liability
A Liability Adequacy Test was performed for the Compensation (Industrial Disease) Fund and resulted in a net surplus (2018:
net surplus) and therefore a Nil Unexpired Risk Liability (2018: Nil).

2019 2018

Varies from 2.3% for 2020, 2.8% for 2021, 
3% for 2022 and decreasing to 1.6% by 
2035

Varies from 1.8% for 2019, 2.8% for 2020, 
3% for 2021 and decreasing to 2% by 2034

35% of gross claim payments
18.7% of net outstanding claims for 75% 
probability of sufficiency

18.7% of net outstanding claims for 75% 
probability of sufficiency

Varies from 1.9% for 2019, 2.1% for 2020, 
2.2% for 2021 and increasing to 4.5% by 
2048

35% of gross claim payments

Varies from 1% for 2020, 0.9% for 2021, 
0.9% for 2022 and increasing to 3.3% by 
2049

5.5% of gross claim payments 9.7% of gross claim payments

The following table provides the key actuarial assumptions made in determining the outstanding claims liability:

Claims Management Expenses

Third Party Recoveries
Average Term to Settlement 7.2 years 7.8 years
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3.4 Government Insurance Fund

3.4.1 Overview

3.4.2 Financial Statements

Statement of Comprehensive Income 2019 2018

for the year ended 30 June 2019 $'000 $'000

Claims Expense
Claims Paid (5,106) (4,041)
Movement in Outstanding Claims (24,540) (14,775)

Reinsurance and Other Recoveries Revenue 370 394

Net Claims Incurred (29,276) (18,422)

Other Underwriting and Administration Expenses (371) (380)

Underwriting Loss (29,647) (18,802)

Investment Income (114) (106)
Other Income 29,761 18,908

- -

Balance Sheet
as at 30 June 2019

Assets
Receivables 77,987 53,989
Investments (6,718) (7,256)
Total Assets 71,269 46,733

Liabilities
Payables - 4
Outstanding Claims 71,269 46,729
Total Liabilities 71,269 46,733

Net Assets / Equity - -

The Government Insurance Fund (GIF) is a consolidation of the Western Australian Government’s superseded self-insurance
arrangements that preceded RiskCover. The liabilities assumed by the GIF relate to claims arising from policies issued to
State Government Agencies by the old State Government Insurance Office (SGIO). The GIF is in run-off and no new
policies have been issued since 30 June 1997. Claims associated with the GIF were incurred between 1 January 1986
and 30 June 1997. A component of GIF's outstanding claims liabilities arises from asbestos exposure to public sector
workers. From 1 July 2018, the Civil Liability Act 2002 was amended to remove the statute of limitations for child sexual
abuse. This has resulted in new claims arising in the GIF for the 2019 financial year. The Government of Western
Australia has the liability for any deficit existing in the Fund.

Operating Result
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3.4 Government Insurance Fund (continued)

3.4.3 Financial Disclosures

(a) Outstanding Claims 2019 2018
$'000 $'000

Central Estimate 56,416 41,800
Discount to Present Value (5,076) (8,285)

51,340 33,515
Claims Management Expenses (discounted) 4,285 3,200

55,625 36,715
Risk Margin 15,644 10,014
Gross Outstanding Claims 71,269 46,729

(b) Reconciliation of Movement in Discounted Outstanding Claims

Gross Recoveries Net
$'000 $'000 $'000

Outstanding Claims at 1 July 2018 46,729 2,556 44,173

Effect of Changes in Assumptions/Experience 29,738 459 29,279

29,738 459 29,279

Claim Payments/Recoveries During Year (5,198) (105) (5,093)

Outstanding Claims at 30 June 2019 71,269 2,910 68,359

(c) Claims Development Tables

Gross Net
Estimated Ultimate Claims Cost at 30 June: $'000 $'000

2015 1,010,743 928,394
2016 1,008,855 927,382
2017 1,024,578 934,618
2018 1,043,985 953,505
2019 1,058,071 967,726

Current Estimate of Cumulative Claims Costs 1,058,071 967,726
Cumulative Payments (1,001,655) (913,934)

Outstanding Claims Undiscounted 56,416 53,792

Discount (5,076) (4,779)
Claims Management Expenses 4,285 4,255
Risk Margin 15,644 15,091

Outstanding Claims 71,269 68,359

Incurred Claims Recognised in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income

This Fund is closed and has been in run-off since 1 July 1997. The long-term nature of the expected term to settlement of
these claims is also due to the latency period associated with asbestos-related diseases and the nature of liability
insurance. In view of this it is considered that the inclusion of a table referenced to accident years is not appropriate.
Consequently, the tables below list developing claim costs over the past five years. There are no remaining claims against
the fund other than for workers' compensation and liability (including abuse claims) insurance.
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3.4 Government Insurance Fund (continued)

3.4.3 Financial Disclosures (continued)

(d) Actuarial Assumptions

Inflation Rate

Discount Rate

Third Party Recoveries

(e) Sensitivity Analysis

Variable Change in 
Variable

Net of 
Recoveries

 $'000

Gross of 
Recoveries

 $'000
Inflation +1% 4,080 4,310
Inflation -1% (3,508) (3,705)
Future Interest Rate (Non-Asbestos claims) +1% (126) (126)
Future Interest Rate (Non-Asbestos claims) -1% 139 139
Future Real Discount Rate (Asbestos claims) +1% (3,384) (3,581)
Future Real Discount Rate (Asbestos claims) -1% 3,868 4,094
Number of Asbestos-Related Claims +20 7,825 8,281
Number of Asbestos-Related Claims -20 (7,825) (8,281)

27.5% of net outstanding claims for a 75% 
probability of sufficiency for workers 
compensation, 30% of net outstanding claims 
for a 75% probability of sufficiency for public 
liability and abuse claims

27.5% of net outstanding claims for a 75% 
probability of sufficiency for workers 
compensation, 16.8% of net outstanding claims 
for a 75% probability of sufficiency for public 
liability

Movement in Outstanding 
Claims

The GIF is exempt from the National Tax Equivalent Regime and is indemnified by the Government of Western Australia
via a Right of Indemnity, therefore changes in the actuarial assumption variables will have no impact on profit. For
disclosure purposes the impact on outstanding claims liabilities is disclosed instead of the impact on after tax profit.

1.6% of net outstanding claims for Non-
Asbestos liabilities, 5.5% of gross claim 
payments for Asbestos liabilities, 3% of gross 
claims with estimated size under $1 million 
and 0% of gross claims with estimated size 
over $1 million for public liability 

0.2% for development year zero, 0.4% for 
development year one, 1% for development 
year two, 5% for development year thereafter 
for Non-Asbestos liabilities, 5.5% of gross claim 
payments for Asbestos liabilities, 3% of gross 
claims with estimated size under $1 million and 
0% of gross claims with estimated size over $1 
million for public liability 

2019 2018

Varies from 2.3% for 2020, 2.8% for 2021, 
3% for 2022 and decreasing to 1.6% by 
2035 

Varies from 1.8% for 2019, 2.8% for 2020, 
3% for 2021 and decreasing to 2% by 2034 

Varies from 1% for 2020, 0.9% for 2021, 
0.9% for 2022 and increasing to 3.3% by 
2049

Varies from 1.9% for 2019,  2.1% for 2020, 
2.2% for 2021 and increasing to 4.5% by 
2048

10% of net claim payments for Non-Asbestos 
liabilities, 10% of net claim payments for 
Asbestos liabilities, 6% of gross claim 
payments for public liability

12% of net claim payments for Non-Asbestos 
liabilities, 10% of net claim payments for 
Asbestos liabilities, 6% of gross claim payments 
for public liability

4.6 years for Non-Asbestos liabilities, 8.6 
years for Asbestos liabilities, 3.8 years for 
public liability

Average Term to 
Settlement

The following table provides the key actuarial assumptions made in determining the outstanding claims liabilities:

2.4 years for Non-Asbestos liabilities, 7.5 years 
for Asbestos liabilities, 3.6 years for public 
liability

Claims Management 
Expenses

Risk Margin
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3.5 Insurance Commission General Fund

3.5.1 Overview

3.5.2 Financial Statements

Statement of Comprehensive Income 2019 2018

for the year ended 30 June 2019 $'000 $'000

Claims Expense
Claims Paid (4,982) (9,131)
Movement in Outstanding Claims 3,609 7,084

Reinsurance and Other Recoveries Revenue (263) (5,054)

Net Claims Incurred (1,636) (7,101)

RiskCover Fund Administration Cost Reimbursement 29,500 31,015
Administration Expenses (including RiskCover Fund expenses) (30,226) (34,080)

Underwriting Loss (2,362) (10,166)

Investment Income 62,525 102,536
Investment Expenses (540) 549
RiskCover Fund Investment Return (54,264) (95,656)
Other Income 283 239
Other Expenses (11) (18)

Profit/(Loss) Before Tax Equivalent 5,631 (2,516)

Income Tax Equivalent (Expense)/Benefit (1,426) 1,058

Profit/(Loss) After Tax Equivalent 4,205 (1,458)

Items That Will Not Be Reclassified To Profit/(Loss)
Re-measurement Loss on Defined Benefit Plans (413) 669
Related Income Tax Equivalent Effect 124 (200)

(289) 469

3,916 (989)

Balance Sheet
as at 30 June 2019

Assets
Cash and Cash Equivalents 6,236 1,083
Receivables 37,640 39,114
Current Tax Receivable - 1,927
Investments 1,046,604 1,188,342
Other Assets 2,685 2,419
Plant and Equipment 1,891 1,959
Intangibles 4,375 4,708

Total Assets 1,099,431 1,239,552

The Insurance Commission General Fund (ICGF) is the operating fund of the Insurance Commission bearing most of the
administration costs and then reallocating the costs to other funds. The ICGF also caters for the lengthy run-off of liabilities of
the former SGIO and claims made under the Employers' Indemnity Supplementation Fund Act 1980 (EISF). Investment assets
are held within the ICGF and then allocated onto other Funds.

Other Comprehensive Income After Tax Equivalent

Total Comprehensive Income After Tax Equivalent
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3.5 Insurance Commission General Fund (continued)

3.5.2 Financial Statements (continued)

Balance Sheet (continued) 2019 2018

as at 30 June 2019 $'000 $'000

Liabilities
Payables 12,733 11,083
Current Tax Payable 727 -
Financial Liabilities - RiskCover Fund Investments 908,449 1,054,785
Outstanding Claims 79,713 81,188
Provisions 16,771 16,204
Deferred Tax Liabilities 1,554 727

Total Liabilities 1,019,947 1,163,987

Net Assets / Equity 79,484 75,565

3.5.3 Financial Disclosures

(a) Outstanding Claims

Central Estimate 67,577 76,010
Discount to Present Value (8,320) (15,819)

59,257 60,191
Claims Management Expenses (discounted) 4,034 4,183

63,291 64,374
Risk Margin 16,422 16,814
Gross Outstanding Claims 79,713 81,188

(b) Reconciliation of Movement in Discounted Outstanding Claims

Gross Recoveries Net
Insurance Commission General Fund $'000 $'000 $'000

Outstanding Claims at 1 July 2018 68,112 24,157 43,955

Effect of Changes in Assumptions/Experience (7,375) (4,043) (3,332)

(7,375) (4,043) (3,332)

Claim Payments/Recoveries During Year 4,366 2,136 2,230

Outstanding Claims at 30 June 2019 (i) 65,103 22,250 42,853

Gross Recoveries Net
Employers' Indemnity Supplementation Act $'000 $'000 $'000

Outstanding Claims at 1 July 2018 12,840 191 12,649

Effect of Changes in Assumptions/Experience 2,438 37 2,401

2,438 37 2,401

Claim Payments/Recoveries During Year (923) (15) (908)

Outstanding Claims at 30 June 2019 (ii) 14,355 213 14,142

Inwards Reinsurance (iii) 255 - 255

ICGF Total Outstanding Claims (i)+(ii)+(iii) 79,713 22,463 57,250

Incurred Claims Recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income

Incurred Claims Recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income
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3.5 Insurance Commission General Fund (continued)

3.5.3 Financial Disclosures (continued)

(c) Claims Development Tables

This fund is responsible for the administration of three claim portfolios:
- Run-off claims for Workers' Compensation and Public Liability claims prior to 1 January 1986;
-

- Run-off claims in relation to the Inwards Reinsurance written prior to August 1992.

Run-off Claims

Gross Net
Estimated Ultimate Claims Cost at 30 June: $'000 $'000

2015 577,505 451,356
2016 587,362 455,777
2017 585,170 456,430
2018 585,793 462,752
2019 581,487 460,353

Current Estimate of Cumulative Claims Costs 581,487 460,353
Cumulative Payments (527,166) (426,183)
Outstanding Claims Undiscounted 54,321 34,170

Discount (7,042) (4,306)
Claims Management Expenses 3,782 3,746
Risk Margin 14,042 9,243

Outstanding Claims 65,103 42,853

EISF Claims 14,355 14,142
Inwards Reinsurance 255 255

Total ICGF Outstanding Claims 79,713 57,250

A claims development table has not been produced for the EISF claims as all claims are for events occurring more than ten
years ago. Due to the small size of inwards reinsurance related claims, no claims development table has been produced.

Workers' Compensation claims to be settled in accordance with the EISF Act specifically relating to the HIH Insurance
Group and other failed insurers; and

The long-term nature of the expected term to settlement of these claims is due to the latency period associated with asbestos-
related diseases and the nature of public liability insurance. In view of this, it is considered that the inclusion of a table
referenced to accident years is not appropriate. Consequently, the tables list developing claim costs over the past five years.
The claims in run-off include an immaterial number of, and values for, potential public liability claims reported as a single class
of insurance.
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3.5 Insurance Commission General Fund (continued)

3.5.3 Financial Disclosures (continued)

(d) Actuarial Assumptions
The following tables provide key actuarial assumptions made in determining the outstanding claims liabilities:

Insurance Commission General Fund

Inflation Rate

Discount Rate

Claims Management Expenses
Risk Margin

Third Party Recoveries

Average Term to Settlement

Employers' Indemnity Supplementation Act

Inflation Rate

Discount Rate

Claims Management Expenses
Superimposed Inflation

Risk Margin

Inwards Reinsurance

Varies from 2.3% for 2020, 2.8% for 2021, 
3% for 2022 and decreasing to 1.6% by 
2035

Varies from 1.8% for 2019, 2.8% for 2020, 
3% for 2021 and decreasing to 1.8% by 
2034

8.4 years for workers' compensation claims, 
6.5 years for public liability claims

7.8 years for workers' compensation claims, 
6.5 years for public liability claims

2019

27.5% of net outstanding claims for 75% 
probability of sufficiency

27.5% of net outstanding claims for 75% 
probability of sufficiency

34.7% of gross claim payments for workers' 
compensation claims, 2.4% of gross claim 
payments for public liability claims

36% of gross claim payments for workers' 
compensation claims, 2.4% of gross claim 
payments for public liability claims

Varies from 1% for 2020, increasing to 2.5% 
by 2035

Varies from 1.9% for 2019, increasing to 
3.5% by 2034

10.5% of claim payments 
1.5% for Asbestos liabilities and 0% for Non-
Asbestos liabilities for 2019 and later  

1.5% for Asbestos liabilities and 0% for Non-
Asbestos liabilities for 2018 and later  

20.4% for Asbestos liabilities and 16.8% for 
Non-Asbestos liabilities of estimated gross 
liability 

20.4% for Asbestos liabilities and 16.8% for 
Non-Asbestos liabilities of estimated gross 
liability 

10.5% of claim payments 

2018

8% of gross claim payments 8% of gross claim payments

2019 2018

Varies from 2.3% for 2020, 2.8% for 2021, 
3% for 2022 and decreasing to 1.6% by 
2035 

Varies from 1.8% for 2019, 2.8% for 2020, 
3% for 2021 and decreasing to 2% by 2034

Varies from 1% for 2020, 0.9% for 2021, 
0.9% for 2022 and increasing to 3.3% by 
2049

Varies from 1.9% for 2019, 2.1% for 2020, 
2.2% for 2021 and increasing to 4.5% by 
2048

Due to the small size of the inwards reinsurance claims, an internal model is used to calculate the outstanding claims liability.
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3.5 Insurance Commission General Fund (continued)

3.5.3 Financial Disclosures (continued)

(e) Sensitivity Analysis

Insurance Commission General Fund

Variable
Change in 

Variable
%

Net of 
Recoveries

 $'000
Gross

 $'000
Discount rate +1 (2,660) (4,138)
Discount rate -1 2,289 3,555
Superimposed inflation +2 (5,482) (8,590)

+2 (3,212) (6,861)

+5 (6,631) (14,168)

+2 (1,793) (1,854)

+5 (9,377) (9,696)

Employers' Indemnity Supplementation Act

Variable
Change in 

Variable
%

Net of 
Recoveries

 $'000
Gross

 $'000
Inflation +1 931 1,014
Inflation -1 (858) (933)
Discount +1 (918) (999)
Discount -1 1,020 1,110
Superimposed Inflation +1 933 1,015
Superimposed Inflation -1 (854) (930)
Number of Claim Lodgements +10 1,266 1,378
Number of Claim Lodgements -10 (1,291) (1,403)
Average Claim Size +10 1,266 1,378
Average Claim Size -10 (1,291) (1,403)
Claims Management Expenses +1 136 149
Claims Management Expenses -1 (136) (149)

EISF liabilities are indemnified by WorkCover WA via a Right of Indemnity (refer Note 2.7), therefore changes in the actuarial
assumption variables will have no impact on profit after tax. For disclosure purposes the impact on outstanding claims
liabilities is disclosed instead of the impact on after tax profit.

Movement in Outstanding 
Claims

Increasing base numbers of mesothelioma claims by 2
Increasing decay rates in annual number of future CSR mesothelioma cases 
reported every future year
Increasing base numbers of lung claims by 2
Increasing decay rates in annual number of future lung cases reported every 
future year

The following tables illustrate how changes in key assumptions would impact equity and profit after tax (assumed at a tax rate
of 30%).

Note that the impact of change in the variables upon outstanding claim liabilities moves in a direction opposite to the impact
upon profits.

Profit/(Loss) 
Increase/(Decrease) 
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3.6 RiskCover Fund

3.6.1 Overview

3.6.2 Financial Statements

Statement of Comprehensive Income 2019 2018

for the year ended 30 June 2019 Notes $'000 $'000

Premium Revenue 3.6.3(a) 288,228 299,789
Premium Adjustment 3.6.3(b) 5,889 (8,894)
Reinsurance Premium Expense (18,884) (16,739)
Reinsurance Commission Revenue 813 768

Net Premium Revenue 276,046 274,924

Claims Expense
Claims Paid (244,632) (223,421)
Movement in Outstanding Claims (28,378) 36,150

Reinsurance and Other Recoveries Revenue 4,064 8,512

Net Claims Incurred (268,946) (178,759)

Other Underwriting and Administration Expenses (30,556) (32,664)

Underwriting (Loss)/Profit (23,456) 63,501

54,264 95,656

Profit 30,808 159,157

Balance Sheet
as at 30 June 2019

Assets
Cash and Cash Equivalents 13,146 15,637
Receivables 17,501 17,749
Investments 3.6.3(c) 908,449 1,054,785

Total Assets 939,096 1,088,171

Liabilities
Payables 64,683 110,672
Provision for Return of Capital 69,457 162,273
Outstanding Claims 3.6.3(d) 561,486 533,108

Total Liabilities 695,626 806,053

Net Assets / Equity 243,470 282,118

Equity
Retained Earnings 183,242 220,631
Prudential Reserve 60,228 61,487

Total Equity 243,470 282,118

The RiskCover Fund is the Government of Western Australia’s self-insurance scheme which is administered by the Insurance
Commission. The RiskCover Fund provides cover to the Government of Western Australia's agencies. Workers’ compensation
is the major class of cover provided to agencies and covers approximately 120,000 full-time equivalent Government
employees.

The financial statements of the RiskCover Fund are not consolidated as its assets are controlled by the Government of Western
Australia and not by the Insurance Commission.

Investment Income
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3.6 RiskCover Fund (continued)

3.6.3 Financial Disclosures

(a) Premium Revenue

(b)  Premium Adjustment

(c)  Investments

Total outstanding premiums are recalculated periodically based on new actuarial data. The updated data allows for a re-
estimation of the outstanding premium receivable from or payable to client agencies for all unadjusted years. Premium
adjustments reflect the movement in this premium receivable or payable. In 2019, outstanding premium receivable from
agencies increased by $5.9 million (2018: decrease $8.9 million). This represents a deterioration of claims experience in the
workers' compensation class.

Represented by a Floating Rate Promissory Note owed to the RiskCover Fund by the Insurance Commission (refer Note 4.4).

Except as stated below, the significant accounting policies adopted in preparing the RiskCover Fund's financial statements are
consistent with those used in preparing the Insurance Commission's financial statements.

As the RiskCover Fund is a State Government self-insurance vehicle, it is not bound by AASB 1023, 'General Insurance
Contracts' or by the requirements of the Australian Prudential Regulatory Authority (APRA).

In determining the outstanding claims liability the RiskCover Fund follows the requirements of AASB 137 'Provisions,
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets'. Like AASB 1023, this standard also requires the use of a risk-free discount factor
when determining the outstanding claims liability however it differs significantly in that it does not require the inclusion of a
prudential margin. 

In 2006, the State Government Expenditure Review Committee (ERC) authorised the RiskCover Fund to maintain a separate
Prudential Reserve equivalent in value to an APRA prudential margin sufficient to achieve a 75% likelihood of adequacy for
the provision for outstanding claims. In 2019, the Prudential Reserve was calculated to be $60.2 million (2018: $61.5
million).

The RiskCover Fund's assets are not owned by the Insurance Commission and are therefore not consolidated. The investment
assets of the RiskCover Fund are however, included in the investment pool of the Insurance Commission, represented by a
Floating Rate Promissory Note (refer Note 4.4). The RiskCover Fund earns an investment return or shares investment losses in
proportion to its share of the Main Fund's investment pool. Any retained earnings or losses in the RiskCover Fund represent an
asset or liability of the Government of Western Australia and not of the Insurance Commission.

From 1 July 2018, the Civil Liability Act 2002 was amended to remove the statute of limitations for child sexual abuse. This
has resulted in new claims arising in the RiskCover Fund in the 2019 financial year.

This Fund is not liable to pay income tax equivalents under current arrangements with the Department of Treasury.

In 2017, the ERC authorised the transfer of surplus capital above the targeted reserve to the Government of Western
Australia. The targeted reserve level is 135% solvency. As at 30 June 2019, the Balance Sheet includes a provision for a
$69.5 million return of surplus capital (2018: $162.3 million).

When determining the premiums for the Workers' Compensation and Liability classes, the RiskCover Fund relies on claims
costs that have been actuarially assessed at the net central estimate. 

Premiums initially charged to client agencies at the beginning of each year for the Workers' Compensation and Motor Vehicle
classes represent premium deposits. These premiums are subject to adjustment at a later date (two years after the close of the
risk period for Workers' Compensation and at the end of the risk period for Motor Vehicle) to take into account the forecast
ultimate claims costs, claims administration expenses and reinsurance expenses. This adjustment enables rewards and
sanctions to be applied to agency performance. The performance adjustment settled with agencies during the 2019 year was
a return of $41.4 million (2018: return of $37 million).
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3.6 RiskCover Fund (continued)

3.6.3 Financial Disclosures (continued)

(d)  Outstanding Claims 2019 2018
$'000 $'000

Central Estimate 528,185 516,124
Discount to Present Value (16,478) (32,304)

511,707 483,820
Claims Handling Costs 49,779 49,288

Gross Outstanding Claims 561,486 533,108

Current 218,649 203,570
Non-Current 342,837 329,538

561,486 533,108

(e) Reconciliation of Movement in Discounted Outstanding Claims

Gross Recoveries Net
$'000 $'000 $'000

Outstanding Claims at 1 July 2018 533,108 18,804 514,304

Effect of Changes in Assumptions/Experience 8,776 (221) 8,997
Increase in Expected Claims Incurred/Recoveries During Year 223,509 6,341 217,168

232,285 6,120 226,165

Claim Payments/Recoveries During Year (203,907) (7,746) (196,161)

Outstanding Claims at 30 June 2019 561,486 17,178 544,308

(f) Actuarial Assumptions

Inflation Rate

Discount Rate

Superimposed Inflation

Claims Management Expenses

Average Term to Settlement

Incurred Claims Recognised in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income

Varies from 2.3% for 2020, 2.8% for 2021, 
3% for 2022 and decreasing to 1.6% by 
2035

Varies from 1.8% for 2019, 2.8% for 2020, 
3% for 2021 and decreasing to 2% by 2034

Varies from 1% for 2020, 0.9% for 2021, 
0.9% for 2022 and increasing to 3.3% by 
2049

Varies from 1.9% for 2019, 2.1% for 2020, 
2.2% for 2021 and increasing to 4.5% by 
2048

2019

11% of net claim payments for workers 
compensation, 6% of gross claim payments 
for General Liability and Abuse Claims, 9% of 
gross claim payments for Professional 
Indemnity and Treatment Risk, 12% of net 
claim payments for short tail claims

12% of net claim payments for workers 
compensation, 6% of gross claim payments 
for General Liability and Department of 
Communities, 9% of gross claim payments for 
Professional Indemnity and Treatment Risk, 
13% of net claim payments for short tail 
claims

The following table provides the key actuarial assumptions made in determining the outstanding claims liabilities:

2.3 years for workers compensation and 3.7 
years for liability, 0.65 years for short tail 
claims

Varies by segment and method for workers 
compensation. Small claims 2.5% for General 
Liability and Professional Indemnity, 3% for 
Treatment Risk

Varies by segment and method for workers 
compensation. Small claims 2.5% for General 
Liability and Professional Indemnity, 3% for 
Treatment Risk

2018

2.1 years for workers compensation and 3.8 
years for liability, 0.69 years for short tail 
claims
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3.6 RiskCover Fund (continued)

3.6.3 Financial Disclosures (continued)

(g) Sensitivity Analysis

Variable
Change in 

Variable
%

Net of 
Recoveries

 $'000

Gross of 
Recoveries

 $'000
Inflation +1 (13,225) (13,583)
Inflation -1 14,241 14,627
Discount +1 13,882 14,258
Discount -1 (13,158) (13,514)

Movement in Outstanding 
Claims

Note that the impact of change in the variables on outstanding claim liabilities moves in a direction opposite to the impact on
profits.

The RiskCover Fund is exempt from the National Tax Equivalent Regime.

The table below illustrates how changes in key assumptions would impact equity and profit.
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4. Investments

4.1 Investment Income

2019 2018
Notes $'000 $'000

Investment Income
Investment Property 112 11,299
Dividends 114,513 136,320
Interest 34,066 39,058
Changes in Fair Values: Unrealised Gain 26,873 88,342
Changes in Fair Values: Realised Gain 135,779 136,524
Gain on Disposal of Investment Property - 16,241
Foreign Exchange: Unrealised Gain 35,720 26,143
Foreign Exchange: Realised Gain/(Loss) 3,025 (7,588)
Other 371 402

350,459 446,741

4.2 Investment Expenses

Investment Expenses
Investment Property (8) 3,160
Investment Management Costs and Custodian Fees 17,021 16,164
Administration 1,809 2,130

18,822 21,454

RiskCover Fund Investment Return (i) 54,264 95,656

73,086 117,110

(i)

Interest revenue is recognised as the interest accrues, based on the effective interest method. Dividends received are
recognised when the right to receive payment is established. Foreign exchange gain/(loss) is the difference between the
different exchange rates at transaction date and reporting date. 

Represents the RiskCover Fund's share of gains of the Main Fund's investment pool.
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4.3 Investment Assets

2019 2018
Notes $'000 $'000

Current Investments
Fixed and Floating Rate Bonds 108,326 14,000
Fixed Interest Unit Trusts 258,720 250,099
Equities - Listed 2,515,497 2,295,531
Equity Unit Trusts 279,025 252,126
Alternative Assets Unit Trusts 291,766 484,769
Margin Account 558 127
Cash and Cash Equivalent Assets 8.7 1,187,358 1,220,438
Receivables 34,411 31,554
Forward Foreign Exchange Contracts 4.6(c) 4,127 (6,499)

4,679,788 4,542,145

Non-Current Investments
Alternative Assets Unit Trusts 288,712 254,807
Property Trust - Unlisted 537,335 529,265

826,047 784,072

5,505,835 5,326,217

  (a) Valuation of Investments

Fixed and Floating Rate Bonds

Fixed Interest, Equity, Alternative Assets and Property Trusts

Equities-Listed

Margin Account

Cash and Cash Equivalent Assets

Bonds are priced using brokers' quotes, comparable prices for similar instruments or pricing techniques set by local regulators
or exchanges.

Trusts are valued using the current unit price on a bid price basis as advised by the responsible entity, trustee or equivalent. A
combination of observable market prices, comparable prices for similar instruments where available or other valuation
techniques may be used in determining the current unit price.

Investment assets are considered to back general insurance liabilities of the Insurance Commission. The management of
financial assets is closely monitored to ensure that there is always sufficient liquidity in investments to meet cash flows arising
from general insurance liabilities and policy liabilities.

Investment assets are initially recognised at cost and subsequently measured at fair value. The approach to measuring the fair
value of investments is described below:

Listed equities traded in active markets are valued by reference to quoted bid prices.

Cash deposits held by brokers for margins are recorded at face value of the amount deposited or drawn. The carrying
amount of these deposits equates to fair value.

Cash and Cash Equivalent Assets are held at cost plus accrued interest which equates to fair value.



161INSURANCE COMMISSION ANNUAL REPORT 2019

5. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Notes to the Financial Statements

4.3 Investment Assets (continued)

Investment Receivables

Forward Foreign Exchange Contracts

Critical Accounting Judgement and Estimates

(b) Fair Value Hierarchy

The following tables detail the valuation of the Insurance Commission's Investments using the Fair Value Hierarchy:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
2019 Notes $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Current Investments
Fixed and Floating Rate Bonds - 108,326 - 108,326
Fixed Interest Unit Trusts - 258,720 - 258,720
Equities - Listed 2,515,497 - - 2,515,497
Equity Unit Trusts - 279,025 - 279,025
Alternative Assets Unit Trusts - 291,766 - 291,766
Margin Account - 558 - 558
Cash and Cash Equivalent Assets 8.7 199,128 988,230 - 1,187,358
Receivables - 34,411 - 34,411
Forward Foreign Exchange Contracts 4.6(c) - 4,127 - 4,127

2,714,625 1,965,163 - 4,679,788

Non-Current Investments
Alternative Assets Unit Trusts - - 288,712 288,712
Property Trust - Unlisted - - 537,335 537,335

- - 826,047 826,047

2,714,625 1,965,163 826,047 5,505,835

Due to the nature of these receivables, their carrying value is assumed to approximate their fair value.

The Forward Foreign Exchange Contracts are valued by comparing the contractual rate to the current market rate for a
contract with the same remaining period to maturity.

The Insurance Commission's investment portfolio includes unlisted items. The valuations of these are subject to estimation.
Fair values of units in Fixed Interest, Unlisted Equity and Alternative Assets Trusts are determined using the Net Asset Value
(NAV) per unit applicable for redemption on the last day of the financial year. The NAV is calculated by deducting the value
of its liabilities from the value of the unlisted unit trust's gross assets. Unit values denominated in foreign currency are
converted to Australian dollars at rates of exchange current at the end of the reporting period. Unlisted Property Trusts are
valued by the Trustee at market values based upon independent valuations of the properties held. A unit price is advised to
unit holders, which forms the basis for the calculation of market value at the end of the reporting period which equates to fair
value.

The Fair Value Hierarchy assigns rankings to the level of judgement which is applied in deriving inputs for valuation
techniques used to measure fair value.  The three levels of the Fair Value Hierarchy are as follows:

Level 1 is the preferred input for valuation and reflects unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities which the economic entity can access at the end of the reporting period. A financial instrument is regarded as
quoted in an active market if quoted prices are readily and regularly available from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry
group, pricing service or regulatory agency and those prices represent actual and regularly occurring market transactions on
an arms length basis.

Level 2 is the valuation of assets and liabilities either directly or indirectly based upon market observables other than quoted
prices. For example: Investments with fair values based on broker quotes or investments in unlisted trusts with fair values
obtained via fund managers. 

Level 3 relates to inputs that are unobservable. Unobservable inputs means that fair values are determined in whole or in part
using a valuation technique (model) based on assumptions that are neither supported by prices from observable current
market transactions in the same instrument nor are they based on available market data.
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4.3 Investment Assets (continued)

(b) Fair Value Hierarchy (continued)

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
2018 Notes $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Current Investments
Fixed and Floating Rate Bonds - 14,000 - 14,000
Fixed Interest Unit Trusts - 250,099 - 250,099
Equities - Listed 2,295,531 - - 2,295,531
Equity Unit Trusts - 252,126 - 252,126
Alternative Assets Unit Trusts - 484,769 - 484,769
Margin Account - 127 - 127
Cash and Cash Equivalent Assets 8.7 274,065 946,373 - 1,220,438
Receivables - 31,554 - 31,554
Forward Foreign Exchange Contracts 4.6(c) - (6,499) - (6,499)

2,569,596 1,972,549 - 4,542,145

Non-Current Investments
Alternative Assets Unit Trusts - - 254,807 254,807
Property Trust - Unlisted - - 529,265 529,265

- - 784,072 784,072

2,569,596 1,972,549 784,072 5,326,217

There were no significant transfers between Level 1, 2 or 3 during the year.

Valuation Technique Inputs Utilised

The following tables detail the change in value associated with Level 3 Investments:

Opening 
Balance

Transfers 
In/(Out)

Unrealised 
Gain/(Loss)

Realised 
Gain/(Loss)

Purchases/ 
(Sales)

Closing 
Balance

2019 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Non-Current Investments
Alternative Assets Unit Trusts 254,807 (7,786) 29,315 - 12,376 288,712
Property Trust - Unlisted 529,265 (3,944) (5,102) - 17,116 537,335

784,072 (11,730) 24,213 - 29,492 826,047

Forward Foreign Exchange 
Contracts

Margin Account
Cash and Cash Equivalents

Receivables Cost

Market Comparison: Comparable contract prices Price, Currency, Time span

Carrying Value of Receivables

Fixed Interest Unit Trusts
Equity Unit Trusts
Alternative Assets Unit Trusts

Face Value, Interest Rate, Time 
span

Cost plus Income
Cost: Face value of amounts deposited/drawn

Unit Price, Quantity
Unit Price, Quantity
Face Value

Quoted prices: Unit price quoted by Manager
Quoted prices: Unit price quoted by Manager

Quoted prices: Unit price quoted by Manager Unit Price, Quantity

Market Comparison: Quoted prices or comparable prices Price, Time span, Interest 
Rates

The table below provides information about the valuation technique and inputs utilised in fair value measurement (Level 2):

Fixed Interest Bonds
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4.3 Investment Assets (continued)

(b) Fair Value Hierarchy (continued)

Valuation 
Technique

Inputs Utilised

Unit Price Unit Price +/- 20%

Unit Price Unit Price +/- 20%

The table below illustrates the sensitivity of Level 3 fair value to change:

2019 2018 2019 2018
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Non-Current Investments
+20 57,742 50,961
-20 (57,742) (50,961)

+20 107,467 105,853
-20 (107,467) (105,853)

4.4 Financial Liabilities - RiskCover Fund Investments

2019 2018
$'000 $'000

Current
Floating Rate Promissory Note 908,449 1,054,785

908,449 1,054,785

Valuation of the Floating Rate Promissory Note

Fair Value Hierarchy

There were no significant transfers between Level 1, 2 and 3 during the year.

4.5 Investment Commitments

In 2017, the Board committed to invest $122.7 million in an unlisted infrastructure fund. $38.2 million has been invested to
date. At 30 June 2019, $84.5 million of the commitment to invest remained.

Property Trust - 
Unlisted

Quoted prices: Unit Price 
quoted by Manager

Change %

Fair Value
Increase/(Decrease)

Fair Value

The Floating Rate Promissory Note represents the RiskCover Fund's share of the Main Fund's investment pool. The RiskCover
Fund is allocated its share of the monthly movements in the Main Fund's investment pool through the Floating Rate Promissory
Note by means of a valuation model which primarily apportions an amount equal to the Main Fund's earning rate multiplied
by the daily balance of the RiskCover Fund.

The fair value of the Floating Rate Promissory Note has been categorised as a Level 2 fair value based on the inputs to the
valuation technique used. The hierarchy is explained in more detail in Note 4.3(b).

537,335 529,265

288,712 254,807

Alternative Assets 
Unit Trusts

Quoted prices: Unit Price 
quoted by Manager

The table below provides information about the valuation technique and inputs utilised in fair value measurement (Level 3):

Range of Unobservable 
Inputs (Weighted Average)

The fair value would increase/ 
(decrease) if the unit price was 
higher/(lower)

The fair value would increase/ 
(decrease) if the unit price was 
higher/(lower)

Relationship of Unobservable 
Inputs to Fair Value

Property Trust - Unlisted

Alternative Assets Unit Trusts
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4.6 Financial Instruments

(a) Purpose for which Derivative Transactions are Undertaken

(b) Futures
2019 2018

$'000 $'000
At the end of the reporting period, the details of outstanding contracts are:

Up to 1 year

Interest Rate Futures
Notional Principal Amount of Asset 20,531 -

Equity Futures
Notional Principal Amount of Asset                                                  13,282 3,228

(c) Forward Foreign Exchange Contracts

Notional Notional
Assets Liabilities Amount Assets Liabilities Amount
2019 2019 2019 2018 2018 2018

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Up to 3 months 420,103 (415,977) 420,103 381,883 (388,382) 381,883

Total 420,103 (415,977) 420,103 381,883 (388,382) 381,883

Derivative financial instruments are initially recognised at fair value and are subsequently remeasured to fair value at the
reporting date. For derivatives traded in an active market, the fair value of derivatives is determined by reference to quoted
market prices. For derivatives that are not traded or which are traded in a market that is not sufficiently active, fair value is
determined using generally accepted valuation techniques.

A derivative financial instrument is a contract whose existence is derived from the value of or changes in the value of an
underlying investment security. The Insurance Commission's external Investment Managers may use derivatives to gain
access to or hedge the investment portfolio in line with the Insurance Commission's investment strategy.

Derivatives are not used in a speculative manner and Investment Managers are not permitted to leverage the investment
portfolio. Derivative instruments are used to economically hedge or minimise risk incurred. Therefore, whenever derivative
positions are created, cash or the underlying physical security is held to cover any potential liability. The face value of the
underlying security, valued at current market values, is used to determine the equivalent dollar value of the derivative
product. At the end of the reporting period, all of the Insurance Commission's derivative positions were matched by cash or
the underlying security.

The Insurance Commission has appointed a Currency Overlay Manager to enter into forward foreign exchange contracts to
manage the currency risk associated with overseas equity and Global Unlisted Infrastructure exposure. At 30 June 2019,
the level of the currency hedge was 25%.

The above contracts are marked to market by comparing the contractual rate to the current market rate for a contract with
the same remaining period to maturity. Any unrealised gain or loss is taken to the Statement of Comprehensive Income
immediately. At the end of the reporting period, a net unrealised loss on these contracts amounted to $4.1 million (2018:
loss of $6.5 million).

The Notional Principal Amount (effective exposure) of the above equity futures is backed by an equal amount of cash. If all
futures contracts were exercised at the end of the reporting period, the Insurance Commission could effectively replace the
futures with cash holdings. The Notional Principal Amount, shown above, is not considered to be materially different to
their fair value.
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5. Risk Management

5.1 Overview

(a) Governance Framework

(b) External Regulatory Frameworks and Capital Management

5.2 Insurance Risk Management

(a) Objectives in Managing Risks arising from General Insurance Contracts and Policies for Mitigating those Risks

-
-

-

(b) Concentration Risk 

Third Party Insurance Fund (TPIF) and Motor Vehicle (Catastrophic Injuries) Fund (MVCIF)

Reporting by the Insurance Commission is subject to AASB Standards as amended by Treasurer's Instructions (refer Note 1.1).
Many of the AASB standards mirror best practice requirements such as those incorporated in APRA guidelines. Where
matters relevant to the Insurance Commission relate to APRA guidelines which are not covered by AASB Standards (such as
APRA Prudential Capital Requirements), the Board considers what risk mitigation practices may be required. The Insurance
Commission considers its retained earnings as its core capital. A review of movements in capital is undertaken periodically
and submitted to the Board for consideration.

The Insurance Commission's activities primarily involve the issuing of insurance policies and managing claims. In doing this,
the Insurance Commission seeks to minimise the cost of risk to the insured and to efficiently manage claims.

The Insurance Commission has a framework for the identification, assessment and management of risks. Key processes for the
mitigation of risks faced in the business operations of the Insurance Commission include:

Independent actuarial assessments to monitor claims trends and develop statistical models to predict the outstanding
claims liabilities for the various Funds.
The mix of assets and investment managers in which the Insurance Commission invests is driven by the nature and term
of insurance liabilities. Management monitors assets and liabilities to ensure claim payments can be met when
required.

The Insurance Commission strives to achieve best practice, appropriate to the Insurance Commission's size, function and
culture in the management of risks that impact on the Insurance Commission and its stakeholders.

The risks the Insurance Commission manages include strategic, insurance, counterparty, operational, compliance, financial
and reputational risks. Financial risks include market, foreign exchange, interest rate, credit, liquidity and asset and liability
risks.

Management of risk forms a part of operational and supervisory responsibilities and is integrated into business planning
cycles.  

The Board has overall responsibility for risk management. The Insurance Commission’s Executive Committee determines risk
policy, objectives, procedures and guidelines and monitors implementation, practice and performance. The Audit and Risk
Committee of the Board supports the Board in its oversight of risk management. Board guidance on acceptable risk is set out
in the risk appetite statement. Each business unit is responsible for identifying, analysing and assessing operational and
strategic risks.  

Internal Audit, which is provided by an independent external provider, assists in the identification, monitoring and evaluation
of risk and gives assurance to the Audit and Risk Committee and Board on higher risk categories. 

Unlike private insurers, the Insurance Commission is not subject to regulation by the Australian Prudential Regulatory Authority
(APRA) due to the Insurance Act 1973  not being applicable to the Insurance Commission and equivalent state insurers.

The motor injury insurance policy provides an unlimited indemnity to the owner or driver of a Western Australian registered
vehicle in respect to the death or bodily injury to any other person directly caused by, or by the driving of that vehicle within
Australia. The policy also provides cover on a no-fault basis to any person catastrophically injured by a registrable motor
vehicle in a Western Australian crash, who cannot establish a liability for negligence on any other party. Most of the risk is
concentrated within Western Australia.

Use of information systems to provide up-to-date, reliable data on the risks the Insurance Commission is exposed to.
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5.2 Insurance Risk Management (continued)

Compensation (Industrial Diseases) Fund (CIDF)

Government Insurance Fund (GIF)

Insurance Commission General Fund (ICGF)

Employers’ Indemnity Supplementation Fund (EISF)

(c) Development of Outstanding Claims Liability 

Nevertheless the provision for outstanding claims liability is subject to significant uncertainty, related to:
- Future trends in claim frequency;
- Future changes in social and judicial attitudes;
- Changes in legislation; and
- Changes in economic conditions (e.g. inflation, investment returns).

5.3 Financial Risk Management

During the years ICGF contracts of insurance were issued, exposure to significant concentration risk was mitigated by having
a diversified portfolio across the large geographic area of Western Australia. As this fund has been in run-off for a
considerable time, the concentration risk has increased as the majority of outstanding liabilities at the end of the reporting
period arise from risks associated with common law liability and long-tail workers’ compensation claims.

To mitigate the risk contained in the ICGF, the majority of which stems from the common law liability resulting from asbestos
mining activities at Wittenoom between 1943 and 1966, a Deed of Agreement exists between the Insurance Commission,
CSR Limited and Midalco Pty Ltd providing the Insurance Commission with a reimbursement for a set proportion of losses
incurred from these activities.

The CIDF has an exposure to concentration risk as it is restricted to one class of business and operates solely within Western
Australia. This risk is mitigated by the surplus held by the Fund and the decreased exposure to harmful mineral dust in
modern mining operations, resulting in lower incidence rates.

During the years that GIF contracts of insurance were issued, exposure to significant concentration risk was mitigated by
having a diversified portfolio across the large geographic area of Western Australia. As this fund has been in run-off for a
considerable time, the concentration risk has increased as the majority of outstanding liabilities at the end of the reporting
period arise from risks associated with common law liability (including abuse claims) and long-tail workers’ compensation
claims. The Insurance Commission has an indemnification from the Government of Western Australia for Fund deficits from
the run-off of the GIF.

The PGIs set out the authorised investments which the Insurance Commission may hold in its investment portfolio along with
minimum credit rating requirements for Cash, Fixed Interest and over-the-counter derivative instruments. The PGIs also set out
the Insurance Commission’s investment powers, investment objectives and asset allocation.

At the end of the reporting period, all claims made against the Insurance Commission under the EISF result from insurance
contracts associated with the workers’ compensation class of business and as a result there is considerable concentration risk.
This risk is mitigated by a requirement under the EISF that the Insurance Commission has a right of reimbursement from
WorkCover WA for all costs associated with the run-off of claims under this Fund. 

The majority of insurance contracts under the management of the Insurance Commission deal with classes of insurance where
the estimate of liability is subject to material change following the close of the contract period. Claims Development Tables
have been provided (refer Note 3) which detail outstanding claims estimates for underwriting years at successive year-ends.

To ensure the adequacy of outstanding claims provisions all active claims have estimates placed by a Claims Officer, and
independent actuaries review the outstanding claims provisions at least annually. The Insurance Commission has adopted a
prudential margin which is sufficient to achieve a 75% level of adequacy based solely on liability risk (i.e. with no allowance
for asset risk or asset returns above risk-free rates). The central claims estimate is first discounted to present value using risk-
free rates. The prudential margin is then added to this to arrive at the provision for outstanding claims liability.

The Insurance Commission is subject to a number of key financial risks which include market risk, liquidity risk, interest rate
risk, foreign exchange risk and credit risk. To minimise exposure to these risks, which can affect assets and liabilities backing
insurance contracts, the Insurance Commission’s investment decisions are undertaken in accordance with Prudential
Guidelines for Investments (PGIs) approved by the Treasurer of Western Australia.
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(a) Market Risk

Currency Risk

-

- Unit Trusts are managed in accordance with relevant Trust Deeds.

The Board, in consultation with its independent asset consultant and input from the Investments Division, determines investment
strategy, asset allocation mix, investment manager configuration and recommends investment manager appointments to the
Treasurer of Western Australia. The allocation of assets between the various types of financial instruments is determined to
achieve each Fund's investment objectives. Divergence from target asset allocations and the composition of the portfolios are
monitored by the Chief Investment Officer.

The Insurance Commission’s investing activities expose it to market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk from its use of financial
instruments. The Board has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Insurance Commission’s risks for its
investment activities.

The Insurance Commission has two investment Funds, Main Fund and MVCIF. In order to return the most efficient investment
operation possible for all of the Insurance Commission's funds, the Board has approved pooling the investments and
calculating MVCIF's investment portfolio value on a pro rata basis. The total investment portfolio is managed by a
combination of external and internal investment managers. The Investments Division is responsible for managing the Main
Fund and MVCIF Cash portfolios. Managers with discrete portfolios have investment mandates which set out risk parameters
restricting their investment activities. Managers of pooled investment vehicles are selected having regard to the risk
parameters of each Trust Deed.

Compliance monitoring is undertaken on a daily basis by the external Custodian. The Custodian reports to the Investments
Division on compliance of discrete portfolios with respect to each individual investment mandate. This includes compliance
with authorised investments, limits on allocations relating to the size of individual investments, issuers or sectors and credit
rating requirements as set out in the PGIs. Any findings/breaches are immediately confirmed with the external investment
manager and steps are taken to rectify. All material compliance incidents are reported to the Audit and Risk Committee.

External investment managers provide the Investments Division with a risk management document which sets out their
processes and procedures for managing derivatives. Derivatives are not used in the internally managed investment portfolios.
Each external investment manager is requested on an annual basis to provide the Investments Division with an audit sign-off
relating to adherence with its internal policies and procedures. The Insurance Commission’s internal auditors review the
policies and procedures relating to internally managed investment portfolios.

All investment managers are required to meet performance targets based on market indices (benchmarks) for their respective
asset classes.  The Investments Division continually monitors the performance of all managers including its own performance.

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rates, foreign exchange rates and equity prices will affect
the Insurance Commission’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. Market risk comprises three types of
risk: currency risk (due to fluctuations in foreign exchange rates); interest rate risk (due to fluctuations in market interest rates);
and price risk (due to fluctuations in market prices). The objective of market risk management is to manage and control
market risk exposures within acceptable parameters while optimising the return on investments.

The Insurance Commission is exposed to currency risk arising from transactions denominated in foreign currencies. This
foreign currency exposure is held for portfolio diversification and risk mitigation. Risk mitigation is provided through access to
defensive currencies that provide returns and liquidity in times of market stress when the Australian dollar weakens.

The Investments Division is responsible for providing the Currency Overlay Manager with updated portfolio values to be
hedged. The effectiveness of the currency management processes and the related use of derivatives are actively monitored by
the Chief Investment Officer and the external Custodian.

Net foreign currency exposures are managed as follows:
A currency overlay is used to passively hedge 25% (2018: 25%) of Global Equities exposures excluding Emerging 
Market trusts. 
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2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018
$'000 $'000 % % $'000 $'000

+20 +20 79,147 91,411
-20 -20 (79,147) (91,411)

+20 +20 24,140 28,276
-20 -20 (24,140) (28,276)

+20 +20 10,791 15,576
-20 -20 (10,791) (15,576)

+20 +20 8,675 11,118
-20 -20 (8,675) (11,118)

+20 +20 7,435 5,065
-20 -20 (7,435) (5,065)

+20 +20 4,315 5,784
-20 -20 (4,315) (5,784)

Interest Rate Risk

2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018
$'000 $'000 % % $'000 $'000

+1 +1 91 45
-1 -1 (91) (45)

Investments
+1 +1 3,769 98
-1 -1 (3,769) (98)

+1 +1 1,112 1,091
-1 -1 (1,112) (1,091)

+1 +1 8,312 8,543
-1 -1 (8,312) (8,543)

The analysis below demonstrates the impact on profit after tax (assumed at a tax rate of 30%) and equity of a movement in
foreign currency exchange rates against the Australian dollar on major currency exposures within the investment portfolio at
the end of the reporting period. The analysis shows the total currency exposure before the currency hedge overlay (where
applicable) has been applied:

Exposure Change in Currency Rate
Profit/(Loss) and Equity

Increase/(Decrease)

United States Dollars 565,336 652,936

Great British Pounds 77,081 111,258

These figures are inclusive of the Main Fund (including the RiskCover Fund's share) and the MVCIF. The RiskCover Fund's
share is offset by a liability in the accounts of the Insurance Commission (refer Note 4.4).

The Insurance Commission invests in short and long term fixed interest securities. Cash and cash equivalents are invested in
short-term securities with a maturity of less than one year.

The analysis below demonstrates the impact on profit after tax (assumed at a tax rate of 30%) and equity of movements in
interest rates in relation to the base value of interest-bearing investments:

Canadian Dollars 30,824 41,315

Euros 172,430 201,970

Japanese Yen 61,963 79,412

Hong Kong Dollars 53,105 36,181

Exposure Change in Interest Rate
Profit/(Loss) and Equity

Increase/(Decrease)

Fixed Interest Unit Trusts 258,720 250,099

Cash and Cash Equivalents 12,997 6,434

Fixed Interest Bonds 108,326 14,000

Cash and Cash Equivalents 1,187,358 1,220,438
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Price Risk

2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018
$'000 $'000 % % $'000 $'000

+20 153,778 149,184
-20 (153,778) (149,184)

+20 79,640 64,927
-20 (79,640) (64,927)

+20 27,562 25,296
-20 (27,562) (25,296)

+20 15,503 15,435
-20 (15,503) (15,435)

+20 12,483 11,041
-20 (12,483) (11,041)

+20 10,872 10,055
-20 (10,872) (10,055)

+20 8,112 5,045
-20 (8,112) (5,045)

+20 7,088 6,901
-20 (7,088) (6,901)

+20 232,187 248,577
-20 (232,187) (248,577)

Price risk is the risk that the value of the instrument will fluctuate as a result of changes in market prices (other than those
arising from interest rate or currency risk), whether caused by factors specific to the individual investment, its issuer or other
factors broadly affecting all instruments in the market. Since the majority of investments are reported at fair value, a change
in market conditions will directly affect net investment income.

ASX 1,098,411 1,065,597

Dow Jones 568,857 463,766

Price risk is mitigated by the Insurance Commission holding a diversified investment portfolio. Diversification is achieved
across instruments, issuers, asset classes, geographies and investment managers.

At 30 June 2019, 46% (2018: 43%) of the Insurance Commission’s investment assets were listed equities and 30% (2018:
33%) were unlisted trusts. The analysis below demonstrates the impact on profit after tax (assumed at a tax rate of 30%) and
equity of movements in the price of listed equities and unlisted trusts:

Exposure Change in Market Price
Profit/(Loss) and Equity

Increase/(Decrease)

+20

+20

FTSE 110,739 110,249

Tokyo 89,167 78,861

NASDAQ 196,869 180,686

Hong Kong 57,942 36,034

Euronext Paris 50,627 49,293

German Xetra 77,656 71,819

Unlisted Trusts 1,658,481 1,775,551

These figures are inclusive of the Main Fund (including the RiskCover Fund's share) and the MVCIF. The RiskCover Fund's
share is offset by a liability in the accounts of the Insurance Commission (refer Note 4.4).

+20

+20

+20

+20

+20

+20

+20
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(b) Credit Risk

2019 2018
$'000 $'000

AAA to AAA- rating 965 1,151
AA+ to AA- rating 96,604 12,778
A+ to A- ratings 27,678 22,252
BBB+ to BBB- ratings 69,706 54,364
Below Investment Grade 167,082 166,516
A1 to A2  (short-term) rating 1,187,358 1,220,438

Credit Risk Exposure 1,549,393 1,477,499

Insurance and Reinsurance Related Credit Risk

-

-

-

-

Emerging market fixed interest securities are restricted to 20% of the total overseas fixed interest exposure and must be
securities issued by Sovereign Governments.

Credit risk arising on transactions with brokers is managed by investment managers. The investment managers minimise
concentration risk by transacting with numerous brokers.   

The Insurance Commission has the following significant credit risk exposures to single counterparties with similar
characteristics: National Australia Bank 11%; Westpac Banking Corporation 5% and Commonwealth Bank 7%. The
Insurance Commission also has 63.3% (2018: 62.9%) of its recognised investments in Australia.

The carrying amount of the Insurance Commission's investments is the best representation of the maximum credit risk
exposure.

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty to a financial instrument will default on its contractual obligations resulting in
financial loss to the Insurance Commission. The Insurance Commission’s credit policy is contained in the PGIs and sets out the
minimum credit rating requirements for cash, fixed interest and over-the-counter derivatives. Credit risk in these securities is
mitigated by predominantly investing in rated instruments issued by rated counterparties with credit ratings of at least 'A2-' or
better as determined by Standard and Poor's for securities up to 12 months maturity and 'BBB-' for securities more than 12
months to maturity.  

The average credit rating of holdings within the overseas fixed interest unit trusts is monitored quarterly by the Investments
Division. Breaches of the credit rating policy are rectified immediately. All credit rating breaches are reported to the Audit
and Risk Committee.

The credit quality of current and past reinsurance counterparties is actively monitored.

The following table relates to the market values of officially rated bonds, short-term discount securities and deposits at call as
per Standard and Poor's ratings. AAA is the highest possible rating. Rated assets falling outside the range of AAA to BBB-
are classified as below investment grade. The table excludes listed and unlisted equities, non-fixed interest unit trusts and
alternative assets which are subject to market risk rather than credit risk. In addition, this table excludes reinsurance and
other recoveries which are shown separately later in this Note. Right of Indemnities (refer Note 2.7) with government
agencies are also excluded from this analysis.

The Insurance Commission also has exposure to credit risk for the reinsurance and other recovery arrangements it enters into
to offset insurance contract risk. The Insurance Commission reinsures to protect capital and reduce volatility in the event of
catastrophic loss. The strategy used for the selection, approval and monitoring of reinsurance arrangements is as follows:

Reinsurance is approved and placed in accordance with Board delegations and authorisations, which include
minimum financial credit ratings for reinsurance counterparties. 
The Department of Treasury annually endorses the retention limits and the limit of reinsurance cover purchased for the
RiskCover Fund. 
Reinsurance arrangements are reviewed annually to monitor their effectiveness and suitability of coverage, based on
changes in risk exposures, historical losses and the potential for future losses. The financial capacity of the Funds to
withstand loss and the cost of reinsurance protection are factors taken into account in determining the level of risk
retention.  
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5.3 Financial Risk Management (continued)

Insurance Commission
AAA AA A BBB

Speculative 
Grade Total

Reinsurance and Other Recoveries
Third Party Insurance Fund 140,733 23,120 14,220 - 3,086 181,159

Motor Vehicle (Catastrophic Injuries) Fund 23,127 - - - - 23,127

21 - - 177 - 198

792 - - - 2,118 2,910

638 - - 21,085 740 22,463

Total Reinsurance and Other Recoveries 165,311 23,120 14,220 21,262 5,944 229,857

RiskCover Fund

Total Reinsurance and Other Recoveries 7,275 219 851 - 8,833 17,178

Insurance Commission
AAA AA A BBB

Speculative 
Grade Total

Reinsurance and Other Recoveries
Third Party Insurance Fund 132,432        13,471 9,764 - 3,300 158,967        

Motor Vehicle (Catastrophic Injuries) Fund 15,586 - - - - 15,586

16                 - - 272 - 288               

452               - - - 2,104            2,556            

627               - - 22,537 1,185            24,349          

Total Reinsurance and Other Recoveries 149,113        13,471          9,764            22,809           6,589            201,746        

RiskCover Fund

Total Reinsurance and Other Recoveries 6,627            481               1,865            -                 9,831            18,804          

The following tables provide information about the quality of the Insurance Commission's and the RiskCover Fund's credit risk exposure for reinsurance and
other recoveries on claims already paid and claims which remained outstanding at the end of the reporting period, but not yet 'invoiced' or claimed from
the relevant party. The analysis classifies the assets according to Standard and Poor's counterparty credit ratings. AAA is the highest possible rating.
Ratings that fall outside the range AAA to BBB and those which cannot be reliably rated, such as estimates of unknown third party recoveries, are classified
as speculative grade.  Input tax credits recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office have all been classified as AAA rating.

2019  ($'000)

Compensation (Industrial Diseases) Fund

Government Insurance Fund

Government Insurance Fund

Insurance Commission General Fund

Insurance Commission General Fund

2018  ($'000)

Compensation (Industrial Diseases) Fund
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(c) Liquidity Risk

Insurance Commission Less than 1 to 2 2 to 5 More than
1 Year Years Years 5 Years

Outstanding Claims
Third Party Insurance Fund 488,274          445,573          846,070          752,318          2,532,235      

Motor Vehicle (Catastrophic Injuries) Fund 22,161            14,584            37,905            723,818          798,468         

Compensation (Industrial Diseases) Fund 597                 424                 886                 2,169              4,076             

Government Insurance Fund 8,307             8,153            23,372          38,628           78,460          

Insurance Commission General Fund 7,818             6,787            19,021          57,343           90,969          

Total Outstanding Claims 527,157        475,521        927,254        1,574,276      3,504,208      

Other Financial Liabilities
Payables 34,249 -                  -                  -                  34,249
RiskCover Fund Investments 908,449 -                  -                  -                  908,449

Total 1,469,855      475,521        927,254        1,574,276      4,446,906

RiskCover Fund
Total 214,289        113,242        141,606        105,172        574,309

Insurance Commission Less than 1 to 2 2 to 5 More than
1 Year Years Years 5 Years

Outstanding Claims
Third Party Insurance Fund 436,222          442,984          859,964          775,765          2,514,935        

Motor Vehicle (Catastrophic Injuries) Fund 17,182            11,505            29,150            707,871          765,708           

Compensation (Industrial Diseases) Fund 351                 304                 786                 2,353              3,794               

Government Insurance Fund 6,358             5,701            12,914          33,320           58,293            

9,209             7,868            21,192          64,338           102,607           

Total Outstanding Claims 469,322        468,362        924,006        1,583,647      3,445,337      

Other Financial Liabilities
Payables 33,549 - - - 33,549

1,054,785 - - - 1,054,785

Total 1,557,656      468,362        924,006        1,583,647      4,533,671      

RiskCover Fund
Total 200,695        108,783        148,187        106,922        564,587         

Liquidity risk refers to the risk that the Insurance Commission and the RiskCover Fund will not be able to meet their financial
obligations as they fall due. The Main Fund and MVCIF Cash Portfolios are managed to meet the day-to-day liquidity
requirements of the insurance business. The target cash allocation is 8% of the Main Fund and 5% of the MVCIF. Cash flows
are monitored daily. Cash requirements are met by redeeming investments with the Insurance Commission’s Equity and/or
Fixed Interest managers. These securities are considered to be liquid.  

RiskCover Fund Investments

2018  ($'000)
Maturity in

Total

At 30 June 2019, the mean term to maturity of the Cash Portfolio was 130 days (2018: 106 days). The following tables
detail the maturity profile of the Insurance Commission's and the RiskCover Fund's gross undiscounted outstanding claims
liability and certain other key financial liabilities, at the end of the reporting period:

2019  ($'000)
Maturity in

Total

Insurance Commission General Fund
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6. Tax

6.1 Income Tax Equivalent

2019 2018
$'000 $'000

Income Tax Equivalent Expense

Current Income Tax
Current Income Tax Equivalent Expense 64,609 109,482

(12,251) (2,995)

Deferred Income Tax
16,736 (1,437)

69,094 105,050

Amount Recognised in Other Comprehensive Income

124 (200)

Reconciliation of Income Tax to Prima Facie Tax Payable

272,859 382,739

81,858 114,822
Tax-Free Dividends and Utilisation of Foreign Tax Offsets (12,618) (9,564)

(146) 21
Current Year - Building Amortisation - (234)
Miscellaneous Items - 5

Income Tax Equivalent Expense 69,094 105,050

The effective tax rate of the Insurance Commission for 2019 was 25.3%  (2018: 27.4%)

Income Tax Equivalent Expense Recognised in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income

Profit Before Tax Equivalent

Re-meaurement of Gain/(Loss) on Defined Benefit Plans

Tax at the Statutory Income Tax Rate of 30%

Adjustments Recognised in the Current Year in Relation to Prior Years

Adjustments in Respect of Current Income Tax of Previous Years

Relating to Origination and Reversal of Temporary Differences

The Insurance Commission operates within the National Tax Equivalent Regime (NTER). All Funds of the Insurance
Commission are subject to the NTER, except for the Government Insurance Fund. Tax is calculated by reference to the
amount of tax equivalent payable or recoverable, to or from the Department of Treasury as calculated under the rules of the
NTER. These rules (with limited exceptions) follow the Income Tax legislation and utilise tax rates effective at the end of the
reporting period. As a consequence the Insurance Commission is required to comply with AASB 112, ‘Income Taxes’.

The income tax expense or benefit represents the tax payable or receivable on the current year’s taxable income based on
the prevailing income tax rate adjusted for changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities.
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6.2 Deferred Tax Equivalent

Deferred Tax Equivalent Expense

2019 2018 2019 2018
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Deferred Income Tax
Deferred Income Tax at 30 June relates to the following:

Deferred Tax Liabilities
- - - (22,351)

Investments (168,269) (155,694) 12,575 28,802
- (3) (3) (1,566)

Other - - - (1)

(168,269) (155,697)

Deferred Tax Assets
Depreciable Plant and Equipment 1,078 1,133 55 129
Trust Income (4,115) 8,773 12,888 (2,413)
Indirect Claims Settlement Costs 32,686 28,652 (4,034) (3,178)
Provisions - Various 13,962 9,217 (4,745) (858)

43,611 47,775

Net Deferred Income Tax Liability (124,658) (107,922)

Deferred Income Tax Equivalent Expense/(Benefit) 16,736 (1,436)

Deferred tax is accounted for using the balance sheet liability method for temporary differences between the carrying
amount of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding tax base of those items. Deferred tax assets
and liabilities are recognised for temporary differences at the tax rates that are expected to apply when the assets and
liabilities are realised or settled, based on tax rates that have been enacted or substantially enacted by reporting date.

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent it is probable that sufficient taxable amounts will be available against which
deductible temporary differences or unused tax losses and tax offsets can be utilised. However, deferred tax assets and
liabilities are not recognised if the temporary differences giving rise to them arise from the initial recognition of assets and
liabilities which affect neither taxable income nor accounting profit.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each financial year and reduced to the extent that it is
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset as the Insurance Commission settles its current tax assets and liabilities on a net
basis.

Balance Sheet
Statement of Comprehensive 

Income

Property Receipts

Revaluations of Investment Properties to Fair Value
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7. Explanatory Statement

Actual Budget Actual
2019 2019 2018 Budget 2019 Actual 2018

Notes        $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 % $'000 %

Premium Revenue 2.1 797,601 820,860 769,625 (23,259) (2.8)          27,976 3.6             
Reinsurance Premium Expense 2.2 (9,693) (6,700) (8,564) (2,993) (44.7)        (1,129) (13.2)          
Reinsurance Commission Revenue 2.1 975 670 854 305 45.5         121 14.2           

Net Premium Revenue 788,883 814,830 761,915 (25,947) (3.2) 26,968 3.5               

Claims Expense 2.2 (766,645) (747,843) (656,611) (18,802) (2.5)          (110,034) (16.8)          
Reinsurance and Other Recoveries Revenue 2.1 30,106 16,455 3,676 13,651 83.0         26,430 719.0         

Net Claims Incurred 2.3 (736,539) (731,388) (652,935) (5,151) (0.7)            (83,604) (12.8)            

RiskCover Fund Administration Cost Reimbursement 2.1 27,952 29,616 29,356 (1,664) (5.6) (1,404) (4.8)            

Gross Movement in Unexpired Risk Liability (16,007) - (6,526) (16,007) - (9,481) (145.3)        
945 - 652 945 - 293 44.9             

Net Movement in Unexpired Risk 3.2.3(f) (15,062) - (5,874) (15,062) - (9,188) (156.4)          

Premium Collection Costs 2.2 (25,976) (25,900) (24,451) (76) (0.3)            (1,525) (6.2)              
Other Underwriting and Administration Expenses 2.2 (73,926) (79,699) (74,182) 5,773 7.2             256 0.3               

Underwriting (Loss)/Profit (34,668) 7,459 33,829 (42,127) (564.8)        (68,497) (202.5)          

4.1 350,459 276,752 446,741 73,707 26.6         (96,282) (21.6)          
Investment Expenses 4.2 (18,822) (22,114) (21,454) 3,292 14.9         2,632 12.3           
RiskCover Fund Investment Return 4.2 (54,264) (57,844) (95,656) 3,580 6.2           41,392 43.3           
Other Income 8.8 30,165 910 19,297 29,255 3,214.8    10,868 56.3           
Other Expenses (11) - (18) (11) -            7 38.9           

Profit Before Tax Equivalent 272,859 205,163 382,739 67,696 33.0           (109,880) (28.7)            

Profit Increase/(Decrease)

Recoveries on Unexpired Risk Liability

Investment Income

From Actual 2019 To
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Comparison of 2019 Actual Results to 2019 Budget and 2018 Actual

Profit before Tax Equivalent

Premium Revenue

Claims Expense

Reinsurance and Other Recoveries

Net Movement in Unexpired Risk

Underwriting Result

Investment Income

Other Income
Other income of $30.2 million is higher than last year and budget. This is largely due to an increase in the expected
recoveries from the Government of Western Australia for the historic child sexual abuse claims attributed to the GIF.

The Insurance Commission recorded $350.5 million of investment income this year, which is $73.7 million (26.6%) better
than budget of $276.8 million and $96.3 million (21.6%) lower than last year’s return of $446.7 million.

The Insurance Commission incurred $766.6 million in claims expenses, which is $110 million (16.8%) higher than the
previous year. Claims payments increased by $53.8 million in 2019 to $458.7 million. This was due to a higher number of
new CTP compensation and large-loss claims being finalised compared to 2018. 

Explanations are provided below for significance variances between 2019 actual results, 2019 budget and 2018 actual
results. Significant variances are considered to be those greater than $10 million to 2019 budget.

The Insurance Commission received $797.6 million in insurance premium revenue, $28 million (3.6%) higher than last
year's revenue of $769.6 million. Premium revenue was $23.3 million (2.8%) lower than budget of $820.9 million, due to
a lower than forecast vehicle growth rate.

Reinsurance and other recoveries of $30.1 million is higher than budget and last year. Recoveries primarily reflect an
actuarial assessment of projected future recoveries as a percentage of outstanding claims liabilities.

The Insurance Commission recorded an underwriting loss of $34.7 million compared to a forecast underwriting profit of
$7.5 million. This underwriting loss has been impacted by the decline in discount rates (based on Government Bond rates)
and the addition of $22.8 million in historic child sexual abuse claims attributed to the GIF. The cost of these abuse claims
are met by the Government of Western Australia.

At the end of the reporting period, unearned premium is assessed to determine whether it is sufficient to pay related future
claims. In 2019, the unearned premium for the MVCIF was insufficient to meet related future claims which resulted in a $16
million increase in the Unexpired Risk Liability. The net movement in unexpired risk resulted in $15.1 million being
recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

The investment income returns for both Main Fund and MVCIF were higher than target due to double digit returns in
Alternative Assets (15.5% against target 6.6%) and strong returns in Global Equities (7.5% against target 6.5%), Property
(7.0% against target 6.3%) and Fixed Interest (4.3% against target 2.7%). The Australian Equities return (5.8% against
target 6.4%) and Cash return (2.3% against target 2.7%) were below budget.

The Insurance Commission delivered a profit before tax equivalent of $272.9 million, which is $67.7 million (33%) better
than the budgeted profit of $205.2 million, and $109.9 million lower than last year's profit of $382.7 million (28.7%).
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8. Other

8.1 Other Accounting Policies

8.1.1 Initial Application of an Australian Accounting Standard

Classification and Measurement

Insurance Commission
-

-

-

-

RiskCover Fund
-

-

-

Impairment

8.1.2 Future Impact of Australian Accounting Standards Not Yet Operative

Both Cash and Cash Equivalents and Receivables (including Right of Indemnity Receivable) previously classified as 
Loans and Receivables under AASB 139, have been reclassified as financial assets at amortised cost;
Insurance financial assets and liabilities (premiums receivable, claims recoveries and outstanding claims) are outside 
the scope of AASB 9; 
Investments assets are valued at fair value through the profit and loss. Fair value is also used as a basis to assess asset 
return performance. Assets are not held to collect contractual cash flows;
All other the financial liabilities (except Financial Liabilities – RiskCover Fund Investments) continue to be classified at 
amortised cost.  Financial Liabilities - RiskCover Fund Investment is valued at fair value through the profit and loss 
(Refer note 4.4).

Both Cash and Cash Equivalents and Receivables (including claim and reinsurance recoveries) previously classified as 
Loans and Receivables under AASB 139, have been reclassified as financial assets at amortised cost;

These classification and measurement changes have had no impact on the financial statements.

AASB 9 Financial Instruments was issued in December 2014 and replaces AASB 139 Financial Instruments. It addresses
recognition and measurement requirements and replaces the incurred loss approach, whereby impairment was recognised
when there was objective evidence that the debt would not be collected, with a forward looking expected credit loss (ECL)
approach. There were no retrospective adjustments to comparative information as a result of adopting this standard.

The Insurance Commission has reviewed all other Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations effective for the annual
reporting period beginning 1 July 2018. None of these Standards or Interpretations have a material impact on the Insurance
Commission’s financial statements.

The Insurance Commission cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard or Interpretation unless specifically
permitted by Treasurer's Instruction 1101. This Treasurer's Instruction has not mandated the early adoption of any Australian
Accounting Standards or Interpretations. The following summary outlines the future Standards which may have an impact on
the Insurance Commission:

The Insurance Commission will apply the standards and amendments detailed above for the reporting periods beginning on
the operative dates set out above. An initial assessment of the financial impact of the standards and amendments has been
undertaken. AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Not for Profit) is not expected to have a material impact on
the financial statements or accounting policies.

Title Operative Date
AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Not for Profit) 1 January 2019
AASB 16 Leases 1 January 2019
AASB 17 Insurance Contracts 1 January 2022

RiskCover investments continue to be valued at fair value through the profit and loss (Refer note 4.4);

Payables continue to be classified at amortised cost. 

The application of the 12 months ECL approach has resulted in no change in the impairment losses suffered by the Insurance 
Commission or the RiskCover Fund.
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8.1 Other Accounting Policies

8.1.2 Future Impact of Australian Accounting Standards Not Yet Operative (continued)

AASB 16 - Leases

AASB 17 - Insurance Contracts

The application of AASB 16 will result in the recognition of all leases on the Balance Sheet in the form of a right-of-use asset
and a corresponding lease liability. As a result, the new standard is expected to effect the treatment of the Insurance
Commission's office space lease. Over the life of the lease, the liability incurs interest and is reduced as lease payments are
made and the asset is amortised over its useful life.

AASB 17 (for-profit entities) was issued in July 2017 and will replace the current Insurance Standards. The IASB released an
exposure draft with proposed amendments to IFRS 17 in June 2019 and it is expected these amendments, once agreed, will
be adopted into AASB 17.

AASB 17 is not expected to have a material impact overall on the financial statements of the Insurance Commission, however
it is anticipated there will be significant disclosure changes. The inclusion of 'insurance-like' arrangements may have a
material impact on the RiskCover Fund which currently applies AASB 137 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent
Assets. If the RiskCover Fund is classed as 'insurance-like', it will be required to include a risk margin on its outstanding
claims liabilities and there will be significant disclosure changes. Once the exposure draft amendments and the inclusion of
non-profit entities have been finalised a full review of the impacts will be undertaken by management.

AASB 17 is expected to be expanded to include non-profit entities in late 2019 and include 'insurance-like' arrangements
that are created by statute rather than contractual arrangement.
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8.2 Plant and Equipment

Reconciliation of Carrying Amount

Current Year
Plant and 

Equipment
Furniture and 

Fittings
Computer 
Hardware

Motor 
Vehicles

Leasehold 
Improvements

Total 

Cost or Valuation
Balance at Start of the Year 779 154 6,142 1,027 4,254 12,356
Additions 37 4 90 739 202 1,072
Disposals (128) (32) (208) (706) - (1,074)

Balance at End of the Year 688 126 6,024 1,060 4,456 12,354

Accumulated Depreciation
Balance at Start of the Year 687 104 5,338 280 3,988 10,397
Depreciation Expense for the Year 36 3 439 128 75 681
Disposals (126) (31) (208) (250) - (615)

Balance at End of the Year 597 76 5,569 158 4,063 10,463

Carrying Amount at End of the Year 91 50 455 902 393 1,891

Prior Year

Cost or Valuation
Balance at Start of the Year 795 171 7,206 1,252 4,039 13,463
Additions - 5 349 285 215 854
Disposals (16) (22) (1,413) (510) - (1,961)

Balance at End of the Year 779 154 6,142 1,027 4,254 12,356

Accumulated Depreciation
Balance at Start of the Year 667 123 6,210 251 3,927 11,178
Depreciation Expense for the Year 35 3 541 169 61 809
Disposals (15) (22) (1,413) (140) - (1,590)

Balance at End of the Year 687 104 5,338 280 3,988 10,397

Carrying Amount at End of the Year 92 50 804 747 266 1,959

Plant and equipment is carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment in value. All Plant and Equipment is depreciated using the straight line method over the asset’s estimated useful life.
The estimated useful life is between three and eight years for all classes. An asset’s carrying amount is written down to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its estimated
recoverable amount.  

2019  ($'000)

2018  ($'000)

All Plant and Equipment is held within the Insurance Commission General Fund. Non-current assets are not carried at an amount above their recoverable amount. Where the carrying value of an asset exceeds
the recoverable amount, the asset is written down.  The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value, less cost to sell and value in use.  
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8.3 Intangibles

2019 2018
$'000 $'000

Software at Cost 34,373 33,190
Work in Progress 564 382
Accumulated Amortisation (30,562) (28,864)

Carrying Amount at End of the Year 4,375 4,708

Reconciliation:

Software at Cost
Balance at Start of the Year 33,189 31,557
Additions 1,184 1,633

Balance at End of the Year 34,373 33,190

Work in Progress
Balance at Start of the Year 384 728
Additions 1,024 994
Completed and Transferred to Software at Cost (614) (1,340)
Impairment (230) -

Balance at End of the Year 564 382

Accumulated Amortisation
Balance at Start of the Year (28,865) (26,967)
Amortisation Expense for the Year (1,697) (1,897)

Balance at End of the Year (30,562) (28,864)

8.4 Contingencies 

Bell

Child Sexual Abuse Claims

Costs arising from these claims against the Government Insurance Fund will be met by the Government of Western 
Australia.

The total number of claims that will be reported for historical child sexual abuse claims is highly uncertain. Given this
uncertainty the outstanding claims provisions held at 30 June 2019 have been based on known claims only and have not
been adjusted to reflect any additional claims exposure as the number and quantum of the potential claims cannot be
reliably estimated.

Effective 1 July 2018, the Civil Liability Act 2002 was amended to remove the statute of limitations for child sexual abuse
claims. The Insurance Commission through the Government Insurance Fund and the RiskCover Fund is exposed to claims
arising from this legislative change.

Intangible Assets are non-monetary assets with no physical substance that are separately identifiable, controlled by the
Insurance Commission and have future economic benefits. Acquisitions of intangible assets over $1,000 are capitalised.
Internally generated intangible assets that qualify for recognition are capitalised. The intangible assets reported primarily
relate to computer software which is not of an essential nature required to operate specific items of hardware. Intangible
assets include amounts relating to work in progress on designing and implementing computer software. This software is
amortised over four years and tested for impairment whenever there is an indication that the asset may be impaired.

The Insurance Commission considers that it has a contingent asset that will eventually materialise from the Bell Liquidation
distribution process. The total amount of the recoveries it will ultimately receive and the timing of receipt cannot yet be
ascertained. 

The Insurance Commission has a potential exposure to costs of litigation and indemnities associated with funding the
Liquidators’ action. Due to the uncertainty of litigation outcomes, it is not feasible to estimate potential costs upon the
Insurance Commission at the end of the reporting period.
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8.5 Provisions

2019 2018
Notes $'000 $'000

Current
Employee Benefits (i) 4,594 4,632
On-Costs Relating to Employee Benefits (ii) 257 255
Investments 3,797 3,594
Sundry 767 692

Total Current 9,415                9,173

Non-Current
Employee Benefits  (iii) 7,124 6,826
On-Costs Relating to Employee Benefits (ii) 232 205

Total Non-Current 7,356                7,031

Total Provisions 16,771 16,204

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

Critical Accounting Judgements and Estimates

8.6 Dividends

Final Dividend payment for the prior year 24,489 21,882
Special Dividend payment 58,896 104,708
Interim Dividend payment for current year 19,177 22,673

102,562 149,263

Liabilities for employee entitlements (long service leave) which are not expected to be settled within twelve months
of the end of the reporting period are measured at the present value of their future estimated cash outflows. In
determining the liability, consideration has been given to future increases in salary rates, experience with staff
departures and periods of service.

The provision of annual and long service leave liabilities gives rise to the payment of employment on-costs
including superannuation, payroll tax and workers' compensation premiums. The associated expense is included
under Employee Benefits (within Other Underwriting and Administration Expenses).

Provisions are recognised when the Insurance Commission has a present expected obligation as a result of a past event of
which a reliable estimate can be made.

Liabilities for employee entitlements which are expected to be settled within twelve months of the end of the
reporting period, are measured at their nominal amounts using the salary rates expected to be paid when the
liability is settled.

The Insurance Commission has two defined benefit superannuation schemes, the Pension Scheme and the pre-transfer
benefits for employees who transferred to the Gold State Superannuation Scheme. The value of any excess of accrued
superannuation benefits over the net fair value of assets is recorded as a liability of the Insurance Commission. This
liability is brought to account on the basis that there is no pre-funding of the employer’s liability for benefits under these
schemes.

The Pension Scheme and the pre-transfer benefit for employees who transferred to the Gold State Superannuation Scheme
are unfunded and the liability for future payments is provided for at the end of the reporting period. The present value of
the liabilities is determined following an independent actuarial assessment on behalf of the Government Employees
Superannuation Board.

In light of its strong investment performance in 2017-18, the Insurance Commission paid a $58.9 million special dividend
in December 2018.

Dividends are only paid from the Third Party Insurance Fund and are recognised as a liability in the period in which they
are declared. The following dividends were declared and paid by the Insurance Commission to the Government of
Western Australia during the year ended 30 June:
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8.7 Notes to the Statement of Cash Flows

2019 2018
Notes $'000 $'000

Profit after Tax Equivalent 203,765 277,689

Non-Cash Items
Depreciation and Amortisation 2,380 2,706
Impairment of Receivables - (83)
Investments Foreign Exchange Movement (35,720) (26,143)
Increase in Fair Value of Investments (26,873) (88,342)
Movement in Income Tax Provisions 16,736 (1,436)
Other 11 17

Tax Payment to State Government
Income Tax Equivalent Paid 117,759 40,658

Amounts Recognised Directly in Equity (289) 469

Decrease/(Increase) in Assets
Current Receivables (2,275) 3,124
Fair Value of Investments Realised (138,804) (145,177)
Deferred Premium Collection Costs (326) 96
Other Current Assets (266) (230)
Non-Current Receivables (48,956) (8,935)

Increase/(Decrease) in Liabilities
Current Payables (4,188) 3,912
Current Tax Payable (65,525) 66,028
Current Outstanding Claims 58,174 18,765
Current Unearned Premium 6,781 5,558
Current Unexpired Risk Liability 16,007 6,526
Current Provisions 39 363
Current Other Liabilities 12 540
Non-Current Outstanding Claims Liability 251,897 232,583
Non-Current Provisions 325 (2,259)

Net Cash Flow from Operating Activities 350,664 386,429

Reconciliation of Cash

Cash and Cash Equivalents 12,997 6,434
Investments 4.3 1,187,358 1,220,438

1,200,355 1,226,872

Cash and cash equivalents are carried at the face value of the amounts deposited or drawn. The carrying amounts of cash
assets approximate to their fair value.

For the purpose of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash includes cash assets on hand and in banks, net of any bank account
liability, together with short-term discount securities and deposits at call, which are investments integral to the Insurance
Commission’s general insurance activities (all of which are readily convertible to cash and are subject to an insignificant
risk of change in value).

Reconciliation of Profit after Tax Equivalent to Net Cash Flow from 
Operating Activities:

Cash and Cash Equivalents at the end of the year as shown in the 
Statement of Cash Flows is reconciled to the related items in the 
Balance Sheet as follows:
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8.8 Other Income

2019 2018
Notes $'000 $'000

Right of Indemnity - Government Insurance Fund (i) 29,761 18,908
Interest 234 187
Sundry 170 202

30,165 19,297

(i)

8.9 Expenditure Commitments

Lease Expenditure Commitments

< 1 Year 1 - 5 Years > 5 Years < 1 Year 1 - 5 Years > 5 Years
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Commercial Office 3,374 14,894 6,929 3,281 14,390 10,894
Motor Vehicle 12 12 - 13 24 -

57 94 - - - -

Total 3,443 15,000 6,929 3,294 14,414 10,894

8.10 Compensation of Key Management Personnel

Income Band ($)

2019 2018
  40,001 -   50,000 4 4
  70,001 -   80,000 1 1
  90,001 - 100,000 1 1
240,001 - 250,000 1 1
250,001 - 260,000 3 3
260,001 - 270,000 1 1
290,001 - 300,000 3 3
370,001 - 380,000 - 1
390,001 - 400,000 - 1
410,001 - 420,000 1 -
420,001 - 430,000 1 -

$'000 $'000
Short-Term Employee Benefits 3,120          3,003
Post Employment Benefits 239             282
Other Long-Term Benefits 64               (258)
Total Compensation 3,423          3,027

The Government of Western Australia assumed liability for any accumulated deficit existing in the
Government Insurance Fund in June 1996. This amount represents the movement through profit or loss in the
right of indemnity agreement.

2019 2018

IT Hardware

The Insurance Commission has determined that key management personnel include members of the Board of
Commissioners and the Executive Team. The Insurance Commission does not incur expenditure for the compensation
of Ministers and those disclosures can be found in the Annual Report on State Finances.

Total compensation for key management personnel (including any redundancy payments) for the reporting period
are presented within the following bands:

At 30 June 2019, no key management personnel (2018: Nil)  were members of the State Pension Scheme.

Key Management Personnel
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8.11 Related Parties

Related parties of the Insurance Commission and the RiskCover Fund include:

-
-

-

-

Significant transaction with Government-related entities:

-

-
-

-

-
-
-
-
-
-
-

Material transactions with related parties:

8.12 Loss Through Theft, Default and Other Causes

2019 2018
$'000 $'000

Write-Off of Revenue and Debt - 98

Potential Claims Recoveries Written-Off
For the Third Party Insurance Fund, the Insurance Commission has a statutory obligation to pay a third party claim.
Where the negligent driver of a vehicle was in breach of the warranties of the policy, the vehicle was uninsured or
where a third party was at fault, the Insurance Commission seeks to recover the costs of the claim from the driver or
the third party. 

Insurance Duty paid to the Office of State Revenue (refer Statement of Cash Flows);
Premium Income received from Government Agencies for RiskCover Fund services (refer Note 3.6);
Claims Costs paid on behalf of Government Agencies from the RiskCover Fund (refer Note 3.6);
Costs paid to State Solicitors Office for the Bell litigation of $0.2 million (2018: $1.2 million); and

Outside of general citizen type transactions, the Insurance Commission had no other related party transaction with
Ministers, key management personnel or their close family members or their controlled or jointly controlled entities.

Superannuation payments to GESB of $5.4 million (2018: $5.9 million).

The Insurance Commission is a statutory authority of the Government of Western Australia. The RiskCover Fund is
underwritten by the Government of Western Australia and is managed by the Insurance Commission on behalf of
the Government.

all Ministers, their close family members, and their controlled or jointly controlled entities;
all key management personnel (refer Note 8.10), their close family members and their controlled or jointly
controlled entities;
other statutory authorities and Government departments, including their related bodies, that are included in
the whole of Government consolidated financial statements; and
the Government Employees Superannuation Board (GESB).

RiskCover Fund Administration Cost Reimbursement received for its use of Insurance Commission’s services
(refer Note 2.1);
Premium collection costs paid to Department of Transport (refer Note 2.2);
Claims and administration costs reimbursement from WorkCover WA for the Employers Indemnity
Supplementation Fund (refer Statement of Cash Flows);
Claims and administration costs reimbursement from Department of Treasury, Water Corporation and Public
Transport Authority for the Government Insurance Fund (refer Statement of Cash Flows);
Dividend payments made to Department of Treasury (refer Note 8.6);
Income Tax Equivalent payments made to Department of Treasury (refer Statement of Cash Flows);
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8.12 Loss Through Theft, Default and Other Causes (continued)

2019 2018
Notes $'000 $'000

Third Party Insurance Fund 36,565 23,965

Amounts Written-Off by the Board 23,406 22,378
Amounts Written-Off by the Minister 8,642 1,587
Amounts Written-Off by the Governor 4,517 -

36,565 23,965

RiskCover Fund - Amounts Written-off by the Board (i) 8 112

(i)

8.13 Tax Contributions

Direct Tax
Income Tax Equivalent 117,759 40,658
Payroll Tax 2,175 2,296
Fringe Benefits Tax 314 366

120,248 43,320

Flow-Through Tax
Insurance Duty 87,672 84,761
Goods and Services Tax 43,089 45,940

130,761 130,701

Total 251,009 174,021

8.14 Events Occurring After the Reporting Period

The Insurance Commission adheres to all tax laws and regulations applicable and has an open and constructive
relationship with all relevant tax authorities.

Recoveries arise where the RiskCover Fund seeks to recover the costs of a claim paid from a third party or
the insured. 

No events have occurred after the end of the reporting period that materially affect the financial statements of the
Insurance Commission.

In 2019, the Insurance Commission paid the following direct and flow-through tax amounts to Federal and State
Governments:

The Third Party Insurance Fund debt write-offs below for the 2019 financial year are shown net of recoveries
received from negligent owners or drivers of $147,195 (2018: $124,107). In accordance with Section 48 of the
Financial Management Act 2006,  potential recoveries were submitted for write-off from the following:

In accordance with Australian Accounting Standards, potential recoveries are assessed with regard to the ability of
the debtors to meet their obligations. These recoveries have not been brought to account as income because the
amount to be recovered could not be reliably measured and consequently the write-off of these debts has not been
charged as an expense in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.



The Insurance Commission would like to thank the following organisations  
for photographs used in this annual report:  
 
Department of Transport (pages 6, 49, 60, 98, 105 and 115);  
Main Roads WA (page 32);  
WA Country Health Service (page 69);  
Metropolitan Redevelopment Authority (page 77);  
QIC (page 96);  
Brightwater Care Group (page 25);  
National Disability Services WA (page 111);  
RugbyWA (page 24 top);  
Netball WA (page 24 bottom left);  
Football West (page 24 bottom right); and  
Optimal Living Therapy (page 41).



Frankland National Park, near Walpole. In 2019, the Insurance Commission 
received 1,063 new motor injury insurance claims and made $45 million in 
payments in the Peel and South West.



Forrest Centre, 221 St Georges Terrace  
Perth Western Australia 6000

GPO Box U1908  
Perth Western Australia 6845

+61 8 9264 3333 
public.relations@icwa.wa.gov.au

icwa.wa.gov.au
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